UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO GRANDE DO SUL INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BÁSICAS DA SAÚDE PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS: FISIOLOGIA

HELENA TREVISAN SCHROEDER

AVALIAÇÃO DA RESPOSTA DA VIA DE CHOQUE TÉRMICO NO DESENVOLVIMENTO DA RESISTÊNCIA À INSULINA E OBESIDADE

PORTO ALEGRE, 2024

HELENA TREVISAN SCHROEDER

AVALIAÇÃO DA RESPOSTA DA VIA DE CHOQUE TÉRMICO NO DESENVOLVIMENTO DA RESISTÊNCIA À INSULINA E OBESIDADE

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Fisiologia, do Departamento de Fisiologia do Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), como requisito para obtenção do grau de Doutora em Fisiologia.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt Júnior

PORTO ALEGRE, 2024

AGRADECIMENTOS

Sou grata á minha família e à nossa história de crescimento e amadurecimento. Obrigada aos meus: pais, Célia e Hermes, cada um, à sua maneira, contribuíram para que eu chegasse até esse momento; tio Paulo e vó Almira, que me ensinaram tanto; Artur, meu irmão, por quem eu agradeço por ser quem é epor quem torço muito para que realize todas suas aspirações; Carlos sempre meu grande companheiro, que contribuiu com apoio emocional e técnico para que essa tese fosse desenvolvida; dona Marlene, Ana e Lúcio, pessoas maravilhosas que admiro muito. Obrigada por tudo.

Meu profundo agradecimento à Maria Inês, a Inesinha, que me acompanhou e incentivou nos últimos dez anos. Além de auxiliar na parte prática do trabalho, também foi responsável por montar e organizar toda a mudança do nosso laboratório para o novo prédio. Aprendi muito com ela sobre organização e dedicação ao trabalho. Obrigada por toda a amizade.

Tenho muito a agradecer ao meu professor orientador prof. Paulo Ivo, que me acompanha desde o inicio da graduação e me oportunizou fazer parte do seu grupo de pesquisa. O prof é uma pessoa incrivelmente humilde e que me ensinou muito sobre diferentes assuntos. Sou muito grata pelo tempo que convivi com o senhor.

À minha equipe oficial Marcela, Victor e Cris, que me auxiliaram em diferentes estágios de execução dos trabalhos. A todos os componentes do nosso grupo de pesquisa, especialmente a Layane, Mariana, Henrique e Dona Ritinha, foi ótimo conhecer vocês.

Agradeço aos professores Mauricio Krause e Patrícia Bock, pela honra de poder compartilhar de seus conhecimentos e me proporcionarem tantas oportunidades científicas, pelas quais sou muito grata.

Aos meus amigos de trabalho e parceiros de pesquisa, que não estavam mais em nosso laboratório durante meu doutorado, mas que contribuíramenormementedurante a minha formação acadêmica, em especial a Aline, Cinthia, Everton Cristian, Gisele, Graziella, Ítalo, Jorge Roberto, Maciel, Leandro, Sofia e Rossana. Gostaria de estender meus agradecimentos a todos os funcionários do ICBS/UFRGS, por toda a estrutura, sem a qual não seria possível o desenvolvimento do meu trabalho. Bem como sou grata ao PPG Fisiologia UFRGS pelo curso do qual tive a oportunidade de fazer parte. Também gostaria de deixar um agradecimento especial à instituição (UFRGS), e a todas as pessoas que direta ou indiretamente contribuíram para a realização da minha pesquisa.

FINANCIAMENTO: Este estudo foi financiado em parte com recursos públicos provenientes do CNPq e da CAPES.

RESUMO

A resposta de choque térmico (HSR) é um mecanismo altamente conservado que esta relacionada à manutenção da proteostase, do metabolismo energético e da resolução da inflamação. O principal efeito dessa resposta é o aumento da expressão da proteína de choque térmico de 70 kDa (HSP70). O bloqueio da sua expressão parece estar diretamente ligado a progressão de doenças inflamatórias crônicas. Assim, a presente tese teve como objetivos: a) descrever, por meio de três revisões narrativas, o histórico do estudo da HSR na proteostase e metabolismo energético; o papel da HSR na resolução da inflamação e no desenvolvimento de doenças crônico-inflamatórias; métodos de indução e aferição da HSR. E b) investigar, a partir de dois trabalhos experimentais originais, se a capacidade de disparo da HSR está correlacionada ao nível de sensibilidade à insulina, podendo ser medida de maneira representativa a partir do desafio térmico das células imunológicas do sangue. Bem como, se a terapia hipertérmica é capaz de melhorar os índices de composição corporal e glicêmicos alterados pela indução da obesidade por hiperlipídica. Para os estudos experimentais foram dieta utilizados camundongos C57BL/6J machos submetidos à dieta padrão (NC) ou hiperlipídica (HFD, 60 % da kcal em lipídios) desde o desmame. Acompanhados por 1, 4, 8, 10, 14, 18 e 22 semanas de dieta (capítulo IV), mostrando que a variação da expressão de HSP70 (42 °C - 37 °C) se ajusta a uma regressão logística de 5 parâmetros com a progressão da resistência à insulina e prediz o aparecimento de diabetes tipo 2 nestes animais, oferecendo uma ferramenta para avaliar a disfunção da HSR na inflamação relacionada à obesidade. E animais também tratados com dieta foram submetidos a partir da 14^a semana de dieta a uma sessão semanal de terapia hipertérmica (HT, por 15 min à 41,0 - 41,7 °C) ou não (SHAM, mantidos a temperatura ambiente) por mais quatro ou oito semanas (capítulo V). O HT foi capaz de reduzir o ganho de peso nos animais tratados, melhorando a glicemia de jejum e induzindo expressão de HSP72 no músculo gastrocnêmio.

ABSTRACT

The heat shock response (HSR) is a highly conserved mechanism that is related to the maintenance of proteostasis, energy metabolism and resolution of inflammation. The main effect of this response is the increase in the expression of the 70 kDa heat shock protein (HSP70), and blocking its expression appears to be directly linked to the progression of chronic inflammatory diseases. Thus, the present thesis aimed to: a) describe, through three narrative reviews, the history of the study of HSR in proteostasis and energy metabolism; the role of HSR in the resolution of inflammation and the development of chronicinflammatory diseases; HSR induction and measurement methods. And b) investigate, based on two original experimental studies, whether the ability to trigger the HSR is correlated to the level of insulin sensitivity, and can be measured in a representative way based on the thermal challenge of immune cells in the blood. As well as whether hyperthermic therapy is capable of improving body composition and glycemic indexes altered by the induction of obesity by a high-fat diet. For experimental studies, male C57BL/6J mice were used on a standard (NC) or high-fat diet (HFD, 60% of kcal in lipids) since weaning. Followed by 1, 4, 8, 10, 14, 18 and 22 weeks of diet (chapter IV), showing that the variation in HSP70 expression (42 °C - 37 °C) fits a 5parameter logistic regression with the progression of insulin resistance and predicts the onset of type 2 diabetes in these animals, offering a tool to assess HSR dysfunction in obesity-related inflammation. And animals also treated with diet were subjected from the 14th week of diet to a weekly session of hyperthermic therapy (HT, for 15 min at 41.0 - 41.7 °C) or not (SHAM, kept at room temperature) for another four or eight weeks (chapter V). HT is capable of reducing weight gain in treated animals, improving fasting glycemia and inducing HSP72 expression in the gastrocnemius muscle.

LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

DMT2: diabetes *mellitus* do tipo 2

ELISA: *enzyme linked immuno sorbent assay,* ensaio de imunoabsorção enzimática

HOMA: homeostatic model assessment, modelo de avaliação da homeostase

HSF-1: heat shock factor-1, fator de choque térmico 1

HSP: *heat shockprotein,* proteína de choque térmico

HSP70: proteína de choque térmico de 70 kDa

HSR: heat shock response, resposta de choque térmico

IR: resistência à insulina

JNK: proteina c-jun n-terminal quinase

NF-ĸB: nuclear factor-kappa B, fator nuclear kappa B

QUICKI: *quantitative insulin sensitivity check index,* índice quantitativo de verificação da sensibilidade à insulina

SIRT-1: sirtuína 1

UPR: unfolded protein response, resposta a proteínas desnoveladas

NLRP3: NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein 3

ER: retículo endoplasmático

LUCA: last universal common ancestor, ultimo ancestral comum universal

TA: tecido adiposo

SASP: *senescence-associated secretory phenotype,* fenótipo secretório associado à senescencia

RNA: ácido ribonucléico

mRNA: ácido ribonucléico mensageiro

SUMÁRIO

APRESENTAÇÃO DA TESE	9
INTRODUÇÃO	10
HIPÓTESES	14
OBJETIVOS	15
Objetivos Gerais	15
Objetivos Específicos	15
CAPÍTULO I - ARTIGO 1	17
CAPÍTULO II - ARTIGO 2	44
CAPÍTULO III - ARTIGO 3	72
CAPÍTULO IV - ARTIGO 4	95
CAPÍTULO V - ARTIGO 5	153
DISCUSSÃO GERAL	191
CONCLUSÃO FINAL	
REFERÊNCIAS	196
ANEXOS	
Anexo I – Carta de submissão do artigo 4	204
Anexo II – Carta de aceite do artigo 5	

APRESENTAÇÃO DA TESE

Visando a compilação dos trabalhos desenvolvidos, esta tese está dividida em: a) uma introdução que aborda os tópicos gerais que permeiam e servem de fio condutor dos artigos aqui apresentados (resposta de choque térmico, obesidade, resistência à insulina, inflamação e o tratamento hipertérmico); b) cinco capítulos, contendo o desenvolvimento da tese, apresentados em formato de artigo; c) uma discussão geral relacionando todos os capítulos; d) as conclusões finais da tese.

Os capítulos de I a III apresentam os artigos de revisão narrativa desenvolvidos, que aqui também servem como referencial teórico, tratando da resposta de choque térmico: na proteostase e metabolismo energético (**artigo 1**); na resolução da inflamação e no desenvolvimento de doenças crônico-inflamatórias (**artigo 2**); relacionando aos seus métodos de indução e aferição (**artigo 3**). O capítulo IV refere-se ao primeiro artigo original no qual foi realizado o acompanhamento do desenvolvimento da obesidade, o perfil de sensibilidade à insulina relacionado à capacidade de resposta ao choque térmico em camundongos C57BL/6J no desmame, tratados com dietas padrão ouhiperlipídica por 1, 4, 8, 10, 14, 18 ou 22 semanas (**artigo 4**). O capítulo V descreve os resultados da intervenção com tratamento térmico em animais mantidos por 18 e 22 semanas com dieta hiperlipídica ou padrão (**artigo 5**).

INTRODUÇÃO

Evolutivamente, os organismos precisaram se adaptar ao ambiente e alguns mecanismos fisiológicos foram favorecidos em detrimento de outros, gerando os sistemas homeostáticos que encontramos atualmente. Um alto grau de conservação do mecanismo, significando que ele está presente há mais tempo na cadeia evolutiva, é um forte indício da importância deste para a sobrevivência celular entre as diferentes espécies (Leong; Uesaka; Irie, 2022). Temos como exemplos, de mecanismos altamente conservados, os sistemas envolvidos na manutenção da proteostasecelular e do metabolismo energético.

A estabilidade conformacional das proteínas, ou seja, a manutenção do seu estado nativo é dependente do ambiente em que evoluíram para funcionar. Assim, variações deste ambiente, através de mudanças em faixas estreitas de temperatura, concentração de solutos ou pH resultam em desestabilização do estado enovelado das proteínas e consequentemente perda da sua capacidade funcional. A iniciação e manutenção do correto dobramento proteico surgiram durante o desenvolvimento da vida na Terra, garantindo o sucesso da atividade celular frente aos desafios ambientais, químicos e físicos, possibilitando maquinarias celulares cada vez mais complexas (Kultz, 2005).

Estresses ambientais que ameaçam a integridade do proteoma de um organismo ativam a resposta a proteínas desdobradas (UPR, do inglês, *unfolded protein response*). A UPR tenta cessar o acúmulo de proteínas desdobradas inibindo a transcrição de proteínas no retículo endoplasmático (ER) e aumentando a remoção de proteínas mal dobradas pela degradação lisossomal (Shen*et al.*, 2001; Kozutsumi*et al.*, 1988). Além disso, a síntese de chaperonas é aumentada, para aliviar a carga proteica desdobrada, a partir da deflagração da resposta de choque térmico (HSR, do inglês, *heat shock response*) (Akerfelt; Morimoto; Sistonen, 2010). As chaperonas são proteínas que atuam: prevenindo a agregação de proteínas mal dobradas, no redobramento de proteínas desnaturadas, no dobramento de proteínas desnaturadas, no dobramento de proteínas desnaturadas, no gradobramento de proteínas desnaturadas, no dobramento de proteínas desnaturadas, no suficiente para lidar com o aumento da carga de proteínas desdobradas, ocorre

10

a ativação do braço inflamatório desta via, com aumento de transcrição da proteína Jun-c terminal-n quinase (JNK) e das proteínas caspases, guiando a célula a uma resposta pró-inflamatória e pró-poptótica (Urano*et al.*, 2000). Embora a adaptação transitória ao estresse agudo, obviamente, seja uma vantagem imediata de sobrevivência, as respostas inflamatórias ativadas, a longo prazo, por um estresse crônico, podem se tornar um problema para o organismo.

A ativação da HSR está associada à liberação, à trimerização e à conseguinte translocação do fator de transcrição de proteínas do choque térmico-1 (HSF-1), que depende do aumento da atividade e expressão da via da sirtuína 1 (SIRT-1) (Singh; Haslay, 2013). O impacto principal da ativação do HSF-1 é a elevada produção das proteínas de choque térmico (HSP), cujo principal representante é a proteína da família de 70 kDa (HSP70) (Tang*et al.*, 2013; Wu*et al.*, 2013). As HSPs são chaperonas moleculares e estão amplamente presentes entre os organismos, desde o último ancestral comum universal (LUCA) (Reubeaud*et al.*, 2021), e são primordiais não só para a manutenção da proteostase, pelo seu papel de chaperona, mas, também, para a resolução da resposta inflamatória.

A ocorrência de uma resposta inflamatória completa depende da indução de proteínas pela ativação dos fatores de transcrição nucleares da família kB (NF-kB) (Oeckinghaus; Ghosh, 2009), que conduzem o processo inflamatório durante sua fase inicial e, simultaneamente, promovem sua resolução. Um dos mecanismos envolvidos no término da inflamação é, justamente, o disparo da HSR. A HSR é crítica para promover a resolução da inflamação, impedindo que se torne crônica. No entanto, parece que a resposta de choque térmico está severamente comprometida em tecidos metabólicos, tais como, tecido adiposo, fígado, músculo - justamente durante a inflamação crônica (Newsholme; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2016). Situação totalmente prejudicial ao organismo, tendo em vista que a HSP70, que deveria ser expressa em resposta ao estresse metabólico do próprio tecido adiposo, é um bloqueador fisiológico das vias de sinalização a jusante das JNKs, proteínas pró-inflamatórias que contribuem para a inibição da sinalização da insulina (Miragem; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2017). Estudos com indivíduos submetidos à cirurgia bariátrica

mostram ainda que o processo inflamatório que se inicia no tecido adiposo propaga-se para o fígado levando a uma redução na expressão de HSF-1, HSP70 e aumento expressivo na atividade das JNKs, tanto no fígado, quando no tecido adiposo (Di Naso *et al.*, 2015), o que poderia contribuir com a perpetuação da inflamação sistêmica (Newsholme; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2014). Desta forma, a baixa atividade da via da HSR se relacionaria diretamente com a resistência à insulina (IR) e o agravamento do *diabetes mellitus* do tipo 2 (DMT2) (Calapre; Gray; Ziman, 2013; Chung*et al.*, 2008), sendo, assim, de suma importância o entendimento da evolução temporal do quadro.

Abordagens farmacológicas (e.g., com o derivado de hidroxilamina BGP-15), bem como fisiológicas (e.g., tratamento hipertérmico) poderiam ser utilizadas de forma terapêutica nas complicações relacionadas às obesidades e DMT2 (Miragem; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2017; Hooper, 1999; Krause *et al.*, 2015), especialmente para pessoas com obesidade severa (grau III) às quais o acesso ao exercício físico é inicialmente dificultado. O tratamento hipertérmico, por si só, tem demonstrado inúmeros efeitos benéficos para o organismo por gerar redução na deposição de gordura, da IR e massa corpórea total (Krause *et al.*, 2015). A primeira indicação de uso terapêutico do choque térmico foi relacionada à sua capacidade de reduzir a glicemia de humanos diabéticos submetidos a sessões de sauna (Hooper, 1999). Evidências sugerem o potencial da terapia hipertérmica como uma modalidade de tratamento para doenças crônico-degenerativas relacionadas à obesidade (Brodmerkel; Taylor, 2016).

É importante ressaltar que os mecanismos fisiológicos relacionados ao controle do metabolismo energético foram selecionados visando respostas frente à escassez nutritiva e não ao excesso como ocorre na atualidade. Doenças metabólicas e inflamatórias crônicas, como a obesidade e suas comorbidades, ocorrem em decorrência deste desbalanço nutricional e têm tido uma incidência cada vez maior. Dados do ministério da saúde brasileiro indicam que 36 % dos adultos apresentam sobrepeso e mais de 21 % das pessoas sejam obesas (Ministério da Saúde, 2022).Obesidade, resistência à insulina e DMT2 estão fortemente associados à inflamação crônica

caracterizada pela produção anormal de citocinas pelo tecido adiposo (TA) visceral (Homem de Bittencourt Jr; Newsholme, 2015; Newsholme; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2014).

A resposta inflamatória que surge durante o desenvolvimento da obesidade, provocada pelo acúmulo de lipídeos e excessiva aporte de outros nutrientes ao TA, espalha-se para tecidos musculares, fígado e vasos sanguíneos (Miragem; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2017). Essa sobrecarga de nutrientes no TA ativa a UPR, causando a contínua ativação do NF-kB e do perfil inflamatório secretor de citocinas conhecido como: fenótipo de secreção associado à senescência (SASP do inglês, senescence-associated secretory phenotype) (Bidenet al., 2014). Pois, como os estímulos inflamatórios não cessam e levam ao estado de senescência proliferativa, a partir da ativação do inflamassomo NLRP3 (do inglês, NOD-like receptor pyrindomain-containing protein 3), uma alternativa à morte celular por apoptose (Cnop; Foufelle; Velloso, 2012). A ativação desse inflamassomo parece levar à destruição da proteína do antígeno humano R ligante de mRNA (HuR), responsável para a estabilização do RNA mensageiro do HSF-1, portanto, bloqueando a HSR no tecido (Newsholme; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2014). Assim, a obesidade conduz à ativação de vias de sinalização inflamatórias, contribuindopara o desenvolvimento e manutenção da inflamação crônica de baixo grau (Newsholme; Homem de Bittencourt Jr, 2014; Rius et al., 2012). E, conforme comentado anteriormente, a HSR parece ser central para a resolução desse quadro.

13

HIPÓTESES

A hipótese dessa tese é que a resposta ao choque térmico está correlacionada ao nível de sensibilidade à insulina. E a HSR poderia ser medida de maneira representativa a partir do desafio térmico das células imunológicas do sangue. Além disso, terapia hipertérmica deve ser capaz de melhorar os índices de composição corporal e glicêmicos alterados pela indução da obesidade por dieta hiperlipídica.

OBJETIVOS

Artigo 1

Objetivo Geral

Sintetizar os dados da literatura sobre o histórico do estudo da resposta de choque térmico na proteostase e metabolismo energético por meio de uma revisão narrativa.

Objetivos Específicos

Descrever as vias envolvidas no controle da caloristase;

Revisar fatores e vias que influenciam no disparo da resposta ao choque térmico;

Relacionar evolutivamente mecanismos das chaperonas e do controle energético.

Artigo 2

Objetivo Geral

Sumarizar os achados publicados sobre resposta de choque térmico na resolução da inflamação e no desenvolvimento de doenças crônico-inflamatórias a partir de uma revisão narrativa.

Objetivos Específicos

Discorrer sobre a relação da resposta de choque térmico com a homeostase do organismo;

Descrever a relação da HSR na resolução da inflamação e sua supressão em doenças inflamatórias.

Artigo 3

Objetivo Geral

Sumarizar produções e propostas relacionadas aos seus métodos de indução e aferição da resposta de choque térmico em uma revisão narrativa.

15

Objetivos Específicos

Compilar propostas de estratégias físicas, farmacológicas e nutricionais para melhora da resposta de choque térmico;

Relatar a associação entre microbiota e integridade da HSR.

Artigo 4

Objetivo Geral

Acompanharo desenvolvimento da obesidade, o perfil de sensibilidade à insulina relacionada à capacidade de resposta ao choque térmico.

Objetivos Específicos

Avaliar a HSR por desafio térmico nas células do sangue total em camundongos C57BL/6J no desmame, tratados com dietas padrão ou hiperlipídica por 1, 4, 8, 10, 14, 18 ou 22 semanas.

Artigo 5

Objetivo Geral

Investigar os efeitos da intervenção com tratamento térmico em animais obesos resistentes à insulina.

Objetivos Específicos

Avaliar a HSR por desafio térmico nas células do sangue total em camundongos C57BL/6J mantidos por 18 e 22 semanas com dieta hiperlipídica ou padrão e submetidos a tratamento hipertérmico ou não.

Capítulo I

Título: The dance of proteostasis and metabolism: Unveiling the caloristatic controlling switch

Periódico: Cell Stress and Chaperones

Situação: Publicado em fevereiro de 2024.

(disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres.2024.02.002>)

REVIEW

The dance of proteostasis and metabolism: Unveiling the caloristatic controlling switch

Helena Trevisan Schroeder^{1,a} · Carlos Henrique De Lemos Muller^{2,b} · Thiago Gomes Heck^{3,c} · Mauricio Krause^{2,d} · Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt Jr^{1,*,e}

Received: 15 September 2023 / Revised: 2 February 2024 / Accepted: 4 February 2024 © 2024 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Cell Stress Society International.

Abstract

The heat shock response (HSR) is an ancient and evolutionarily conserved mechanism designed to restore cellular homeostasis following proteotoxic challenges. However, it has become increasingly evident that disruptions in energy metabolism also trigger the HSR. This interplay between proteostasis and energy regulation is rooted in the fundamental need for ATP to fuel protein synthesis and repair, making the HSR an essential component of cellular energy management. Recent findings suggest that the origins of proteostasis-defending systems can be traced back over 3.6 billion years, aligning with the emergence of sugar kinases that optimized glycolysis around 3.594 billion years ago. This evolutionary connection is underscored by the spatial similarities between the nucleotide-binding domain of HSP70, the key player in protein chaperone machinery, and hexokinases. The HSR serves as a hub that integrates energy metabolism and resolution of inflammation, further highlighting its role in maintaining cellular homeostasis. Notably, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase emerges as a central regulator, promoting the HSR during predominantly proteotoxic stress while suppressing it in response to predominantly metabolic stress. The complex relationship between 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase and the HSR is finely tuned, with paradoxical effects observed under different stress conditions. This delicate equilibrium, known as caloristasis, ensures that cellular homeostasis is maintained despite shifting environmental and intracellular conditions. Understanding the caloristatic controlling switch at the heart of this interplay is crucial. It offers insights into

Abbreviations: AMPK, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; BAG, *B*cl-2-*a*ssociated athanogene antiapoptotic nucleotide exchange factor; CHIP, C-terminal HSP70 binding protein; DNP, 2,4-dinitrophenol; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GSK-3 β , glycogen synthase kinase-3 β ; HBOT, hyperbaric oxygen therapy; HBP, hexosamine biochemical pathway; Hop, HSPC/HSP90-organizing protein; HSE, heat shock element; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor 1; HSP, heat shock protein; HSP70, the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; HSR, heat shock response; HuR, human antigen R, a.k.a. ELAV-1, for embryonic *l*ethal, abnormal vision, Drosophila, homolog-like protein-1; IxB, inhibitors of κ B transcription factors; JNK, c-Jun *N*-terminal kinase; NEF, nucleotide exchange factor; NF- κ B, nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (κ B) family; NLRP3, NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 inflammasome; PGC-1 α , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α ; PP2A, protein phosphatase 2A; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SASP, senescence-associated secretory phenotype; SIRT1, NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase sirtuin-1; SNS, sympathetic nervous system; UPR, unfolded protein response * Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt Jr

pauloivo@ufrgs.br

- ¹ Laboratory of Cellular Physiology (FisCel) Department of Physiology, Institute of Basic Health Sciences (ICBS), Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil
- ² Laboratory of Inflammation, Metabolism and Exercise Research (LAPIMEX), Department of Physiology, ICBS, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil
- ³ Post Graduate Program in Integral Health Care (PPGAIS-UNIJUÍ/UNICRUZ/URI), Regional University of Northwestern Rio Grande Do Sul State (UNIJUI) and Post Graduate Program in Mathematical and Computational Modeling (PPGMMC), UNIJUI, Ijuí, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil.
- ^a ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4000-3671
- ^b ORCID ID: 0000-0003-0205-7775
- ^c ORCID ID: 0000-0002-1242-5423
- ^d ORCID ID: 0000-0001-9814-742X
- ^e ORCID ID: 0000-0003-1907-3341

a wide range of conditions, including glycemic control, obesity, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases, reproductive abnormalities, and the optimization of exercise routines. These findings highlight the profound interconnectedness of proteostasis and energy metabolism in cellular function and adaptation.

Keywords Heat shock response \cdot Proteostasis \cdot Energy metabolism \cdot 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase \cdot Caloristasis \cdot Cellular homeostasis

Introduction

The heat shock response (HSR) is a highly evolutionarily conserved cellular manifestation primarily devoted to re-establishing cellular homeostasis after stressful situations. Although the HSR acts as a frontline defense against factors that can denature proteins, that is, proteotoxic challenges (e.g., heat, heavy metals), it was evident since the pioneering studies of Professor Ferruccio Ritossa¹⁻³ that this response is also triggered by disruptions in energy metabolism, such as oxygen deprivation and uncoupling of ATP synthesis. This insightful belief of Ritossa becomes a cogent line of reasoning that gains clarity when considering the following factors: protein synthesis demands significant energy expenditure; rectifying misfolded proteins via the HSR requires ATP energy; expediting mitochondrial ATP production amplifies the generation of proteotoxic reactive oxygen species (ROS). Hence, it is now more than expected that the HSR had evolved alongside the regulatory principles of cellular energy metabolism.

Evidence suggests that the emergence of proteostasisdefending systems dates back to last universal common ancestor (LUCA), more than 3.6 billion years ago,⁴ exactly at the same time that sugar kinases started evolution to improve glycolytic efficiency, approximately 3.594 billion years ago.⁵ Therefore, it is not surprising that the evolution of the nucleotide-binding domain (NBD) of the 70 kDa heat shock protein (HSP70, the working force of protein chaperone machinery) had introduced subdomains (Ia and IIa, discussed below) that are spatially identical to the NBD of hexokinases⁶ and other sugar kinases.⁷

It has been known for a long time that the HSR acts as a hub to integrate *energy metabolism* and the *resolution of inflammation* because the HSR pathway is anti-inflammatory *per se.*⁸ For instance, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which is the master cellular energy sensor activated during metabolic stress (energy paucity), simultaneously assumes the role of a central regulator of anti-inflammatory responses through the inhibition by phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase- 3β (GSK- 3β). This phosphorylation event liberates the heat shock transcription factor 1 (HSF1), initiating the HSR because GSK- 3β constitutively inhibits HSF1.⁸⁻¹⁰ Conversely, the NAD⁺-dependent protein deacetylase of class III family sirtuin-1 (SIRT1), which is activated by calorie restriction, enhances the HSR by increasing HSF1 protein expression and DNA-binding activity onto heat shock genes.¹¹ Actually, heat shock and calorie restriction act synergistically to arm an HSR.¹² In addition to enhancing the expression of protein chaperones. HSF1 directly increases the expression of an ample array of genes implicated in energy metabolism, such as the SIRT1 itself, AMPK, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator- 1α , just to mention a few.^{13,14} Apart from the expression of glucose-regulated chaperones (e.g., GRP78 and GRP75), the HSR is also connected to energy metabolism through the hexosamine biochemical pathway (HBP, discussed below), a metabolic shunt from glycolysis that leads to the blockade of GSK-3β activity and enhanced DNA-binding activity of HSF1.¹⁵

While the role of AMPK in activating the HSR during predominantly proteotoxic stress is well-established, a growing body of evidence is challenging this notion by highlighting AMPK's potential to exert opposing effects. A case in point is the involvement of the mRNA-binding protein HuR, also known as embryonic lethal abnormal vision Drosophila homolog-like protein-1. HuR plays a pivotal role in stabilizing SIRT1 mRNA, consequently promoting the expression and activity of HSF1, a key player in the HSR. To effectively carry out its functions on target transcripts, HuR must translocate from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. Herein lies an intriguing paradox: contrary to its expected role, AMPK, which is typically known to promote SIRT1 activation during an HSR-dependent anti-inflammatory response,⁸ actually hinders the nuclear export of HuR,^{16–18} thereby attenuating the vigor of the HSR. Reinforcing this line of thought, Dai and colleagues^{19,20} have provided compelling evidence indicating that AMPK, when confronted with *predominantly metabolic* stress, actively suppresses the proteostasis-preserving facet of the HSR. In contrast, during a bona fide HSR event (predominantly proteotoxic), the orchestrated activation of protein phosphatase 2A by HSF1 leads to the inhibition of AMPK,²¹ subsequently fostering an elevation in HSP70 expression.²²

These findings underscore a nuanced equilibrium governing the orchestration of the proteotoxic stress response and the metabolic stress response, operating at the interface of AMPK and HSF1 to regulate the HSR under diverse stress conditions. This intricate modulation of cellular stress responses was meticulously explored by Swan and Sistonen²³ based on the findings of Dai's group¹⁹ and now is referred to as *caloristasis*.²⁴ In fact, predominantly *proteotoxic stress* and predominantly *metabolic stress* work in opposition to maintaining a very delicate thermodynamical poise that warrants the steady state between energy homeostasis and proteostasis so that overall cellular homeostasis may take place whatever the environmental or intracellular conditions. The central caloristatic controlling switch that integrates proteostatic and metabolic stressful conditions is summarized in Figure 1.

Taking into account the above findings, the purpose of the present work is to illustrate the currently recognized interconnections between the HSR as a safeguarding mechanism for proteostasis and the pathways that govern energy metabolism. As we shall discuss herein, understanding the caloristatic controlling switch is a fundamental prerequisite that may enable us to delve into the intricacies underlying a wide array of conditions, ranging from glycemic control, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases, to human reproduction abnormalities and well-structured exercise routines.

Unraveling the mosaic: convergence of insights leading to contemporary understanding of the HSR

In order to understand the logic of the HSR, it is interesting to note the history of heat shock proteins (HSPs) that can be traced back to the observations of



Fig. 1 The heat shock response and the central caloristatic controlling switch. This switch orchestrates a delicate dance between metabolic stress, characterized by the activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), and proteotoxic stress, marked by the accumulation of misfolded proteins and oxidative pressure. During periods of predominantly metabolic stress, AMPK takes center stage. It exerts its influence by phosphorylating heat shock transcription factor 1 (HSF1) at Ser121, effectively hindering the transcription of HSF1-dependent genes. On the other hand, predominantly proteotoxic stress ushers in a different set of players. The accumulation of misfolded proteins and heightened oxidative stress directly activate HSF1. Consequently, under proteotoxic stress conditions, a substantial portion of HSF1 is liberated from chaperone machines, effectively blocking AMPK and allowing for the expression of over 5200 genes directly regulated by HSF1. AMPK, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; GSK-3 β , glycogen synthase kinase-3 β ; HSP70, the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; PGC-1 α , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α ; SNS, sympathetic nervous system.

Ferruccio Ritossa, a young geneticist at the time, which laid the foundation for our comprehension of these important proteins. He noticed that polytene chromosomes of salivary glands of Drosophila busckii fruit-fly larvae exhibited a novel pattern of puffing when heatshocked from normal (25 °C) to 30 °C (or higher) in an incubator.¹ It is worth noting that polytene chromosomes are formed through the successive duplication of each chromosomal element (chromatid) without their separation from the chromosomes of diploid nuclei.²⁵ Consequently, the newly formed chromatids remain connected lengthwise and collectively give rise to cablelike structures known as polytene chromosomes. Importantly, back in 1962, the study of gene expression was limited to systems such as Drosophila spp. polytene chromosomes, where gene activity was visible as chromosomal puffing under the light microscope.²⁶ Messenger RNA had only just been discovered by Professor Matthew Meselson's laboratory in 1961.²⁷

Ritossa supposed that the rapid appearance of specific puffs and disappearance of others in 3-4 min after the inadvertent but serendipitous heat shock of Drosophila cells and tissues would be related to the synthesis of mRNA since tritiated cytidine incorporations into the puffs were abolished by RNAse treatment.¹ He also realized that the effect of heat shock. leading to the appearance of some puffs and reversal of others that were present under normal conditions, was mimicked by the treatment of cells, organs, or whole organisms of Drosophila spp. with uncouplers of ATP synthesis, such as 2,4-dinitrophenol and sodium salicylate.¹⁻³ Moreover, although some effects could be observed when larvae grown at 19 °C were exposed to 25 °C, they were typically of low intensity and efficiency. This suggested that variations in puffing patterns might not be solely dependent on a temperature increase of 5-6 °C, but rather on the rapid attainment of a specific temperature threshold. Therefore, Ritossa conjectured that these responses should be of general importance, especially because he had the understanding of Drosophila spp. as "somehow between bacteria and man" and also because similar results were obtained with anaerobiosis, thus linking the observed heat shock response to energy production.²

At that time, Michael Ashburner, who had been studying the puffing patterns of *Drosophila spp.* since the late 1950s at the University of Cambridge (UK), was investigating the induction of specific puffs during the stages of development of the animal^{28,29} as well as by temperature shock, hormonal treatment, and anaerobiosis.³⁰ He had some suspicion about the likely expression of particular proteins related to these puffs due to the following observations. Incubation of salivary

glands in vitro with antibiotic inhibitors of protein synthesis (such as cycloheximide and puromycin) did not affect puffing in D. melanogaster, but injecting cycloheximide or puromycin into 90-h L3 larvae had significant inhibitory effects on puffing. Also, these treatments rapidly inhibited the incorporation of amino acids into proteins (in less than 1 min), although changes in puffing patterns took approximately 3 h to become apparent.³⁰ Then, Alfred Tissières, on a sabbatical visit to the laboratory of Ursula M. Tracy at the California Institute of Technology, confirmed the appearance of new bands separated by SDS-PAGE in ³⁵Smethionine-labled tissues of Drosophila melanogaster; the same was observed when the whole animal was injected with the radiotracer.³¹ By using ³H-uridine labeling, they were also able to associate the synthesis of new polypeptides with the puffing activity of polytene chromosomes. They were impressed by the remarkably high rate of protein synthesis observed in a single band, later identified as ~70 kDa.32 This one band alone accounted for approximately 15% of all the labeled bands induced by heat shock. In addition, as previously noticed by Ritossa, heat shock induced the appearance of new proteins and the disappearance of others.³¹

The Ashburner group working on D. melanogaster, D. *hvdei*, and *D. simulans* confirmed the above observations and added new information to them, showing that actinomycin D (a transcription inhibitor that binds to DNA duplexes preventing RNA polymerase elongation) blocks the synthesis of heat-induced proteins only if added at the beginning of the shock.³² Furthermore, in this latter study, Ritossa's former notion that energy-threatening situations and heat shock should mandatorily share some fundamental principle in common was also corroborated. Accordingly, Lewis and co-workers³² tested the effects of uncouplers of oxidative phosphorylation (2,4-dinitrophenol), inhibitors of electron transport (rotenone), or recovery from prolonged anaerobiosis (2 h under nitrogen atmosphere) and, in fact, observed exactly the same patterns of puffing paralleled by the synthesis of new proteins, in particular, one of 70-72 kDa, which was always present in such preparations.

Susan Lindquist (then Susan Lee Lindquist McKenzie) discovered at Meselson's laboratory that *Drosophila* cells exhibited the same response to heat shock as reported by Tissières and colleagues in 1974,³¹ with translational and transcriptional mechanisms governing the response.^{33–36} These findings were and still are considered the most robust and widespread change in eukaryotic gene expression so far. She also revealed the unexpected capacity of eukaryotic cells to discriminate between coexisting mRNAs and independently regulate their translation. In other words,

during heat shock, cells efficiently translate heat shock mRNAs while blocking normal mRNAs from translation, yet holding them ready for reactivation after heat shock. Lindquist's observations then explained the findings of Ritossa and Tissières' group that heat shock induces an extraordinary appearance of some puffs and the vanishing of others in polytene chromosomes, now under the molecular biology point of view.

Notwithstanding, Susan Lindquist was, to the best of our knowledge, the first to employ the term "*heat shock proteins*" to this set of heat-induced polypeptides and to emphasize the importance of the 70,000-dalton HSPs.³³ Since then, many groups have exploited details on the expression of heat shock proteins or heat shock-induced peptides, including Tissières' laboratory³⁷ and Ashburner's group, the latter introducing the acronym *HSP* to differentiate such polypeptides: HSP70, HSP80, and so on.³⁸

At that time, there was a primary source of confusion surrounding HSPs with molecular weights around 70 kDa. Mirault and colleagues³⁷ conducted two-dimensional gel experiments that revealed multiple polypeptides in this range, spanning from 70 to 72 kDa. Genetic and biochemical evidence indicated that these were very similar proteins. Therefore, two possible explanations were postulated: post-translational modification (PTM) of a parent polypeptide or each protein being the product of a particular gene copy due to multiple copies of the coding sequences.³⁸ The latter has been proven to be the case, as approached below.

Lindquist's research group made significant contributions to the understanding of the role of HSPs in preventing and repairing stress-induced protein damage and its consequent cell toxicity. Her findings demonstrated that HSPs play a critical role in turning off the mechanisms that are activated in response to stress at every level. As HSPs restore protein homeostasis (proteostasis) and reset the damaged regulatory systems that inhibit normal mRNA functions, the elegant logic of the regulatory circuitry is revealed. By restoring regulatory systems to their normal state, HSPs eliminate their own advantage and switch off the response.³⁹ Lindquist's work, in conjunction with the seminal work of Spradling, Pelham, Lis, and Wu on transcription, has resulted in the HSR being regarded as one of the most beautiful and complete examples of eukaryotic gene regulation.³⁹

More recently, there have been notable observations regarding the HSR. The universality of the response and the conservation of inducible genes across different species throughout evolution have been recognized as significant findings. These observations indicate that HSPs play fundamental roles in biological processes,⁴⁰ as previously assumed by Ritossa in his initial works^{1–3} that

were not widely accepted at that time, by the way.²⁶ Indeed, the HSR has proved to be a universal phenomenon observed in every organism where it has been sought, ranging incredibly from eubacteria to archaebacteria, and from mice to soybeans.⁴¹ Moreover, it has been known for a long time that the HSR is influenced by the metabolic state of the cells. For instance, in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, the HSR in fermenting cells grown at 25 °C is transient at 36 °C and sustained at 40 °C, while in respiring cells, the response is transient at 34 °C and sustained at 36 °C. These findings resemble in much the effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy observed in mammalian cells,²⁴ as we shall approach later. Additionally, the synthesis of HSPs is determined by previous incubation temperatures: in Drosophila cells, when the temperature is abruptly increased to high levels, the maximum response occurs at 37 °C, and only minimal synthesis is observed at 39 °C. However, when the temperature is gradually increased (a regimen more likely to reflect natural environmental exposure), the response is extended over several degrees. Apart from a few exceptionally rare and evolutionarily justifiable cases (discussed next), these discoveries have been replicated in several other organisms.⁴¹

These proteins are widely regarded as among the most highly conserved proteins in existence.⁴² Under normal growth temperatures, the HSP70 gene is transcribed at low levels in human cells. However, a transient heat shock at 43 °C can induce the gene by over 20-fold.⁴³ Importantly, the unusually high degree of conservation observed in the amino acid sequence of human HSP70,⁴³ which was found to be 73% identical to that of the *Drosophila* HSP70 and 47% identical to the *Escherichia coli* dnaK (!), suggests that HSP70s were conserved throughout evolution for a specific and important reason over the last 3.6 billion years.

Apart from certain stenothermal organisms, which are only capable of surviving within a narrow range of ambient temperatures (such as those found in the deep sea and polar environments), all eurythermal organisms (including birds and mammals) that have been studied so far exhibit the inducible production of proteins encoded by the HSP70 and HSP90 gene families in response to elevated temperatures. Interestingly, the stenothermal Antarctic fish Emerald rockcod (Trematomus bernacchii) possesses an exceptionally unusual trait: the animal does not express inducible forms of HSPs when subjected to heat or heavy metal stress. Instead, when challenged with non-lethal thermal stress, this fish increases the synthesis of the constitutive HSP70. This unique trait is exclusively found in animals that inhabit subzero, thermally stable waters.⁴⁴ It is believed that these animals *lost* the HSR between 14 and 25 million years ago. This

timeframe coincides with the opening of the Drake Passage, leading to a significant cooling of Antarctic waters.⁴⁴ As a result, this evolutionary adaptation occurred relatively recently in terms of both evolution and geological history. A similar phenomenon is observed in the freshwater coelenterate species Hydra attenuata when it faces thermal or heavy metal stress. Notably, only the constitutively expressed HSP60 (but not HSP70), which functions as the primary chaperone, experiences an enhanced synthesis in such conditions. This heightened synthesis of HSP60 coincides with an increased thermotolerance, allowing the organism to better withstand subsequent challenges. Quirkier, its congener species Hydra oligactis displays an extreme sensitivity to thermal stress and fails to express any HSP in response to heat at all.⁴⁵ Indeed, many animals, particularly the ectothermic ones, evolved resourceful strategies to survive adverse ambient conditions, and all of them employ changes in chaperone functions.⁴⁶

Shortly after cloning, it became evident that the human HSP70 gene belongs to a multigene family, similar to the 70 kDa multigene families found in *Drosophila* and yeast,⁴⁷ reaffirming one of the hypotheses raised by Ashburner's laboratory.³⁸ Notably, *HSPA1A*, the gene responsible for coding HSP70, is an intronless gene. This lack of intervening sequences is not just a coincidence, but a significant characteristic for genes whose transcripts accumulate (or must accumulate) rapidly in the cytoplasm. In contrast, most eukaryotic genes containing intervening sequences require proper processing before their transcripts can be transported into the cytoplasm. This is not the case for *hspa1a*, and it explains the rapid transcription and accumulation rates observed in *Drosophila* HSP70 mRNAs.⁴⁷

Before delving further into this discussion, it is pertinent to highlight that the term "*proteotoxicity*" was initially coined by analogy to "genotoxicity." It was first introduced by Professor Larry Hightower⁴⁸ to characterize the harm inflicted upon proteins by various chemical and physical agents.

Initially identified as stress-responsive proteins necessary to cope with thermal and other proteotoxic stresses, the human family of HSPs was soon found to contain members that are constitutively expressed, such as HSC70, the cognate form of HSP70, also known as HSP73 encoded by *HSPA8* gene, besides its most prominent stress-inducible HSP72, encoded by *HSPA1A* and *HSPA1B* genes.⁴⁹ Another feature of HSPs is their location in different compartments of the eukaryotic cell. In addition, they may or may not be induced by heat and this depends on tissue and *metabolic state*. For instance, glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78), a member of the HSP70 family, is situated within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Its expression is induced in response to diminished glucose levels. In contrast, another glucose-responsive HSP70, Glucose-Regulated Protein 75 (GRP75), resides in the mitochondrion. GRP75 similarly reacts to glucose scarcity but remains unresponsive to heat shock.^{41,42}

Insights into the true function of HSPs as proteostasissafeguarding in the cells, nevertheless, emerged with the discovery that abnormal, denatured proteins can act also as stress signals, activating heat shock genes.⁵⁰ Inside cells, HSPs play a vital role in preventing protein aggregation when newly synthesized proteins are leaving the ER en route to their final destination, or when intracellular proteins are under immediate threat of misfolding due to various agents such as heat, alcohol, amino acid analogs or heavy metals, and post-ischemic reperfusion, which induce oxidative stress and menace protein physiology as well. However, it was difficult to solve the puzzle that connected the spatial conformation of polypeptides with the activation of specific genes. Even more: how did evolution prepare sensors, if any, capable of transducing the misfolding of a protein into a signal for the transcription of heat shock genes?

For a long time, it was believed that the likelihood of a stepwise random folding-denaturation-refolding process during the biosynthesis of a polypeptide chain from the amino to carboxy-terminus would be minimal. Moreover, it was widely recognized that there exists a delicate balance between a stable, native protein structure, and a random, biologically functionless one. Therefore, it was expected that some biological system would operate to maintain this balance thermodynamically.⁵¹ The question is that, in Anfinsen's in vitro experiments with chemical denaturants, the probability of a polypeptide folding correctly after the denaturant is removed increases when the protein concentration is low, limiting inter-polypeptide interactions, and at low temperatures, which attenuates hydrophobic interactions. However, this is not the case for real cells in vivo. The high protein concentrations and temperatures present within the cell can cause premature interactions between newly synthesized polypeptides, resulting in misfolding and aggregation.⁵² This explains why, during the course of metazoan evolution, molecular chaperones emerged as a vital component in maintaining proper protein folding and preventing aggregation.⁴

The discovery of HSP chaperone cascades (next sections), nevertheless, does not alter Anfinsen's thermodynamic folding principle,⁵¹ which states that the primary amino acid sequence encodes all the information necessary to determine the shape of the native state, and chaperones are not responsible for changing it.⁵³ Chaperones function in a manner similar to enzymes in that they do not interfere with the quantum of free energy (ΔG) involved in folding. Instead, they lower the activation energy required for proper folding or transport toward other cellular compartments. This is made possible because, like conventional enzymes, chaperones "*embrace*" specific segments of the polypeptide chain, reducing their mobility (entropy). As expected, this energetic movement against spontaneity ($\Delta S < 0$) requires energy input obtained from ATP hydrolysis, but this is the faster step of the folding reaction. Instead, upon being released at their final destinations, Brownian mobility restores entropy (and free energy) to the medium, and this is the slow (bottleneck) step of the entire process.

For example, HSP70-HSP90 cascades significantly increase folding yields, but they basically do not affect the overall kinetics of the folding process.⁵⁴ This is because HSP70s dose-dependently block protein folding by imprisoning client proteins at the chaperone core, a very fast process that is ATP-dependent. HSP90s, on the other hand, promptly resume the folding course by taking over client proteins from HSP70s in an ATP-dependent manner as well. HSP70-HSP90 activities are limited to the early folding phase, during which their ATPase activity is required for a few seconds (k_{cat} of up to 0.79 s⁻¹).⁵⁵ Once this phase is complete, the client protein follows an Anfinsen folding trajectory (rate limiting for the velocity of folding; several minutes) that does not require the assistance of either chaperone.⁵³

For the inter-organelle transport of polypeptides or dispatch of them from the ribosomal exit tunnel, a pulling force (ΔG) is required, which is generated by the low intrinsic entropy state created by the limited freedom of movement of polypeptides bound to HSP70 near the membrane and the pore (translocon) through which the polypeptides must pass. As the polypeptide moves inward through the translocon, it increases the freedom of movement ($\Delta S > 0$) of the substrate-bound HSP70, leading to an increase in entropy (resulting in a negative ΔG). This creates a one-way pulling motion, as entropy can only spontaneously increase.⁵⁶

The available data suggest a sequential occurrence of ATP and cochaperone-induced structural rearrangements in bacterial HSP70 (DnaK), leading to the resolution of previously unforeseen cochaperone and client-induced changes.⁵⁷ Peptides induce significant conformational alterations in DnaK·ATP prior to ATP hydrolysis, whereas protein clients induce smaller changes but exhibit greater effectiveness in stimulating ATP hydrolysis.⁵⁷ The analysis of the enthalpies of activation for the ATP-induced opening of the DnaK lid in the presence of client peptides indicates that the lid *does not* exert an enthalpic pulling force on bound clients. This finding suggests that entropic pulling serves as a major mechanism for client

unfolding,⁵⁷ as previously proposed.^{53,54} These recent findings provide valuable insights into the mechanics, allostery, and dynamics of HSP70 chaperones, as demonstrated.⁵⁷ In essence, chaperoning is a process fundamentally governed by thermodynamics, much like the entire process of triggering the HSR.

While the HSR also extends to the organism level,⁵⁸ HSPs play two distinct roles in terms of cellular protein protection⁵⁶: *housekeeping* and *stress-activated* functions. The housekeeping functions are related to (1) cooperation with other protein folding and quality-control machineries; (2) de novo protein folding; (3) protein translocation across membranes; (4) assembly/disassembly of protein complexes; (5) regulation of protein activity; and (6) protection from proteolysis. On the other hand, stress functions evolved to limit the noxious effects of unfolded proteins, which evoke inflammatory responses if accumulated.¹¹ They comprise (1) prevention of protein aggregation; (2) protein disaggregation, in cooperation with small HSPs (sHSPs) and HSP100 families; (3) protein refolding; and (4) protein degradation (e.g., autophagy and ubiquitin-proteasome system) to clear aberrant proteins and protein aggregates. Structurefunction relations and HSP70-client protein interactions have also been detailed.⁵⁹ Finally, HSR regulatory mechanisms poise proteostasis protection with all metabolic pathways related to energy preservation (caloristasis), including animal reproduction and anti-inflammatory responses. This is why modern human diseases such as obesity, in which a surplus of energy is detected within cells, so dramatically disarrange proteostasis and HSRdependent anti-inflammatory pathways.⁵⁸ After all, the HSR evolved to juxtapose proteotoxic stress with metabolic stress, specifically in response to indications of insufficient cellular energy, not energy surplus.

Comparing the initial observations described in this section with what is known at present, it is amazing what a close look at the result of an error in the laboratory gave us. On the occasion of the 50th anniversary of the discovery of the HSR, Professor Maria Gabriella Santoro talked through the significance of the discovery. In her reflections, she highlighted the first interpretation of the HSR given by Ritossa himself, which is worth mentioning: "*It did not matter if this interpretation was true or false; it was a working link between imagination and reality, like love.*" Ferruccio is not only a scientist and an artist; he is also a poet, she said.⁶⁰

Heat shock protein families

Before exploring the roles of HSPs, it is worth noting that, although the term "molecular chaperones" be

commonly used in the field of HSPs, it was originally introduced by Laskey and colleagues⁶¹ to describe the remarkable capacity of these proteins to prevent in-correct ionic interactions between histones and DNA.

To cope with both housekeeping and stress-induced functions, evolution ameliorated, from ancient prokaryotic ancestors, eight families of HSPs. They were initially characterized by their molecular weight (i.e., HSP72, HSP90, etc.) and are now grouped into gene families and superfamilies, more consistently with HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee as follows⁴⁹: *HSPA* (e.g., HSP70), *HSPB* (small HSPs), *HSPC* (e.g., HSP90), *HSPD* and *HSPE* (HSP60 and HSP10 chaperonins), *HSPH* (e.g., HSP110), *DNAJ* (J-proteins, formerly HSP40 cochaperones) alongside *CCT*, and other chaperonin-related genes.

To date, 13 different genes have been identified in the human genome that code for members of the HSPA superfamily: 11 for HSPB, five for HSPC, one for HSPD, one for HSPE, nine for the CCT chaperonin genes, and three others for chaperonin-like (one for MKKS and two for BBS).⁴⁹ Although the number of HSPA homologs/paralogs in the human genome is notable, it is the number of identified DNAJ genes in humans⁶² that truly stands out, with 50 genes identified (4 DNAJA members, 13 DNAJB, and 33 DNAJC). This high number is an indication of the significant role that DNAJ genes play in the chaperone machinery.⁶² DNAJ expression is found in all cellular compartments.⁶³

J-proteins are distinguished by the presence of a conserved J-domain responsible for recruiting and activating HSPA ATPase activity.⁴⁹ This domain, which is named after its founding member, the *E. coli* DnaJ cochaperone, contains a highly conserved ~70 amino acid signature region. Of particular importance is a His-Pro-Asp tripeptide, which is located within a loop connecting the two main helices (helix II and helix III). The His-Pro-Asp tripeptide motif is critical for the J-domain's function in stimulating HSP70's ATPase activity.⁶⁴

The HSPA/HSP70 superfamily, in particular, exhibits a high degree of diversity, which can be attributed to several factors, for instance, the various possible cellular locations, such as cytoplasm and nucleus (e.g., HSPA1A/HSP72 and HSPA1B/HSP70-2), ER (e.g., HSPA5/GRP78), and mitochondrion (e.g., HSPA9/ GRP75). Despite the significant homology between the genes in this superfamily, *HSPA* members demonstrate a high degree of specialization, nonetheless. For example, the response to stress can vary significantly: *HSPA8*/HSC73 (expressed in both cytoplasm and nucleus)⁶³ is primarily a non-inducible housekeeping gene, whereas *HSPA6*/HSP70B' exhibits strictly inducible expression, with minimal or no basal expression in most cells. Actually, there is a vast repertoire of combinations between intracellular location and inducibility among HSP members.⁶⁵ Studies have shown that proteasome inhibition is a potent activator of HSP70B'. In comparison to HSP72, which is the primary responder to increasing levels of proteotoxic stress among the *HSPA*/HSP70 family, *HSPA6*/HSP70B' serves as a secondary responder. Interestingly, in cell models, *HSPA6*/HSP70B' is induced by ZnSO₄ but not HSP72, indicating that *HSPA6*/HSP70B' may have a stressor-specific primary role.⁶⁶

The ER HSPA5 member, also referred to as binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) or GRP78 (78 kDa glucose-regulated protein), is a master regulator of the unfolded protein response (UPR), reducing ER stress levels and apoptosis due to an enhancement of the cellular folding capacity, including against prion replication.⁶⁷ The mitochondrial HSPA9, also known as GRP75 (75 kDa glucose-regulated protein), is a heat shock cognate protein that plays a capital role in cell proliferation, stress response, and maintenance of the mitochondrion. It is essential in increasing ER-mitochondria contact during palmitate-induced apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells.⁶⁸ The expression of both GRP78 and GRP75 is also activated by lowering glucose levels within the cell. Actually, the level of HSP expression may determine if a cell can be rescued from a death stimulus or must undergo apoptosis.69

Chaperones also differ much in their preference for client proteins. For instance, while cytosolic HSPA/ HSP70s have an inclination for binding leucine-enriched peptide motifs, which are abundant in aliphatic residues, the ER homolog BiP/HSPA5 has a preference for motifs with aromatic residues.⁵⁶ Apropos of HSPA gene family, its members possess high but different degrees of homology in respect of *HSPA1*/HSP72 (the most highly expressed one), namely: *HSPA1B*/HSP70-2, 99%; *HSPA5*/GRP78, 64%; *HSPA6*/HSP70B', 85%; *HSPA8*/HSP73/HSC70, 86%; *HSPA9*/GRP75, 52%.

The triggering of HSP production during proteotoxic stress depends on the launching of the activation of heat shock transcription factors (HSFs), with HSF1 being the most studied due to its direct link with proteotoxic stress and the universality of expression across species. Under non-stressful situations, HSF1 resides in the cytoplasm in a monomeric conformation that has *no* DNA-binding or transcribing activity. To be fully activated, HSF1 first needs to trimerize and subsequently gain DNA-binding activity, nuclear accumulation, and extensive PTMs, including multiple serine-phosphorylations, acetylation/deacetylation, or even sumoylation and ubiquitinylation, whose prevalence depends on the physiological context.^{70,71} Furthermore, as mentioned

above, a sophisticated caloristatic control system ultimately governs HSF1's involvement in the intricate process of switching between proteostasis-preserving and energy-conserving mechanisms. In any way, the main impact of HSF1 activation is the high throughput of HSPs, which represent 5–10% of the total protein in most cells and their intracellular content can increase about 20 times in response to stressors.⁷²

The heat shock factors (HSFs)

Unlike invertebrates, which possess a single HSF, plants and vertebrates express multiple HSFs. Humans have six members in the HSF family, namely HSF1, HSF2, HSF4, HSF5, HSFX, and HSFY.⁷¹ Each HSF has unique and overlapping functions, tissue-specific expression patterns, and undergoes various PTMs while interacting with multiple protein partners.⁷³ In eukaryotes, HSF1 is involved not only in HSP gene expression and stress resistance but also in the expression of genes with roles in cell maintenance and differentiation, as well as in developmental processes.^{13,14,74}

Some genes whose expression is dependent on the binding of activated HSF1 include members of different HSP families, HSPA/HSP70 (HSPA1A, HSPA1B, HSPA1L, and HSPA8/HSC73), HSPC/HSP90 (HSPC1/HSP90AA1 and HSPC3/HSP90AB1), HSPH (HSPH1/HSP105 and HSPH3/HSPA4L), DNAJ/HSP40 (DNAJA1, DNAJA4, DNAJB1), chaperonins (HSPE1/HSP10 and HSPD1/HSP60), small HSPs (HSPB1 and HSPB8), BAG3, and many other stress-responsive but not necessarily HSP genes.⁷⁵

In fact, HSF1 also directly regulates the expression and activity of key factors involved in cell differentiation and longevity, autophagy, mitochondrial and ribosomal biogenesis, immune responses, multidrug resistance, cancer progression, aging, and neurodegenerative diseases.^{13,70,71,73,76} This feat is accomplished through the activation of HSF1, which orchestrates the transcription of a remarkable array of more than 5200 genes. This comprehensive list includes all core chaperones and their associated cochaperones, the mRNA-binding protein HuR, and the transcription factor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α , both of which play pivotal roles in the HSR. Additionally, HSF1 regulates the expression of pro-inflammatory genes such as cyclo-oxygenase-2, IL-1 β , TNF α , and the master regulator of inflammation, NF-kB. Notably, HSF1 also influences metabolic processes by modulating AMPK, sirtuin-1, and GSK-3β. Moreover, it exerts control over cell cycle and differentiation through the regulation of c-Jun, Fos, Wnt 2, CD95/Fas, and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2B, among numerous others, as depicted on the far-right side of Figure 1.

In entirety, HSF1 exerts control over nearly 25,000 genes, either directly or indirectly, through its collaboration with other transcription factors. This control mechanism entails both the activation of specific genes and the inhibition of others.^{13,14}

Initially, HSF1 was identified as the primary regulator of the HSR. However, it is now known that HSF2 modulates HSF1-mediated expression of HSP genes by forming heterocomplexes. Upon exposure to heat shock, HSF1 and HSF2 accumulate in nuclear stress bodies and bind to satellite III repeats.⁷³ Of note, HSF1 stimulates the transcription of HSF2,^{13,14} so that HSF1 and HSF2 present a cross-regulation. In summary, HSF1 regulates protein quality-control machinery and gene expression to support cell survival, and this is modulated by the cellular metabolic status as well.^{23,24} On the other hand, HSF2 is highly expressed during early development and in the testis, while it has multiple roles as an activator of protein chaperone genes, and as a tumor suppressor. HSF2 works as an activator of protein chaperone genes when the temperature is in the febrile range. HSF4 is required for eye lens development and is also expressed in the heart, brain, skeletal muscle, and pancreas. Recent research has revealed that HSF5 activity plays a crucial role in orchestrating spermatogenesis in mammals, as well as overseeing the events of programmed meiotic sex chromosome remodeling and silencing that occur during meiosis.⁷⁷ HSF3 is present in mice but not in humans. HSFX's function is unknown, and HSFY is primarily expressed in the testis and contributes to male fertility.⁷¹ In this review, we shall primarily focus on the HSF1-dependent HSR unless specified otherwise. Nevertheless, we kindly encourage readers to consult the excellent reviews published previously^{70,71,73} for additional insights.

HSFs must bind to specific DNA sequences called heat shock elements (HSEs), which are located in the promoter regions of heat shock and other HSF1-driven genes, in order to trigger physiological responses.⁷⁴ Canonical HSEs comprise at least three continuous inverted repeats of the pentanucleotide sequence, 5'nGAAn-3', alternating between 5'-nGAAn-3' and 5'nTTCn-3', or vice versa, where n is any nucleotide.⁷⁸ Moreover, the varying HSE architecture affects HSF-DNA-binding affinity and the corresponding magnitude of response.⁷⁸ The noncanonical (gapped) spacing of nGAAn units in HSE functions to limit the magnitude of transcriptional activation of heat shock genes in response to heat and oxidative stress.⁷⁹ This unique feature adds another layer of complexity and refinement to the regulation of HSF1-driven genes.

Mammalian HSFs, particularly the two most studied members of the family, that is, HSF1 and HSF2, exhibit unanticipated complexity in their structure, DNAbinding selectivity, PTMs, interacting partners, and regulation.⁷¹ The distribution of HSEs in the promoter regions of heat shock genes affects the intensity of gene expression as well as the tendency to be activated by different types of stresses. Furthermore, mutations to the HSE are involved in aggregative diseases, such as Huntington's disease.⁷¹

HSE architecture in heat shock and other HSF1commanded genes, including features such as proximity to TATA box, number of repeats, and spacing, do determine the speed of gene transcription initiation, sensitivity to heat and other stressors, and the amount of HSP produced in species living in thermally diverse environments.^{74,80,81} In addition to specific promoter features, gene properties such as chromatin activation are also required for the activation of heat shock genes.^{82,83} Furthermore, HSF1 activity can be suppressed at both the intra- and inter-molecular levels. At the inter-molecular level, molecular chaperones such as HSP70/HSPA, HSP90/HSPC, and TRiC/CCT interact with HSF1 to inhibit its activation, thereby preventing its binding to DNA and regulation of gene expression.⁸⁴

Although the signals that trigger HSF1 activation may vary in their nature, they share a common feature in that such signals typically (but not exclusively) result in elevated levels of misfolded proteins within the cell. However, conditions that can lead proteins to be unfolded, for example, heat and oxidative stress, equally trigger HSF1 activation. In other words, HSF1 can also be activated in *anticipation* of protein denaturation, which is typically a physiological trait always observed during the course of evolution of life.

HSF1 activation can be achieved by at least four known mechanisms, which are not necessarily mutually exclusive.⁷⁰ Under normal cellular conditions, HSF1 exists in a complex with cytoplasmic chaperones, specifically DNAJ/HSP40, HSPA/HSP70, and HSPC/HSP90 (mainly).⁸⁵ In this state, HSF1 occurs as a monomer without DNA-binding activity. Being part of a multichaperone complex, HSC/HSP90 is involved in sequestering HSF1 monomers in the absence of stress and contributes to the deceleration of HSF1 activity after enough HSPs have been induced following stress.^{70,86} However, upon exposure to various stresses such as heat shock, inflammation, or unfolded proteins, HSF1 is released from the chaperone complex and translocates into the nucleus. Once in the nucleus, HSF1 undergoes trimerization, hyperphosphorylation, and subsequently binds to HSEs present in HSP genes.87 Actually, hyperphosphorylation of the regulatory domain of HSF1 is necessary but not sufficient for the full activation of $\mathrm{HSF1.}^{88}$

Eventually, the binding of activated HSF1 to HSEs, thus, initiates the transcription of genes encoding HSPs, including HSPA/HSP70 and HSPC/HSP90.87 This is known as the classical chaperone displacement mechanism. A second possibility is the RNA thermometer model, in which HSF1 remains associated with the heatsensing RNA molecule HSR-1 under non-stressful situations. Heat stress uncouples HSF1 from the complex at the same time that liberates HSR-1 for binding to the elongation factor eEF1A, thus impeding protein synthesis during the heat shock. A third mechanism is the intrinsic response, in which HSF1 can undertake selfassembly (trimerization) in the presence of heat or other types of stress. Although there may be undiscovered mechanisms for HSF1 self-assembly, oxidation of cysteine residues in the DNA-binding domain of HSF1 is of particular importance because it permits quick formation of disulfide bonds between HSF1 monomers with the consequent trimerization of it,⁷⁰ particularly during the course of oxidative stress and metabolic defects in the generation of NADPH (see below).

HSF1-dependent HSR in cells from *Drosophila spp.*, vertebrates and in unicellular eukaryotes is *cell-autonomous*,⁸⁹ that is, operated within the cell in response to stressful signals addressed to the cell. Nevertheless, a last known mechanism by which HSR and ER-UPR may be activated transcellularly at the organismal level, that is, *cell-nonautonomously* (please see ref.⁵⁸), was initially perceived in *Caenorhabditis elegans*⁷⁰ but was now realized to be a mechanism conserved from worms to mammals.⁹⁰

The chaperone machinery involved in the HSR

In order to perform chaperoning of intracellular polypeptides, chaperones definitely do not operate alone. They work in complexes known as *chaperone machines*. The HSPA/HSP70 machine consists of the core HSPA protein along with an array of different cofactors and *nucleotide exchange factors* (*NEFs*) that transiently bind in cooperation with core HSPA, such as *DNAJ/HSP40*, *HSPH/HSP110*, *BAG-1*, *Hip*, *HSPBP1*, *CHIP*, and *HOP*.⁵² HSPA1A/HSP70, which is a major work-power for proper protein folding, requires client proteins (substrates) to be presented in order to complete the process, although HSPA1A/HSP70 itself contains the necessary information for folding. This involves necessarily the collaboration of HSPA1A/HSP70 with cochaperones (e.g., HSP40/DNAJ/J-proteins) and several regulatory cofactors, such as NEFs, or the transfer of client proteins to other chaperones (e.g., HSPC/HSP90) to terminate the process.^{64,91,92} NEFs are responsible for promoting the opening of the HSPA/HSP70 nucleotidebinding cleft, which allows for the release of ADP. This, in turn, enables the rebinding of ATP and facilitates the release of substrates from HSPA/HSP70, ultimately promoting efficient chaperone activity.⁵⁶ HSPA1A/ HSP70 is a notable example where ATP hydrolysis prompts a conformational shift that significantly enhances client-protein affinity.⁹³

As noticed by Ritossa in his first studies,¹⁻³ the HSR may be activated by energy imbalances within cells. However, the integrity of the proteostasis network faces a precarious situation when confronted with energy deficits. This predicament not only triggers the activation of AMPK, which hampers the proteostasis-saving HSR as discussed in the Introduction section¹⁶⁻²¹ but also precipitates a decline in ATP levels, as expounded upon by Morimoto.⁸⁹ This is particularly noteworthy because HSPD/HSP60, HSPA/HSP70, HSPC/HSP90, and HSPH/ HSP110 are all dependent on their ATPase activity to facilitate protein folding or refolding.⁴ Interestingly, recent evidence shows that HSPH members work as NEFs for HSPA family members.49,56 Some HSPA/HSP70 homologs, such as the ribosome-associated HSPA14 or the cytosolic HSPH/HSP110 and the ER HSPH4/HSP110 (GRP170) members, which are both homologs of HSPA/ HSP70s but act as NEFs for HSPA/HSP70s, show no conservation in the interacting residues.⁵⁶

Chaperones, in addition to facilitating protein folding ("*foldase*" activity), also play a role in the ubiquitinmediated proteasomal degradation of client proteins when they are irremediably unfolded. The regulation of chaperone-mediated protein degradation is influenced by cochaperones, such as the C-terminal HSP70 binding protein (CHIP). By binding to HSPA/HSP70 and HSPC/ HSP90 chaperones via its tetratricopeptide repeat domain, CHIP is able to function as an E3 ubiquitin ligase using a modified RING finger domain (U-box). This unique combination of domains enables CHIP to effectively connect chaperone complexes with the ubiquitin-proteasome system.⁹⁴

Polypeptides in their native form are also transferred from HSP70 to HSP90 chaperones as a means of regulating protein activity. For example, HSP70 and HSP90 jointly control the biological activity of various target proteins through temporary interactions, including but not limited to nuclear receptors (e.g., steroid hormone receptors), kinases (e.g., eIF2 α -kinase, cyclin-dependent kinases), and transcription factors (e.g., p53 and HSF1), as well as a diverse array of other proteins.⁵⁶ By means of this type of protein-protein interaction, HSPA/HSP70 forms a complex with tumor-related antigens via its polypeptide-binding domain, to elicit greater antigenspecific immune responses.⁹⁵ Moreover, HSPs may be involved in the binding of protein fragments from dead malignant cells, to present them to antigen-presenting cells via MHC class I and class II molecules, leading to the activation of anti-tumor CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells.

Although not a direct focus of the present discussion. small heat shock proteins (sHSPs/HSPBs) are highly conserved across species and also play a critical role in stress tolerance. Many HSPBs/sHSPs have chaperonelike activity, which helps to prevent the aggregation of target proteins, keeps them in a folding-competent state, and facilitates their refolding either independently or in conjunction with other ATP-dependent chaperones. Mutations in human HSPBs/sHSPs have been linked to myopathies, neuropathies, and cataracts. Moreover, the expression of HSPBs/sHSPs is impaired in various diseases, such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and cancer. The ability of HSPBs/sHSPs to bind Cu²⁺ thereby suppressing the generation of ROS may also have important implications for Cu²⁺ homeostasis and neurodegenerative diseases.⁹⁶

As stated above, the HSR is also intimately connected to inflammation. Accordingly, during either sterile tissue injury or pathogen-elicited Toll-like receptor-2 and receptor-4 triggered inflammatory responses, nuclear factors of κ B family (NF- κ B) are activated and signal to proinflammatory gene expression.⁵⁸ On the other hand, a physiological negative feedback system that "resolves" inflammation is also enabled via the HSR pathway. HSF1 may be directly activated by PGE₂-induced rise in temperature (fever) during nuclear factor NF- κ B-elicited cyclo-oxygenase-2 induction. PGA₂, the dehydration product of PGE₂, is also able to counteract NF- κ B downstream effects by directly blocking I κ B kinase- β . HSP70, *per se*, blocks NF- κ B activation and transcribing activity.

Following oxidative stress and the formation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, ROS/RNS, conformational changes in unfolded proteins can be relayed to HSF1 either directly or via changes in glutathione (GSH)/protein sulfhydryl redox status or, finally, after the activation of the UPR protocol that activates HSF1 through the SIRT1 pathway. This happens through UPRmediated activation of HuR, an RNA-binding protein that stabilizes SIRT1 mRNA and, consequently, its expression. SIRT1 downstream signals can also be transmitted to the HSR pathway via metabolic alterations, such as those that increase nicotinamide dinucleotide redox status (↑NAD⁺/NADH ratio) or adenosine monophosphate to triphosphate (↑AMP/ATP) ratio and the consequent activation of 5'-AMPK. However, under predominant metabolic stress, activated AMPK impedes the transport of HuR toward the cytosol and may decrease the level of HSF1 activation, thus lessening the HSR and favoring energy preservation. AMPK, the master fuel sensing kinase, may also be turned on by calorie restriction, physical exercise, or the antidiabetic drug metformin, which is also the gold standard for treating metabolic disorders associated with abnormal ovary function, such as polycystic ovary syndrome. Activated AMPK phosphorylates and blocks GSK-3β, which constitutively inhibits HSF1, so that activated AMPK can cause disinhibition of HSF1, leading to an anti-inflammatory HSR. Glutamine metabolism, which is enhanced by muscle contraction, by increasing metabolic flux through the HBP, also blocks GSK-36 thereby enhancing HSR. Estrogen (E2) can activate HSR machinery both directly acting over HSF1 activation and by membrane surface estrogen receptors that signal through Erk1/2, p38 MAPK, and PI3K/Akt pathways leading to enhanced endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) and neuronal NO synthase activity and NO production which, in turn, unveils a discrete redox imbalance that activates HSF1. Additionally, E2 blocks senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) that emanates from continuous activation of NLRP3 (nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain-like receptor family pyrin domaincontaining-3) inflammasome which, in turn, impairs HuR-dependent activation of HSR through the SIRT1-HSF1 pathway. SASP results from long-term ER stress and its consequent unremitted activation of UPR (e.g., obesity, insufficient physical activity). Similarly, HS treatment, even in the fever-like range, blocks NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent SASP, re-establishing HuR-SIRT1-HSF1 downstream pathways, so that HS itself can, paradoxically, re-establish the HSR.⁵⁸ Under predominant proteotoxic stress, the excess of misfolded proteins leads to the sequestration of protein chaperones (mainly HSP90/HSC) from the associated HSF1 thereby setting this transcription factor free to physically block AMPK. Therefore, in this case, AMPK is shut off and the HSR may be resumed to warrant cellular proteostasis. Please see Figure 2 for an overview of the interplay between the HSR and the resolution of inflammation and confront AMPK in metabolic stress.

It merits note that human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) has the ability to effectively co-opt the host cellular machinery, with a particular reliance on the host chaperone machinery for the assembly of its proteins.⁹⁷ Among the host proteins involved in this process, HSPBP1, which serves exclusively as a NEF, plays a crucial role in inhibiting HIV-1 long-terminal repeat

(LTR) promoter activity. This is because HSPBP1 binds to xB sites at the LTR promoter, which in turn prevents the binding of NF- κ B heterodimers (p50/p65) to the same region. Consequently, this leads to the repression of NF-kB-mediated activation of LTR-driven gene expression and HIV-1 proliferation.98 The same mechanism is thought to take place during the HSRmediated resolution of inflammation.⁵⁸ through the HSPA/HSP70-elicited negative regulation of inflammatory responses through, but not limited to, its negative effect on NF-kB signaling pathway.^{8,87,99,100} In the same line of reasoning is the antiviral effect of the antibiotic geldanamycin, which binds to the ATP pocket of HSPC/HSP90, disturbing the binding of HSPC/HSP90 to HSF1 thereby increasing HSPA/HSP70 gene expression. Therefore, HSP90 inhibitors, such as geldanamycin, can activate a strong HSF1-dependent HSR, resulting in elevated levels of HSP70 and HSP90 itself.97 Importantly, inhibition of HSP90 blocks NLRP3 inflammasome activation,¹⁰¹ thus preventing inflammasome-mediated SASP and chronic inflammatory diseases, by stimulating HSP70 expression.⁵⁸ It has also been suggested drug repositioning with HSPC/HSP90 inhibitors (particularly geldanamycin) for treating COVID-19 patients.¹⁰² Actually, several inhibitors of HSPC/HSP90 have been tested in clinical trials.^{103,104} So far, none have reached the clinic, reflecting that inhibition of chaperones is a drastic measure.⁵

With the improvement of experimental tools to identify PTM, it has become clear that not only HSF1, but many chaperones undergo extensive PTMs that determine their chaperone activity as well as interactions of HSP70, HSP90, HSP110, and J-proteins. However, the enzymes responsible for these modifications and the functional consequences that PTMs might have on these proteins remain largely unknown. In addition to the aforementioned transformations and PTM, phosphorylation has notably emerged as an important contributor to the biological activity of HSP70, HSP110, and HSP40/DNAJ interactions. These findings underscore an added layer of complexity in regulating HSP70 function.¹⁰⁵ Lastly, a noteworthy PTM has recently come to light, namely, the covalent modification of HSPs by AMP, a process known as AMPylation. This discovery further reinforces the intricate connection between the HSR and cellular energy levels. When AMPylated, BiP, for instance, exhibits an enhanced capacity for binding and releasing substrates, a diminished basal ATPase activity and a dampened response to ATP hydrolysis stimulation by J-protein cochaperones.¹⁰⁶ These findings compellingly support the notion



Fig. 2 Overview of how the HSR integrates the interplay between energy sensing (AMPK pathways) and proteotoxic sensing (HSF1 pathways). Stress-activation of the biosynthetic pathway that leads to HSP70 expression from HSF1 couples reproduction (estrogen, E2), exercise, energy balance and proteostasis to anti-inflammation via HSP70. AMPK, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; HSP70, the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor 1; SIRT1, NAD+-dependent deacetylase sirtuin-1; NLRP3, NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 inflammasome; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

Reproduced with adaption from: Nitric oxide-heat shock protein axis in menopausal hot flushes: neglected metabolic issues of chronic inflammatory diseases associated with deranged heat shock response. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2017;23:600–628. https://doi.org/10.1093/ humupd/dmx020. Hum Reprod Updatel© The Author 2017. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology. All rights reserved. Reprinted by permission of OUP on behalf of the Human Reproduction Update.

that AMPylation serves as an inhibitory modification in cellular conditions characterized by reduced demands for anabolic processes or scarcity of energy resources. Kindly refer to Figure 2 for a more comprehensive overview of how the HSR intricately integrates the interplay between energy sensing (AMPK pathways) and proteostasis sensing (HSF1 pathways) defining the regulation of the poise amidst proteotoxic and metabolic stress responses. In any case, it is now evident that both *predominantly metabolic stress* and *predominantly proteotoxic stress* responses are governed by the cellular equivalent of a continuously adjustable rheostat, rather than operating as simple binary on/off switches. These regulatory mechanisms are finely attuned to respond to the swiftly fluctuating states of caloristasis, as postulated by Professor Larry Hightower's group.²⁴

Beyond individual chaperone functions discussed here, the concept of *chaperome* analysis is gaining prominence as an approach to understanding the role of the HSR in various conditions, including health and disease. The chaperome comprises a diverse family of proteins, encompassing chaperones, cochaperones, and numerous other factors. When examining chaperome subnetworks in specific contexts such as aging or neurodegenerative diseases, it becomes evident that these subsets serve as protective buffers, preserving proteostasis amid proteotoxic stress.¹⁰⁷ Hence, the current trend is to prioritize the examination of chaperome networks over the exclusive emphasis on chaperome inhibitors or stimulators, placing them above genetics or client proteins in research priorities.¹⁰⁸

Coevolution of chaperome and energy-controlling systems

The history of life on Earth, as our present records suggest, was shaped by constant fluctuations in the supply of heat. Since ancient times, Earth experienced numerous and dramatic shifts in its heat dynamics, influencing the adaptation of primordial molecules and the emergence of the first life forms. In the early stages of prebiotic chemistry, energy from the environment was harnessed to construct more complex compounds, enabling the emergence of primordial biochemical systems aimed to protect themselves from processes like hydrolysis and other forms of energy dissipation, approximately 4.0 billion years ago. Notably, during the early Archaean era, Earth's surface temperatures could have reached scorching levels of 80-100 °C, gradually cooling to 30-50 °C around 3.5 billion vears ago.¹⁰⁹ Therefore, it comes as no surprise that the biochemical machineries that developed during the Paleoarchean eon, alongside the emergence of the first life forms, evolved to incorporate both heat-preserving and heat-dissipating pathways. This scenario brings to the stage the coevolution of the chaperome and energy-controlling systems which stand as a remarkable testament to life's adaptability and resilience in the face of Earth's evershifting thermal challenges.

In contrast to simple prokaryotic organisms, which house thousands of proteins, plants and animals boast an extensive repertoire of hundreds of thousands of proteins. These proteins exhibit greater length, possess multiple functional domains, and encompass a wide array of intricate folds and combinations, interspersed with repeated segments and beta-rich architectures that render them susceptible to misfolding and aggregation.⁴ Interestingly, the relative representation of core chaperones responsible for upholding the fidelity of protein folding in increasingly intricate proteomes underwent minimal change from prokaryotic to mammalian genomes.⁴ This observation is not unexpected, given the pivotal role of protein chaperoning in sustaining cellular vitality. Thus, the optimal evolutionary solution that originated in the LUCA, predating the schism between archaea and bacteria, has persevered largely unaltered since that epoch. Only marginal adaptations have been introduced to accommodate the escalating complexity of proteins over time.

Evidence suggests that the genesis of core chaperones can be traced back to the early diverging prokaryotes, marking the advent of HSP60 as the first core chaperone. HSP60, an ATP-powered unfoldase possessing a cage-like structure, emerged more than 3.6 billion years ago during the Paleoarchean eon, within the era of LUCA. Concurrently, the appearance of HSP20/GroES anti-aggregation chaperones may have occurred in tandem with HSP60 during this epoch. In contrast, the introduction of HSP70, HSP90, and HSP100 into the bacterial domain likely transpired around 3.25 billion years ago. Subsequently, the emergence of chaperones such as HSP110, Bag Hop, and other cochaperones unfolded within the Proterozoic era, around 2 billion years ago, during the era of the last eukaryotic common ancestor, as highlighted by Rebeaud and colleagues⁴ in their recent but seminal paper.

Key milestones in microbial evolution were influenced by critical events, including the extensive glaciation of the late Neoproterozoic Snowball Earth, approximately 750–580 million years ago, and the subsequent oxygenation event of the oceans and atmosphere approximately 630–551 million years ago. These events set the stage for the explosion of complex life forms in the Cambrian, about 540–520 million years ago.¹¹⁰ Particularly noteworthy is the Neoproterozoic oxygenation event (around 600 million years ago), a turning point when metazoans, and subsequently chordates, emerged and faced the imperative necessity to produce protective chaperones against oxidative stress that became pronounced.

In a manner akin to the discussed chaperome, reconstructions suggest a systematic transfer of sequences encoding glycolytic enzymes among diverse organisms. Similar to chaperones, there appears to be limited exchange between bacterial and eukaryotic domains.¹¹¹ Driven by negative selection and subtle enzymatic alterations, significant evolutionary shifts in the function of ADP-dependent sugar kinases conferred vital adaptive advantages, such as enhancing glycolytic efficiency in archaea roughly 3.594 billion years ago.⁵ Apropos, ADP-dependent sugar kinases stand out for their distinctive feature of phosphorylating glucose and fructose-6-phosphate using ADP, instead of ATP as the phosphoryl donor. They appear to represent not the last ancestral forms but rather a transitional link between glucokinase and phosphofructokinase found in modern archaea and higher eukaryotes alike.¹¹²

Glycolytic enzymes, being ubiquitously present, have been instrumental in deciphering evolutionary relationships between organisms. These enzymes serve as suitable evolutionary chronometers, exhibiting a rate of change slow enough to discern broad evolutionary patterns yet swift enough for precise classification of closely related organisms.¹¹³ The phylogenetic divergence of *sugar* kinases and chaperones traces back to their respective common ancestors approximately 3.5 billion years ago.⁵ Beyond their roles in cellular energy production, notably exemplified by hexokinase as the primary enzyme initiating intracellular glucose metabolism, nature seems to have intricately interwoven sugar metabolism and proteostasis protection within a singular molecule: HSP70. Notably, during the elucidation of the three-dimensional structure of the ATPase fragment of HSPA8 (HSC70), Flaherty and colleagues⁶ serendipitously uncovered striking structural (spatial) similarities, particularly in subdomains Ia and IIa of HSC70 (Figure 3), between the chaperone and hexokinase, despite disparities in their amino acid sequences. Furthermore, significant structural resemblances were found with other sugar kinases, including fucokinase, gluconokinase, xylulokinase, ribulokinase, and glycerokinase. These kinases are predicted to share subdomains with a comparable tertiary structure to the ATPase subdomains Ia and IIa of hexokinase (Figure 3), actin, and HSC70, exhibiting a similar ATPbinding pocket and the ability to undergo interdomain hinge motion during functional state transitions.⁷

Importantly, the divergence among sugar kinases, actin, and HSC70 predates the prokaryote-eukaryote divergence, as HSC70 family members are found in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic organisms.⁷ This suspicion is further corroborated by conformational changes occurring within the ATPase domain that facilitate nucleotide-controlled communication with the substratebinding domain of HSP70. Evidence indicates that the nucleotide-binding cleft undergoes opening and closure dynamics during the nucleotide-binding/release cycle of both HSP70 and hexokinase.^{114,115} A pivotal mechanism underlying HSP70 allostery involves the transmission of information from the nucleotide-binding site to the interdomain linker. In the presence of ATP, the linker interacts with the periphery of the IIa β -sheet, establishing a structural connection between the linker and the nucleotide-binding site. Consequently, an allosteric communication pathway is established, facilitating the transmission of signals from the NBD to the substratebinding domain via the interdomain linker.^{116,117}

It is intriguing that a 16 kDa nucleoside diphosphate (NDP) kinase, p16, from the Nm23/NDP kinase family, serves as an accessory protein to HSPA8 (HSC70). This protein can influence HSPA8's oligomeric state and dissociate unfolded proteins from HSPA8 even in the absence of exogenous ATP.¹¹⁸ NDP kinases facilitate the exchange of terminal phosphates between different NDPs and triphosphates in a reversible manner, resulting in the production of nucleotide triphosphates. Interestingly, p16 is also stress-responsive and exhibits higher sensitivity to proteotoxic stress compared to



Fig. 3 Representative structures of HSP70. (a) Nuclear magnetic resonance/residual dipolar couplings/X-ray resolution of the tridimensional structure of prokaryotic HSP70 (*Escherichia coli*'s DnaK) in complex with ADP and a peptide (PDB #2KHO, residues 1-605) showing hexokinase subdomains (Ia and IIa) in the 45 kDa nucleotide-binding domain (NBD). The 30 kDa substrate-binding domain (SBD) is also given. (b) Spatial

disposition of Ia and IIa (hexokinase subdomains of ATPase domain) and Ib and IIb (non-hexokinase subdomains) along with their respective residues on NBD of HSP70. (c) X-ray diffraction-solved structure of human HSP70 (HSPA1A/1B) NBD (PDB # 3AY9) in the ADP-bound conformation. (d) X-ray diffraction-solved structure of human HSP70 (HSPA1A) with unhydrolyzed ATP bound to NBD (PDB #5BPM). The Nterminal sequence (Ile9 - Asp10 - Leu11 - Gly12 - Thr13 -Thr14), which is highly conserved among all HSP70s, is depicted in the dark-blue ribbon. (e) X-ray diffraction-solved structure of bovine HSC70 (HSPA8) in the ADP-bound conformation (PDB #1NGB). Structure files were obtained from RCSB Protein Data Bank (PDB) at https://www.rcsb.org/ structure/.

HSC70 or HSP70 themselves. By converting HSPA8 oligomers into active monomers, p16 appears to regulate HSPA8 activity. Given that ATP/ADP exchange occurs slowly, and no homologs of the Gro-P like protein E NEF have been discovered in the cytoplasm, some substrates may be released very slowly without assistance from accessory proteins. In the presence of p16, however, substrates can be released from HSC70-ADP, and subsequent ATP/ADP exchange transforms HSC70 into a form that is most accessible for substrate binding, as described by Leung and Hightower in 1997.¹¹⁸ Moreover and importantly, phylogenetic analyses of NDP kinases have revealed that these kinases also share a common ancestor in LUCA, as demonstrated.¹¹⁹ This parallels what has been observed with chaperones and sugar kinases. Therefore, it is not unreasonable to consider that an ancestral form of p16 NDP kinase might have played a role in the evolutionary development of early ATP-fueled chaperones, providing an initial link between HSPA8/HSPA1A and energy metabolism. Notably, rat HSC70 proteins expressed in E. coli exhibit significant structural similarities with E. coli DnaK protein,¹²⁰ a much older protein in the Tree of Life. This may suggest that an ancestral ATPase activity may still be present in HSPA8, reinforcing the connection between chaperones and enmetabolism. Considering all the above ergy observations, therefore, it is plausible that the 44 kDa ATPase fragment of present-day HSC70 had evolved from a common ancestor shared with hexokinases and actin. The question of whether HSC70 possesses some kinase activity toward glucose, however, remains a subject of debate, yet it warrants investigation.

In addition to the role of AMPK, which can either downregulate or upregulate the HSR through the GSK- 3β /HSF1 duet, as previously discussed, another pathway involving glucose metabolism, known as the HBP, plays a significant role in HSR regulation. The HBP, which is a nutrient-sensing pathway with intricate ties to energy metabolism and the HSR, extends beyond the role of

GSK-3β in glycogen synthesis.^{15,121,122} Elevated levels of circulating glutamine, as seen during exercise, lead to a notable diversion of fructose-6-phosphate from glycolysis into the HBP through its interaction with glutamine, catalyzed by GFAT (glutamine-fructose-6-phosphate transaminase). This results in the production of glucosamine-6-phosphate. The final metabolite of the HBP, UDP-N-acetylglucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc), exerts a dual effect on the HSR: firstly, by inhibiting GSK-3ß and secondly, by covalently modifying HSF1. This modification involves O-linked N-acetylglucosaminylation, enhancing HSF1's DNA-binding and transcriptional activities regarding heat shock genes. The heightened availability of glutamine stimulates increased flux through the HBP, resulting in elevated HSP70 expression.¹²³ A comparison between parts A and B of Figure 4 illustrates the flux balance analysis of the HBP¹⁵ under two distinct plasma and muscle glutamine concentrations in rats.¹²⁴ Additionally, the intensified flux through the HBP induces a minor redox imbalance, sufficient to upregulate the expression of genes responsible for redox protection, including those involved in the biosynthesis of GSH and glutamine itself.^{15,124,125} De novo GSH synthesis primarily occurs through transcriptional regulation, involving a series of signaling events culminating in the binding of nuclear factor-erythroid 2 p45-related factor 2 to promoter regions containing antioxidant response elements within the nucleus.¹²⁶⁻¹³¹ These findings highlight the intimate interplay between the HSR, energy metabolism, and redox protection (crucial for proteostasis). They also shed light on why glutamine emerges as a potent co-inducer of the HSR, that is, HFS1 must be previously recruited to have its function augmented by HBP. Please see Figure 5 for an integrative overview of caloristasis networks and energy regulation through glucose metabolism.

The HSR has not only evolved at the molecular level but also at the organismal level, forming a close linkage with the sympathetic nervous system (SNS), which serves as the principal physiological sentinel responsible for safeguarding homeostasis against all forms of external threats. As expected, the activation of the SNS in situations such as starvation, physical exercise (fight-orflight stress), and even heat therapy itself^{11,132} can elicit a potent and sustained HSR.⁵⁸ Indeed, the intricate connections among glucose levels, energy sensing, the HSR, and sympathetic activity converge within the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH), a central hub orchestrating functions like feeding, fear, thermoregulation, and sexual activity. The VMH also serves as a site for a robust estrogen-induced HSP70 response.^{133,134} Furthermore, norepinephrine can modulate the hypothalamic mechanisms responsible for fever induction,



Fig. 4 Heat shock response interplay with glutamine metabolism via hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP). Depicted are the major routes of glucose utilization after its entry into cells. Soon after passing the hexokinase (HK) bottleneck, phosphorylated glucose may be diverted to glycolysis, glycogen synthesis, or the pentose-phosphate shunt (hexose-monophosphate shunt), in a proportion that depends on the cell type and physiological conditions. The present artwork is a graphic illustration of experimental values obtained from soleus and gastrocnemius muscles of 8-week trained (treadmill) rats treated or not with L-glutamine supplementations during the last 21 days.¹²⁴ Under L-glutamine supplementations, excess intramuscular L-glutamine supply enforces fructose-6-phosphate (F6P) to divert from glycolysis and enter the *HBP* (shaded box in the center) thus changing the heat shock response and antioxidant metabolism. The thicknesses of the arrows indicate the approximate proportion of each metabolite entering each given sub-pathway (parentheses). Data are given in μ mol min⁻¹ mg protein⁻¹. ARE, antioxidant response elements; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor 1.

Reused from: Physiological regulation of the heat shock response by glutamine: implications for chronic low-grade inflammatory diseases in age-related conditions. *Nutrire*. 2016;41:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41110-016-0021-y. Under the open access Creative Common CC BY license 4.0.

an HSR stimulator, particularly in the preoptic area of the hypothalamus.¹³⁵ It is noteworthy that acute hypoglycemia (metabolic stress) triggers the release of extracellular HSP72 and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6.¹³⁶ Contrarily, glucose ingestion inhibits exercise-induced eHSP70 secretion¹³⁷ and abolishes the

counterregulatory responses prompted by hypoglycemia via the SNS.¹³⁸ This modulation is reliant on the neuronal circuitry of VMH.¹³⁹

While HSPA/HSP70 chaperones are abundant and extensively studied as a major work-force of core chaperones, HSPC/HSP90 plays a crucial role in the



Fig. 5 Extended perspective on the heat shock response within the context of caloristasis. An illustration of potential alterations in glucose metabolism, diverging from the typical predominance of cytosolic glycolysis, is given. These deviations can lead glucose metabolism towards two critical pathways: the pentose-phosphate shunt, involved in lipid synthesis and antioxidant metabolism, or the hexosamine biochemical pathway, which modulates glycogen synthase- 3β and, consequently, impacts HSF1 activity and the regulation of the heat shock response itself. The pivotal role of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in this process is highlighted. HSP70, the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor 1; HuR, human antigen R, a.k.a. ELAV-1, for embryonic lethal, abnormal vision, Drosophila, homolog-like protein-1; SIRT1, NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase sirtuin-1; UPR, unfolded protein response.

cardiovascular system by binding to key proteins involved in vascular relaxation, such as endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS/NOS3) and soluble guanylate cyclase.¹⁴⁰ Moreover, nitric oxide generated in blood vessels by eNOS serves as a potent inducer of HSP70 synthesis. This induction occurs because nitric oxide induces slight oxidative stress, activating HSF1 via disulfide bond formation.^{11,70} Besides this, HSPC/HSP90 also chaperones essential proteins related to animal reproduction, including glucocorticoid receptor, progesterone receptor, estrogen receptor, androgen receptor, mineralocorticoid receptor, and HSF1 itself.^{85,141}

The interplay between reproduction, HSR, and energy control goes beyond and reveals how evolution brought together physiological functions that depend on energy perception and the HSR. Accordingly, a primary clue to this understanding comes from the interactions between steroid hormone receptors and HSPC/HSP90, which are instrumental in guiding steroid hormones to their specific target promoters. However, further away from their role as regulators of steroid hormone receptors, steroid hormones themselves play a pivotal role in governing a critical facet of the HSR that pertains to reproduction in mammals and birds. As reviewed by Miragem and Homem de Bittencourt,¹¹ E2 not only influences the function of steroid hormone receptors but also initiates HSR in hypothalamic neurons responsible for producing gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH). In this context, GnRH neurons release GnRH into the median eminence, a process that triggers the secretion of luteinizing hormone by the pituitary gland and, consequently, induces ovulation/estrus. However, for the secretion of GnRH to occur, GnRH neurons depend on input from kisspeptin-neurokinin Bdynorphin (KNDy) neurons located in the infundibular nucleus (arcuate nucleus in other mammals). KNDy neurons, which dictate the rhythm and intensity of pulsatile GnRH secretion, are responsive to various factors, including temperature, prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) during immune responses, energy reserves signaled by adipokines, and the overall metabolic status as conveyed by the VMH through medial preoptic and median preoptic nuclei of the hypothalamus. Lastly, VMH serves as the trigger for activating SNS efferences in response to perceived threats to homeostasis. These inputs collectively regulate the pulsatile secretion of GnRH, ultimately leading to ovulation/estrus and heightened E2 production. Furthermore, E2, in turn, acts as a potent inducer of HSP70 expression in various regions of the hypothalamus that are involved in both reproduction and energy sensing. Please refer to Figure 2 for a schematic representation of the role of E2 within the HSR.

The influence of environmental signals on reproduction involving the HSR extends beyond humans and mammals. In the avian realm, for instance, gonadotropin (follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone) synthesis and release are stimulated by GnRH, as observed in breeding birds.¹⁴² Seasonal breeding avian species further showcase the intricate interplay between environmental factors such as light, temperature, food availability, and mate presence, all meticulously integrated by HSReliciting KNDy neurons to regulate reproduction, by modulating the release of gonadotropins from the pituitary gland.¹¹ A practical example of this connection can be witnessed in poultry farming: anyone who raises chickens knows that, when the weather gets excessively hot (surplus energy) or cold (scarce energy availability), or when the chicken is too fat (excess energy storages) or too lean (low energy reserves), egg production takes a significant hit. Seasonal breeders like sheep exhibit reproductive quiescence during the spring and early summer months (hotter weather). The measurement of circannual time crucially relies on photoperiod changes, with the pineal gland assuming a pivotal role by secreting melatonin during the night. This translates environmental cues into physiological signals that find integration at the level of HSR-elaborating KNDy neurons.¹⁴³ In essence, the E2sensitive KNDy neurons not only serve as conduits for integrating environmental energy signals into the territory of reproduction but also play a dual role by triggering the HSR, a cellular mechanism providing anti-inflammatory and proteostasis-saving functions. This allows for E2mediated protection against neurodegenerative diseases during the reproductive phase of vertebrates. Therefore, animal reproduction and neuroprotection are dependent on energy sensing that triggers the cytoprotective HSR.

For quite some time, it has been established that heat plays a pivotal role in shaping various metabolic adaptations. For instance, in cold-acclimated trout exposed to temperatures as low as 4 °C, there is a redirection of glucose utilization. This shift leads to an enhancement in the rate of fat synthesis and promotes a more efficient energy production system, particularly through fat oxidation, as part of the organismal response to cold compensation.¹⁴⁴ Furthermore, evolution has masterminded adjustments within biochemical systems to ensure the preservation of fundamental structures and processes across diverse organisms, irrespective of their environmental milieu.¹⁴⁵

Much like the arguments in the *Introduction* section regarding the stenothermal Antarctic fish Emerald
rockcod,⁴⁴ stenothermal Antarctic notothenioid fish populations exhibit deficiencies in their capacity for temperature-induced gene expression, notably the absence of a genuine HSR. These limitations may impair their ability to acclimate to elevated temperatures, with these animals remaining unable to acclimate to temperatures exceeding approximately 4 °C. Curiously, full HSR is observed in temperate New Zealand notothenioids, suggesting that the evolutionary adaptation to cold and stable thermal conditions has depleted the genetic resources of Antarctic fishes.¹⁴⁶ Conversely, the preservation of a robust HSR equips exotic invader species with the means to acclimate to new environments and potentially outperform their native counterparts in metabolic adaptations.¹⁴⁷

In light of the broader insights into the evolution of the chaperome and sugar kinases, a remarkable convergence emerges-both in the context of heat exchange between environmental factors and molecular entities, and subsequently, between the environment and cellular systems responsible for energy production and protection against proteotoxic stresses. This convergence becomes especially pronounced upon considering that AMPK, the central regulator of cellular energy sensing, features a glycogen-binding domain on its β regulatory subunit,¹⁴⁸ endowing it with the capacity to function as a glycogen sensor. Remarkably, it is of note that glucose can downregulate AMPK through protein phosphatase 2A, a phenomenon observed in various contexts, including rodent islets, β -cell strains,¹⁴⁹ and yeast.¹⁵⁰ This underscores the complexity of cellular responses to metabolic stress, which may hinge upon the intricate proteostasis of the cells. When cells confront another type of metabolic stress, suboptimal oxygen conditions, not only does total ATP turnover significantly decrease, but each ATP-consuming process experiences distinct impacts. In essence, only vital processes, such as the sodium/potassium pump necessary for maintaining membrane potential and cell volume, assume prominence as the primary energy sinks in the energy-restricted state.¹⁵¹ Similarly, in the context of hyperbaric oxygen therapy, as demonstrated in an elegant set of experiments by Tezgin and co-workers, application of high partial pressure of oxygen redirects mitochondrial metabolism towards cytosolic glycolysis, that is, the Warburg effect also known as aerobic glycolysis,¹⁵² serving as a means to maintain proteostasis without necessitating the activation of a conventional HSR.²⁴ Similarly and notably, nutrient deprivation induces the generation of proteotoxic ROS alongside AMPK-dependent phosphorylation of pyruvate kinase.¹⁵³ This phosphorylation inhibits pyruvate production,

forcing cells to rely solely on cytosolic glycolysis, ultimately resulting in the Warburg effect, where lactate accumulates. Consequently, it is reasonable to anticipate that evolution has minimized the ATP-consuming chaperone machinery in such states, thereby justifying the discussed caloristatic control switch (Figure 1).

Conclusion

In the grand tapestry of cellular life, the evolution of the HSR and the emergence of sugar kinases appear as two threads, interwoven over billions of years, each influencing the other in a dance of molecular intricacy. Just as nature crafts a mosaic of elements into a harmonious whole, the HSR, originally designed to combat proteotoxic challenges, now stands as a sentinel guarding the sanctity of cellular energy metabolism. Actually, the HSR is a story of sentinels; sentinels of homeostasis. Professor Ferruccio Ritossa's pioneering insights revealed that the HSR, like a sentinel, senses not only the denaturing fires of heat but also the flickering uncertainties of energy paucity, working as a sentinel ready to rise in defense against both. This revelation, echoing through the annals of scientific discovery, aligns the HSR as a guardian of cellular homeostasis, a shield against the chaos that threatens proteostasis and metabolic equilibrium.

As we trace the evolutionary footprints left by the LUCA, a disclosure emerges—the origins of the proteostasis-defending systems coincide with the nascent steps of sugar kinases, as if destiny bound them together in the crucible of time. The NBD of HSP70, the main work-power of the protein chaperone machinery, bears subdomains akin to those found in sugar kinases, a testament to the ancient partnership between protein folding and energy production.

Beyond the realm of molecular intricacies, the HSR extends its embrace to the wider landscape of cellular life, integrating energy metabolism and the resolution of inflammation. In a delicate choreography, AMPK, the sentinel of energy scarcity, assumes the mantle of a maestro, orchestrating a symphony of responses that can vary from energy-saving, proteostasis-protecting or resolution of inflammation. Meanwhile, SIRT1, awakened by the whispers of calorie restriction, joins the orchestra, amplifying the HSR's melody. This interplay extends beyond chaperones, shaping the destiny of energy metabolism genes themselves. As glucose-regulated chaperones harmonize their tune with the HSR, the HBP adds its notes to the score, guiding GSK-3 β to

silence and HSF1 to rise. Yet, within this symphony, paradoxes arise, akin to a melody that shifts unexpectedly. AMPK, usually an ally in the HSR's antiinflammatory cause, becomes an enigmatic muse, impeding the nuclear journey of HuR, the stabilizer of SIRT1 mRNA. This paradoxical dance reveals the nuanced equilibrium of cellular stress responses, a dance governed by the dual maestros, AMPK and HSF1, creating a new composition—caloristasis, a delicate thermodynamic balance between energy homeostasis and proteostasis, woven with precision.

In this intricate mosaic, our goal was to shed light on the interplay between the HSR as a guardian of proteostasis and the pathways dictating energy metabolism. The caloristatic controlling switch, summarized in Figure 1, and in an extended view in Figures 2 and 5, may hold the key to unraveling the mysteries of obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases, reproductive abnormalities, as well as pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions including the artistry of well-structured exercise routines. Like a maestro conducting an orchestra, we stand on the precipice of discovery, ready to uncover the hidden harmonies that govern life's symphony.

Funding and support This work has been supported by The State of Rio Grande do Sul Foundation for Research Support (FAPERGS/Decit/SCTIE/MS/CNPq/SESRS n. 03/2017-PPSUS #17/2551-0001424-3 to MSK and #19/2551-0001713-8 to PIHBJ) and The Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq, process #303853/2017-4 to PIHBJ, process #307926/2022-2 to TGH and process # 302959/2020-3 to MSK). Financial support from CAPES (Coordination of Superior Level Staff Improvement) is also acknowledged.

Author contribution PIHBJ conceptualized the paper, authored the initial draft, and oversaw its finalization. All the authors were involved in co-writing this work. PIHBJ prepared the figures. All the authors have read and agreed to the submitted and published versions of the manuscript.

Data availability statement Data will be made available on request.

Declarations of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest and no competing interests such as consultancies, financial involvement, patent ownership, etc. in relation to the work described. CNPq, FAPERGS, and CAPES (the funding organisms) had no involvement in the propositions presented in this manuscript.

Acknowledgments The authors are indebted to Dr Maria Inês Lavina Rodrigues for her invaluable technical support during the experiments that support many of the findings described herein. We apologize for not including many important primary studies in our text due to space constraints. Our goal was to ensure a smooth flow of information throughout the text.

References

- Ritossa F. A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in Drosophila. *Experientia*. 1962;18: 571–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02172188
- Ritossa F. New puffs induced by temperature shock DNP and salicylate in salivary chromosomes of *D. melan*ogaster. Drosoph Info Serv. 1963;37:122–123.
- Ritossa FM. Experimental activation of specific loci in polytene chromosomes of drosophila. *Exp Cell Res.* 1964;35:601–607. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(64) 90147-8
- Rebeaud ME, Mallik S, Goloubinoff P, Tawfik DS. On the evolution of chaperones and cochaperones and the expansion of proteomes across the Tree of Life. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2021;118:e2020885118. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.2020885118
- Castro-Fernandez V, Herrera-Morande A, Zamora R, et al. Reconstructed ancestral enzymes reveal that negative selection drove the evolution of substrate specificity in ADPdependent kinases. J Biol Chem. 2017;292:21218. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.AAC117.001147. Erratum for: J Biol Chem. 2017;292:15598–15610.
- Flaherty KM, DeLuca-Flaherty C, McKay DB. Three-dimensional structure of the ATPase fragment of a 70K heatshock cognate protein. *Nature*. 1990;346:623–628. https:// doi.org/10.1038/346623a0
- Bork P, Sander C, Valencia A. An ATPase domain common to prokaryotic cell cycle proteins, sugar kinases, actin, and hsp70 heat shock proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89:7290–7294. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.16.7290
- Newsholme P, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. The fat cell senescence hypothesis: a mechanism responsible for abrogating the resolution of inflammation in chronic disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* 2014;17:295–305. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000077
- 9. Hooper PL, Hooper PL. Inflammation, heat shock proteins, and type 2 diabetes. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2009;14: 113–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0073-x
- Hooper PL, Balogh G, Rivas E, Kavanagh K, Vigh L. The importance of the cellular stress response in the pathogenesis and treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2014;19:447–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-014-0493-8
- Miragem AA, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Nitric oxide-heat shock protein axis in menopausal hot flushes: neglected metabolic issues of chronic inflammatory diseases associated with deranged heat shock response. *Hum Reprod.* 2017;23:600–628. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmx020
- Raynes R, Leckey Jr BD, Nguyen K, Westerheide SD. Heat shock and caloric restriction have a synergistic effect on the heat shock response in a sir2. 1-dependent manner in *Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem.* 2012;287:29045–29053. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.353714
- Kovács D, Sigmond T, Hotzi B, et al. HSF1Base: a comprehensive database of HSF1 (heat shock factor 1) target genes. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019;20:5815. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20225815
- Kovács D, Sigmond T, Hotzi B, Bohár B, Fazekas D, Deák V, Vellai T, Barna J (2020). HSF1Base: A Comprehensive Database of HSF1 (Heat Shock Factor 1) Target Genes. https://hsf1base.org/. Accessed 27 Jan 2023.
- Leite JSM, Cruzat VF, Krause MS, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Physiological regulation of the heat shock response by glutamine: implications for chronic low-grade inflammatory diseases in age-related conditions. *Nutrire*. 2016;41:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41110-016-0021-y

- 16. Wang W, Fan J, Yang X, et al. AMP-activated kinase regulates cytoplasmic HuR. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2002;22:3425–3436. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.22.10.3425-3436.2002
- Wang W, Yang X, López de Silanes I, Carling D, Gorospe M. Increased AMP:ATP ratio and AMP-activated protein kinase activity during cellular senescence linked to reduced HuR function. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:27016–27023. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M300318200
- Wang W, Yang X, Kawai T, et al. AMP-activated protein kinase-regulated phosphorylation and acetylation of importin alpha1: involvement in the nuclear import of RNAbinding protein HuR. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:48376–48388. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M409014200
- Dai S, Tang Z, Cao J, et al. Suppression of the HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress response by the metabolic stress sensor AMPK. *EMBO J.* 2015;34:275–293. https://doi.org/10. 15252/embj.201489062
- Dai C. The heat-shock, or HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress, response in cancer: from proteomic stability to oncogenesis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2018;373:20160525. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0525
- Su KH, Dai S, Tang Z, Xu M, Dai C. Heat shock factor 1 is a direct antagonist of AMP-activated protein kinase. e8 *Mol Cell*. 2019;76:546–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2019.08.021
- 22. Wang T, Yu Q, Chen J, Deng B, Qian L, Le Y. PP2A mediated AMPK inhibition promotes HSP70 expression in heat shock response. *PLoS One*. 2010;5:e13096. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013096
- Swan CL, Sistonen L. Cellular stress response cross talk maintains protein and energy homeostasis. *EMBO J.* 2015;34:267–269. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201490757
- 24. Tezgin D, Giardina C, Perdrizet GA, Hightower LE. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen on mitochondrial and glycolytic energy metabolism: the caloristasis concept. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2020;25:667–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-020-01100-5
- Zykova TY, Levitsky VG, Belyaeva ES, Zhimulev IF. Polytene chromosomes - a portrait of functional organization of the Drosophila genome. *Curr Genomics*. 2018;19:179–191. https:// doi.org/10.2174/1389202918666171016123830
- Ritossa F. Discovery of the heat shock response. *Cell Stress* Chaperones. 1996;1:97–98. https://doi.org/10.1379/1466-1268(1996)001<0097:dothsr>2.3.co;2
- Brenner S, Jacob F, Meselson M. An unstable intermediate carrying information from genes to ribosomes for protein synthesis. *Nature*. 1961;190:576–581. https://doi.org/10. 1038/190576a0
- Ashburner M. Patterns of puffing activity in the salivary gland chromosomes of Drosophila. I. Autosomal puffing patterns in a laboratory stock of Drosophila melanogaster. *Chromosoma.* 1967;21:398–428. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00336950
- Ashburner M, Lemeunier F. Patterns of puffing activity in the salivary gland chromosomes of Drosophila. VII. Homology of puffing patterns on chromosome arm 3L in D. melanogaster and D. yakuba, with notes on puffing in D. teissieri. Chromosoma. 197;238:283–295. https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF00290926.
- Ashburner M. Puffing patterns in Drosophila melanogaster and related species. Results Probl Cell Differ. 1972;4:101–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-37164-9_5
- Tissières A, Mitchell HK, Tracy UM. Protein synthesis in salivary glands of *Drosophila melanogaster*: relation to chromosome puffs. *J Mol Biol*. 1974;84:389–398. https://doi. org/10.1016/0022-2836(74)90447-1

- 32. Lewis M, Helmsing PJ, Ashburner M. Parallel changes in puffing activity and patterns of protein synthesis in salivary glands of Drosophila. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1975;72:3604–3608. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.72.9.3604
- 33. McKenzie SL, Henikoff S, Meselson M. Localization of RNA from heat-induced polysomes at puff sites in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1975;72:1117–1121. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.72.3.1117
- McKenzie SL, Meselson M. Translation in vitro of Drosophila heat-shock messages. J Mol Biol. 1977;117: 279–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(77)90035-3
- 35. Lindquist S. Varying patterns of protein synthesis in Drosophila during heat shock: implications for regulation. *Dev Biol.* 1980;77:463–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(80)90488-1
- Lindquist S. Regulation of protein synthesis during heat shock. *Nature*. 1981;293:311–314. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 293311a0
- 37. Mirault ME, Goldschmidt-Clermont M, Moran L, Arrigo AP, Tissières A. The effect of heat shock on gene expression in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol.* 1978;42:819–827. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.1978.042. 01.082
- Ashburner M, Bonner JJ. The induction of gene activity in Drosophilia by heat shock. *Cell*. 1979;17:241–254. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(79)90150-
- 39. Hopkins N. The 2008 Genetics Society of America Medal. Susan Lindquist. *Genetics*. 2008;178:1125–1128. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.104.017834
- 40. Craig EA. The heat shock response. *CRC Crit Rev Biochem*. 1985;18:239–280. https://doi.org/10.3109/10409238509085135
- 41. Lindquist S. The heat-shock response. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 1986;55:1151–1191. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bi.55. 070186.005443
- 42. Lindquist S, Craig EA. The heat-shock proteins. *Annu Rev Genet.* 1988;22:631–677. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ge. 22.120188.003215
- Hunt C, Morimoto RI. Conserved features of eukaryotic hsp70 genes revealed by comparison with the nucleotide sequence of human hsp70. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1985;82:6455–6459. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.82.19.6455
- 44. Hofmann GE, Buckley BA, Airaksinen S, Keen JE, Somero GN. Heat-shock protein expression is absent in the Antarctic fish *Trematomus bernacchii* (family Nototheniidae). J Exp Biol. 2000;203:2331–2339. https://doi. org/10.1242/jeb.203.15.2331
- 45. Bosch TC, Krylow SM, Bode HR, Steele RE. Thermotolerance and synthesis of heat shock proteins: these responses are present in *Hydra attenuata* but absent in *Hydra oligactis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1988;85: 7927–7931. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.85.21.7927
- Storey JM, Storey KB. Chaperone proteins: universal roles in surviving environmental stress. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2023;28:455–466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-022-01312-x
- 47. Wu B, Hunt C, Morimoto R. Structure and expression of the human gene encoding major heat shock protein HSP70. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1985;5:330–341. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.5.2. 330-341.1985
- Hightower LE. Heat shock, stress proteins, chaperones, and proteotoxicity. *Cell.* 1991;66:191–197. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0092-8674(91)90611-2
- Kampinga HH, Hageman J, Vos MJ, et al. Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2009;14:105–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12192-008-0068-7

- Ananthan J, Goldberg AL, Voellmy R. Abnormal proteins serve as eukaryotic stress signals and trigger the activation of heat shock genes. *Science*. 1986;232:522–524. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.3083508
- Anfinsen CB. Principles that govern the folding of protein chains. *Science*. 1973;181:223–230. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.181.4096.223
- Kampinga HH. Chaperones in preventing protein denaturation in living cells and protecting against cellular stress. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* 2006;172:1–42. https://doi.org/10. 1007/3-540-29717-0_1
- Morán Luengo T, Mayer MP, Rüdiger SGD. The Hsp70-Hsp90 chaperone cascade in protein folding. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2019;29:164–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2018.10. 004
- Morán Luengo T, Kityk R, Mayer MP, Rüdiger SGD. Hsp90 breaks the deadlock of the Hsp70 chaperone system. e9 *Mol Cell*. 2018;70:545–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018. 03.028
- Laufen T, Mayer MP, Beisel C, et al. Mechanism of regulation of hsp70 chaperones by DnaJ cochaperones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999;96:5452–5457. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.96.10.5452
- Rosenzweig R, Nillegoda NB, Mayer MP, Bukau B. The Hsp70 chaperone network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2019;20:665–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0133-3
- 57. Rohland L, Kityk R, Smalinskaitė L, Mayer MP. Conformational dynamics of the Hsp70 chaperone throughout key steps of its ATPase cycle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 2022;119:e2123238119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 2123238119
- Schroeder HT, De Lemos Muller CH, Heck TG, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Heat shock response during the resolution of inflammation and its progressive suppression in chronic-degenerative inflammatory diseases. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2024;29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cstres.2024.01.002
- Zuiderweg ER, Hightower LE, Gestwicki JE. The remarkable multivalency of the Hsp70 chaperones. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2017;22:173–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12192-017-0776-y
- 60. De Maio A, Santoro MG, Tanguay RM, Hightower LE. Ferruccio Ritossa's scientific legacy 50 years after his discovery of the heat shock response: a new view of biology, a new society, and a new journal. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2012;17:139–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-012-0320-z
- Laskey RA, Honda BM, Mills AD, Finch JT. Nucleosomes are assembled by an acidic protein which binds histones and transfers them to DNA. *Nature*. 1978;275:416–420. https:// doi.org/10.1038/275416a0
- 62. Marszalek J, De Los Rio P, Cyr D, et al. J-Domain Proteins: from molecular mechanisms to diseases. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2024;29:21–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres. 2023.12.002
- Hageman J, Kampinga HH. Computational analysis of the human HSPH/HSPA/DNAJ family and cloning of a human HSPH/HSPA/DNAJ expression library. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2009;14:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0060-2
- Kampinga HH, Craig EA. The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2010:579–592. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2941
- 65. Daugaard M, Rohde M, Jäättelä M. The heat shock protein 70 family: highly homologous proteins with overlapping and

distinct functions. FEBS Lett. 2007;581:3702–3710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.05.039

- Noonan EJ, Place RF, Giardina C, Hightower LE. Hsp70B' regulation and function. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2007;12:393–402. https://doi.org/10.1379/csc-278e.1
- Park KW, Eun Kim G, Morales R, et al. The endoplasmic reticulum chaperone GRP78/BiP modulates prion propagation in vitro and in vivo. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7:44723. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep44723
- Tiwary S, Nandwani A, Khan R, Datta M. GRP75 mediates endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria coupling during palmitate-induced pancreatic β-cell apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2021;297:101368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.101368
- 69. Garrido C, Gurbuxani S, Ravagnan L, Kroemer G. Heat shock proteins: endogenous modulators of apoptotic cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2001;286:433–442. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2001.5427
- Anckar J, Sistonen L. Regulation of HSF1 function in the heat stress response: implications in aging and disease. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 2011;80:1089–1115. https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev-biochem-060809-095203
- Gomez-Pastor R, Burchfiel ET, Thiele DJ. Regulation of heat shock transcription factors and their roles in physiology and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2018;19:4–19. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrm.2017.73
- Multhoff G, Botzler C, Wiesnet M, et al. A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. *Int J Cancer*. 1995;61:272–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc. 2910610222
- Akerfelt M, Morimoto RI, Sistonen L. Heat shock factors: integrators of cell stress, development and lifespan. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2010;11:545–555. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm2938
- 74. Sakurai H, Enoki Y. Novel aspects of heat shock factors: DNA recognition, chromatin modulation and gene expression. *FEBS J.* 2010;277:4140–4149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1742-4658.2010.07829.x
- Himanen SV, Puustinen MC, Da Silva AJ, Vihervaara A, Sistonen L. HSFs drive transcription of distinct genes and enhancers during oxidative stress and heat shock. *Nucleic* Acids Res. 2022;50:6102–6115. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkac493
- 76. Rossi A, Coccia M, Trotta E, Angelini M, Santoro MG. Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression by heat: a novel aspect of heat shock factor 1 function in human cells. *PLoS One*. 2012;7:e31304. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0031304
- Barutc AR, Frit AJ, McCor RP, Nick JA, Asla M. Heat shock factor 5 establishes the male germ-line meiotic sex chromosome inactivation through regulation of Smarca4. *Heliyon*. 2023;9:e15194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e15194
- Zhao P, Javed S, Shi X, et al. Varying architecture of heat shock elements contributes to distinct magnitudes of target gene expression and diverged biological pathways in heat stress response of bread wheat. *Front Genet.* 2020;11:30. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2020.00030
- 79. Santoro N, Johansson N, Thiele DJ. Heat shock element architecture is an important determinant in the temperature and transactivation domain requirements for heat shock transcription factor. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1998;18:6340–6352. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.18.11.6340
- 80. Astakhova LN, Zatsepina OG, Funikov SY, et al. Activity of heat shock genes' promoters in thermally contrasting

animal species. *PLoS One.* 2015;10:e0115536. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115536

- Vihervaara A, Sistonen L. HSF1 at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2014;127:261–266. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.132605
- Guertin MJ, Lis JT. Chromatin landscape dictates HSF binding to target DNA elements. *PLoS Genet*. 2010;6: e1001114. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1001114
- Schmauder L, Sima S, Hadj AB, Cesar R, Richter K. Binding of the HSF-1 DNA-binding domain to multimeric *C. elegans* consensus HSEs is guided by cooperative interactions. *Sci Rep.* 2022;12:8984. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-12736-x
- Dayalan Naidu S, Dinkova-Kostova AT. Regulation of the mammalian heat shock factor 1. *FEBS J.* 2017;284: 1606–1627. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13999
- Zou J, Guo Y, Guettouche T, Smith DF, Voellmy R. Repression of heat shock transcription factor HSF1 activation by HSP90 (HSP90 complex) that forms a stress-sensitive complex with HSF1. *Cell*. 1998;94:471–480. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81588-3
- Miles J, Townend S, Milonaitytė D, et al. Transcellular chaperone signaling is an intercellular stress-response distinct from the HSF-1-mediated heat shock response. *PLoS Biol.* 2023;21:e3001605. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pbio.3001605
- Tukaj S, Węgrzyn G. Anti-Hsp90 therapy in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases: a review of preclinical studies. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2016;21:213–218. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12192-016-0670-z
- Budzyński MA, Puustinen MC, Joutsen J, Sistonen L. Uncoupling stress-inducible phosphorylation of heat shock factor 1 from its activation. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2015;35: 2530–2540. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00816-14
- Morimoto RI. Cell-nonautonomous regulation of proteostasis in aging and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2020;12:a034074. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect. a034074
- Miller HA, Dean ES, Pletcher SD, Leiser SF. Cell non-autonomous regulation of health and longevity. *Elife*. 2020;9:e62659. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.62659
- Mayer MP, Gierasch LM. Recent advances in the structural and mechanistic aspects of Hsp70 molecular chaperones. J Biol Chem. 2019;294:2085–2097. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. REV118.002810.Erratum in: J Biol Chem. 2020, 295:288.
- Hu C, Yang J, Qi Z, et al. Heat shock proteins: biological functions, pathological roles, and therapeutic opportunities. *MedComm.* 2022;2020:e161. https://doi.org/10.1002/mco2. 161
- Sučec I, Bersch B, Schanda P. How do chaperones bind (partly) unfolded client proteins? *Front Mol Biosci.* 2021;8:762005. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.762005
- 94. Edkins AL. CHIP: a co-chaperone for degradation by the proteasome. Subcell Biochem. 2015;78:219–242. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-11731-7_11
- Nishikawa M, Takemoto S, Takakura Y. Heat shock protein derivatives for delivery of antigens to antigen presenting cells. *Int J Pharm.* 2008;354:23–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2007.09.030
- 96. Bakthisaran R, Tangirala R, Rao ChM. Small heat shock proteins: role in cellular functions and pathology. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2015;1854:291–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbapap.2014.12.019
- Santoro MG, Amici C, Rossi A. Role of heat shock proteins in viral infection. In: Graham Pockley A, Calderwood SK, Santoro MG, eds. Berlin: Springer; 2009:51–84. https://doi.

org/10.1007/978-90-481-2976-8_3. Prokaryotic and Eukaryotic Heat Shock Proteins in Infectious Disease; 4

- 98. Chaudhary P, Khan SZ, Rawat P, et al. HSP70 binding protein 1 (HspBP1) suppresses HIV-1 replication by inhibiting NF-κB mediated activation of viral gene expression. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2016;44:1613–1629. https://doi.org/10. 1093/nar/gkv1151
- 99. Rossi A, Elia G, Santoro MG. Inhibition of nuclear factor κB by prostaglandin A1: an effect associated with heat shock transcription factor activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94:746–750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.2.746
- 100. Rossi A, Kapahi P, Natoli G, et al. Anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins are direct inhibitors of IκB kinase. *Nature*. 2000;403:103–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 47520
- 101. Piippo N, Korhonen E, Hytti M, et al. Hsp90 inhibition as a means to inhibit activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8:6720. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25123-2
- 102. Heck TG, Ludwig MS, Frizzo MN, Rasia-Filho AA, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Suppressed anti-inflammatory heat shock response in high-risk COVID-19 patients: lessons from basic research (inclusive bats), light on conceivable therapies. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2020;134:1991–2017. https://doi.org/10. 1042/CS20200596
- 103. Sevin M, Girodon F, Garrido C, De Thonel A. HSP90 and HSP70: implication in inflammation processes and therapeutic approaches for myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015;2015:970242. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2015/970242
- 104. Sumi MP, Ghosh A. Hsp90 in human diseases: molecular mechanisms to therapeutic approaches. *Cells.* 2022;11:976. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11060976
- 105. Velasco L, Dublang L, Moro F, Muga A. The complex phosphorylation patterns that regulate the activity of Hsp70 and its cochaperones. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019;20:4122. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20174122
- 106. Nitika, Porter CM, Truman AW, Truttmann MC. Posttranslational modifications of Hsp70 family proteins: expanding the chaperone code. J Biol Chem. 2020;295: 10689–10708. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.REV120.011666
- 107. Brehme M, Voisine C, Rolland T, et al. A chaperome subnetwork safeguards proteostasis in aging and neurodegenerative disease. *Cell Rep.* 2014;9:1135–1150. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.042
- 108. Yan P, Wang T, Guzman ML, Peter RI, Chiosis G. Chaperome networks - redundancy and implications for cancer treatment. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2020;1243:87–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40204-4_6
- 109. Altermann W. The evolution of life and its impact on sedimentation. In: Altermann W, Corcoran PL, eds. Precambrian Sedimentary Environments: A Modern Approach to Ancient Depositional Systems. New York: Wiley; 2002:15–32. https:// doi.org/10.1002/9781444304312.ch2. Online Library
- 110. Arya PC, Nambaje C, Kiran S, Satish-Kumar M, Sajeev K. Himalayan magnesite records abrupt cyanobacterial growth that plausibly triggered the Neoproterozoic Oxygenation Event. *Precambrian Res.* 2023;395:107129. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.precamres.2023.107129
- Canback B, Andersson SG, Kurland CG. The global phylogeny of glycolytic enzymes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002;99:6097–6102. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.082112499
- 112. Guixé V, Merino F. The ADP-dependent sugar kinase family: kinetic and evolutionary aspects. *IUBMB Life*. 2009;61: 753–761. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.217

- 113. Michels Pam, Opperdoes FR, Hannaert V, Wiemer EAC, Allert S, Chevalier N. Phylogenetic analysis based on glycolytic enzymes. *Belg J Botany*. 1992;125:164–173.http:// www.jstor.org/stable/20794260.
- 114. Rüdiger S, Buchberger A, Bukau B. Interaction of Hsp70 chaperones with substrates. *Nat Struct Biol.* 1997;4:342–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsb0597-342
- 115. Evans CG, Chang L, Gestwicki JE. Heat shock protein 70 (hsp70) as an emerging drug target. J Med Chem. 2010;53:4585–4602. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm100054f
- 116. Zhuravleva A, Gierasch LM. Allosteric signal transmission in the nucleotide-binding domain of 70-kDa heat shock protein (Hsp70) molecular chaperones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 2011;108:6987–6992. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1014448108
- 117. Hendrickson WA. Theory of allosteric regulation in Hsp70 molecular chaperones. QRB Discov. 2020;1:e7. https://doi. org/10.1017/qrd.2020.10
- 118. Leung SM, Hightower LE. A 16-kDa protein functions as a new regulatory protein for Hsc70 molecular chaperone and is identified as a member of the Nm23/nucleoside diphosphate kinase family. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:2607–2614. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.5.2607.Erratum in: J Biol Chem 1997 May 2;272(18):12248.
- 119. Ishikawa N, Shimada N, Takagi Y, Ishijima Y, Fukuda M, Kimura N. Molecular evolution of nucleoside diphosphate kinase genes: conserved core structures and multiple-layered regulatory regions. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 2003;35:7–18. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1023433504713
- 120. Boice JA, Hightower LE. A mutational study of the peptidebinding domain of Hsc70 guided by secondary structure prediction. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:24825–24831. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.272.40.24825
- 121. He B, Meng YH, Mivechi NF. Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and extracellular signal-regulated kinase inactivate heat shock transcription factor 1 by facilitating the disappearance of transcriptionally active granules after heat shock. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1998;18:6624–6633. https://doi.org/10. 1128/MCB.18.11.6624
- 122. Kazemi Z, Chang H, Haserodt S, McKen C, Zachara NE. Olinked beta-N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) regulates stress-induced heat shock protein expression in a GSK-3βdependent manner. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:39096–39107. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.131102
- 123. Hamiel CR, Pinto S, Hau A. Glutamine enhances heat shock protein 70 expression via increased hexosamine biosynthetic pathway activity. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 2009;297: 1509–1519. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00240.2009
- 124. Petry ER, Cruzat VF, Heck TG, Leite JS, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Tirapegui J. Alanyl-glutamine and glutamine plus alanine supplements improve skeletal redox status in trained rats: involvement of heat shock protein pathways. *Life Sci.* 2014;94:130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2013. 11.009
- 125. Jang HJ, Kwak JH, Cho EY, et al. Glutamine induces heatshock protein-70 and glutathione expression and attenuates ischemic damage in rat islets. *Transplant Proc.* 2008;40: 2581–2584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.08. 075
- 126. Krzywanski DM, Dickinson DA, Iles KE, et al. Variable regulation of glutamate cysteine ligase subunit proteins affects glutathione biosynthesis in response to oxidative stress. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 2004;423:116–125. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.abb.2003.11.004

- 127. Kim SJ, Park EA, Lim CJ. Stress-dependent regulation of the gene encoding γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase from the fission yeast. *Mol Biol Rep.* 2004;31:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1023/ b:mole.0000013505.12111.5b
- 128. Dickinson DA, Iles KE, Watanabe N, et al. 4-hydroxynonenal induces glutamate cysteine ligase through JNK in HBE1 cells. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2002;33:974. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0891-5849(02)00991-7
- 129. Dickinson DA, Levonen AL, Moellering DR, et al. Human glutamate cysteine ligase gene regulation through the electrophile response element. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2004;37:1152–1159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.06.011
- 130. Moinova HR, Mulcahy RT. Up-regulation of the human gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase regulatory subunit gene involves binding of Nrf-2 to an electrophile responsive element. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999;261:661–668. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1999.1109
- 131. Zipper LM, Mulcahy RT. Inhibition of ERK and p38 MAP kinases inhibits binding of Nrf2 and induction of GCS genes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;278:484–492. https:// doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.3830
- 132. Krause M, Ludwig MS, Heck TG, Takahashi HK. Heat shock proteins and heat therapy for type 2 diabetes: pros and cons. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* 2015;18:374–380. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000183
- 133. Olazábal UE, Pfaff DW, Mobbs CV. Estrogenic regulation of heat shock protein 90 kDa in the rat ventromedial hypothalamus and uterus. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 1992;84: 175–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/0303-7207(92)90028-5
- 134. Olazábal UE, Pfaff DW, Mobbs CV. Sex differences in the regulation of heat shock protein 70 kDa and 90 kDa in the rat ventromedial hypothalamus by estrogen. *Brain Res.* 1992;596:311–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92) 91563-t
- Nakamura K. Central circuitries for body temperature regulation and fever. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2011;301:R1207–R1228. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu. 00109.2011
- 136. Ludwig MS, Minguetti-Câmara VC, Heck TG, et al. Shortterm but not long-term hypoglycaemia enhances plasma levels and hepatic expression of HSP72 in insulin-treated rats: an effect associated with increased IL-6 levels but not with IL-10 or TNFα. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2014;397:97–107. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11010-014-2176-2
- 137. Febbraio MA, Mesa JL, Chung J, et al. Glucose ingestion attenuates the exercise-induced increase in circulating heat shock protein 72 and heat shock protein 60 in humans. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2004;9:390–396. https://doi.org/10.1379/ csc-24r1.1
- 138. Sprague JE, Arbeláez AM. Glucose counterregulatory responses to hypoglycemia. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* 2011;9:463–473.
- Garfield AS, Shah BP, Madara JC, et al. A parabrachial-hypothalamic cholecystokinin neurocircuit controls counterregulatory responses to hypoglycemia. *Cell Metab.* 2014;20: 1030–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2014.11.006
- 140. Antonova G, Lichtenbeld H, Xia T, Chatterjee A, Dimitropoulou C, Catravas JD. Functional significance of hsp90 complexes with NOS and sGC in endothelial cells. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc.* 2007;37:19–35.
- 141. Pratt WB. The hsp90-based chaperone system: involvement in signal transduction from a variety of hormone and growth factor receptors. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* 1998;217:420–434. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-217-44252

- 142. Ubuka T, Bentley GE, Tsutsui K. Neuroendocrine regulation of gonadotropin secretion in seasonally breeding birds. Front Neurosci. 2013;7:38. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00038
- 143. Clarke IJ, Smith JT, Caraty A, Goodman RL, Lehman MN. Kisspeptin and seasonality in sheep. *Peptides*. 2009;30: 154–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2008.08.022
- 144. Hochachka PW, Hayes FR. The effect of temperature acclimation on pathways of glucose metabolism in the trout. *Can J Zool.* 1962;40:261–270.
- 145. Hochachka PW, Somero GN. *Biochemical Adaptation: Mechanism and Process in Physiological Evolution.* New York: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- 146. Somero GN. Linking biogeography to physiology: evolutionary and acclimatory adjustments of thermal limits. *Front Zool.* 2005;2:1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-2-1
- 147. Kelley A. The role thermal physiology plays in species invasion. Conserv Physiol 2:cou045. 2014. https://doi.org/10. 1093/conphys/cou045
- 148. McBride A, Ghilagaber S, Nikolaev A, Hardie DG. The glycogen-binding domain on the AMPK beta subunit allows the kinase to act as a glycogen sensor. *Cell Metab.* 2009;9:23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.11.008
- 149. Arora DK, Machhadieh B, Matti A, Wadzinski BE, Ramanadham S, Kowluru A. High glucose exposure

promotes activation of protein phosphatase 2A in rodent islets and INS-1 832/13 β -cells by increasing the posttranslational carboxylmethylation of its catalytic subunit. Endocrinology 2014;155:380-391. https://doi.org/10.1210/en. 2013-1773.

- 150. Gimeno-Alcañiz JV, Sanz P. Glucose and type 2A protein phosphatase regulate the interaction between catalytic and regulatory subunits of AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Mol Biol.* 2003;333:201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2003. 08.022
- 151. Storey KB, Storey JM. Biochemical adaptation to extreme environments. In: Walz W, ed. *Integrative Physiology in the Proteomics and Post-Genomics Age.* Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2005. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-925-7:169
- 152. Liberti MV, Locasale JW. The Warburg effect: how does it benefit cancer cells? *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2016;41:211-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2015.12.001. Erratum in: *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2016;41(3):287.
- 153. Wu CA, Chao Y, Shiah SG, Lin WW. Nutrient deprivation induces the Warburg effect through ROS/AMPK-dependent activation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2013;1833:1147–1156. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bbamcr.2013.01.025

Capítulo II

Título: Resolution of inflammation in chronic disease via restoration of the heat shock response (HSR)

Periódico: Cell Stress and Chaperones

Situação: Publicado em fevereiro de 2024.

(disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres.2024.01.002>).

REVIEW

Heat shock response during the resolution of inflammation and its progressive suppression in chronic-degenerative inflammatory diseases

Helena Trevisan Schroeder^{1,a} · Carlos Henrique De Lemos Muller^{2,b} · Thiago Gomes Heck^{3,c} · Mauricio Krause^{2,d} · Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt^{1,e,*}

Received: 18 September 2023/Revised: 11 January 2024/Accepted: 12 January 2024 © 2024 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Cell Stress Society International.

Abstract

The heat shock response (HSR) is a crucial biochemical pathway that orchestrates the resolution of inflammation, primarily under proteotoxic stress conditions. This process hinges on the upregulation of heat shock proteins (HSPs) and other chaperones, notably the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins, under the command of the heat shock transcription factor-1. However, in the context of chronic degenerative disorders characterized by persistent low-grade inflammation (such as insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and cardiovascular diseases) a gradual suppression of the HSR does occur. This work delves into the mechanisms behind this phenomenon. It explores how the Western diet and sedentary lifestyle, culminating in the endoplasmic reticulum stress within adipose tissue cells, trigger a cascade of events. This cascade includes the unfolded protein response and activation of the NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 inflammasome, leading to the emergence of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype and the propagation of inflammation throughout the body. Notably, the activation of the NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 inflammasome not only

Abbreviations: AMPK, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; ATF6, activating transcription factor 6; COVID-19, coronavirus disease-2019; COX, cyclooxygenase (prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase); CRP, C-reactive protein; CVD, cardiovascular disease(s); ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GSK-3 β , glycogen synthase kinase-3 β ; HBP, hexosamine biosynthetic pathway; HFD, high-fat diet; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor-1; HSP, heat shock protein; HSP70, the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; eHSP70, extracellular HSP70; HSR, heat shock response; HuR, human antigen R, a.k.a. ELAV-1, for Embryonic Lethal, Abnormal Vision, Drosophila, Homolog-Like protein-1; IAPP, pancreatic islet amyloid polypeptide; IRE1 α , Inositol Requiring Enzyme-1, also known as Endoplasmic Reticulum-to-Nucleus Signaling-1, ERN1; IxB, inhibitors of κ B transcription factors; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; NF- κ B, nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (κ B) family; NLRP3, NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 inflammasome; NOD, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain; PGs, prostaglandins; cyPG, cyclopentenone prostaglandin; PERK, Protein kinase-like ER Kinase; PP2A, protein phosphatase 2A; SASP, Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype; SIRT1, NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase sirtuin-1; SNS, sympathetic nervous system; TCS, transcellular chaperone signaling; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; UPR, unfolded protein response * Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt

pauloivo@ufrgs.br

- ¹ Laboratory of Cellular Physiology (FisCel), Department of Physiology, Institute of Basic Health Sciences (ICBS), Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil
- ² Laboratory of Inflammation, Metabolism and Exercise Research (LAPIMEX), Department of Physiology, ICBS, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil
- ³ Post Graduate Program in Integral Health Care (PPGAIS-UNIJUÍ/UNICRUZ/URI), Regional University of Northwestern Rio Grande Do Sul State (UNIJUI) and Post Graduate Program in Mathematical and Computational Modeling (PPGMMC), UNIJUI, Ijuí, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil.
- ^a 0000-0003-4000-3671
- ^b 0000-0003-0205-7775
- ^c 0000-0002-1242-5423
- ^d 0000-0001-9814-742X
- ^e 0000-0003-1907-3341

fuels inflammation but also sabotages the HSR by degrading human antigen R, a crucial mRNA-binding protein responsible for maintaining heat shock transcription factor-1 mRNA expression and stability on heat shock gene promoters. This paper underscores the imperative need to comprehend how chronic inflammation stifles the HSR and the clinical significance of evaluating the HSR using cost-effective and accessible tools. Such understanding is pivotal in the development of innovative strategies aimed at the prevention and treatment of these chronic inflammatory ailments, which continue to take a heavy toll on global health and well-being.

Keywords HSP70 · Heat shock response · Chronic inflammatory diseases · Obesity · Insulin resistance · Exercise

Introduction

Chronic metabolic diseases with inflammatory underpinnings have become prevalent due to the Western lifestyle characterized by high-calorie intake, intestinal dysbiosis, and sedentary behavior. Conditions like obesity, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, cardiovascular diseases (CVD), and neurodegenerative diseases now collectively account for a staggering 74% of global deaths.¹

Transcriptional profiling studies have unveiled a prominent upregulation of genes associated with inflammatory and stress responses in the adipose tissue of obese individuals.² In this Western lifestyle, excessive nutrient intake, coupled with insufficient energy expenditure³ or skeletal muscle-derived myokines⁴⁻⁶ to balance cell metabolism and appetite control,⁷ adipose cells experience endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. Persistent ER stress perpetuates the unfolded protein response (UPR) and triggers the activation of the NOD-like receptor pyrin domaincontaining protein-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome in adipose tissue. The ensuing release of inflammatory cytokines leads to a senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), with NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent cytokines "seeding" inflammation throughout the body.3 This chronic ER stress-induced inflammation ultimately culminates in exacerbated insulin release, atherosclerotic vascular diseases, and other chronic inflammatory disorders due to the inability of the organism to resolve inflammation.^{3,8} This begs the question: why does a state of low-grade inflammation persist in these metabolic diseases when vertebrates have evolved over millions of years to mount and resolve inflammatory responses? The answer lies in the progressive suppression of the heat shock response (HSR) by proliferative senescence in adipose tissue. The HSR, mediated by heat shock transcription factor-1 (HSF1)-dependent expression of heat shock proteins (HSPs) and other chaperones, is a potent anti-inflammatory pathway that becomes progressively suppressed by proliferative senescence under persistent ER stress and the succeeding NLRP3 inflammasome-driven SASP.³

In fact, proliferative senescence of adipose tissue precedes virtually all known forms of chronic degenerative diseases of inflammatory nature, whatever tissue location, from diabetes to CVD, from nonalcoholic fatty liver disease to menopause-associated dysfunctions and neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's, Huntington's, Parkinson's and most probably fibromyalgia, conditions in which the weakening of the HSR is always observed.9,10 This story begins by exploring the convoluted link between intracellular chaperone-mediated protein quality control and inflammation. Over the course of billions of years, protein chaperones have evolved with the primary objective of preventing protein misfolding, averting the aggregation of misfolded proteins, and thus thwarting the accumulation of potentially cytotoxic complexes.¹¹ Actually, although the lexicon "molecular chaperones" is widely recognized in the realm of HSPs, the term was originally coined by Laskey and co-workers¹² to describe these proteins' remarkable ability to prevent incorrect ionic interactions between histones and DNA. Anyway, in the context of a genuine HSR, molecular chaperones play a crucial role in guiding newly synthesized proteins to fold correctly into their functional three-dimensional structures. They effectively prevent aggregation and facilitate the precise localization of these polypeptides through transmembrane translocation. This function holds profound significance in the context of lowgrade inflammation, as misfolded proteins or their aggregates exacerbate ER stress (referred to above), thereby triggering inflammatory signals throughout the body, as we shall elaborate upon.

When the HSR experiences irreparable dysfunction, such as when misfolded proteins cannot be salvaged or destroyed, cells have the option to enter apoptosis, effectively halting the generation of inflammatory signals originating from the ER. Conversely, in less severe scenarios where cells do not undergo apoptosis but persistently experience ER stress, they may enter a state of senescence and develop SASP. Therefore, the HSR emerges, on the one hand, as a safeguard of proper functioning within the chaperone machinery that serves to mitigate UPR and, on the other hand, as a potent anti-inflammatory pathway, as we shall elucidate below. Furthermore, the HSR intricately connects protein homeostasis with energy metabolism through interactions between HSF1 and 5'-adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK), an occurrence referred to as "*caloristasis*."¹³ Disrupting this delicate equilibrium between proteostasis and energy metabolism can culminate in the formation of aberrant protein aggregates that serve as catalysts for chronic inflammation.

Within the HSP superfamily, the 70 kDa heat shock protein (HSP70) family, hereafter referred to as HSP70, plays a pivotal role in obviating protein misfolding and inflammation.^{10,14,15} For the sake of clarity, as outlined in Schroeder *et al.*,¹⁶ HSPs are currently categorized into gene families and superfamilies, aligning more consistently with the HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee, as indicated by Kampinga et al.¹⁷ These include HSPA (e.g., HSP70s), HSPB (small HSPs), HSPC (e.g., HSP90), HSPD, and HSPE (HSP60 and HSP10 chaperonins), HSPH (e.g., HSP110), DNAJ (J-proteins, formerly HSP40 cochaperones¹⁸), alongside CCT and other chaperonin-related genes. In relation to HSP70s, up to now, the human genome has identified 13 different genes coding for members of the HSPA/HSP70 superfamily, such as cytoplasmic/nuclear HSPA1A/HSP72 and HSPA1B/HSP70-2, ER-based HSPA5/GRP78, and mitochondrial HSPA9/GRP75. Despite the considerable homology within this superfamily, HSPA/HSP70s members exhibit a high degree of specialization. For instance, the response to stress can vary significantly; HSPA8/HSC73 (formerly known as the cognate form of HSP70), expressed in both the cytoplasm and nucleus,¹⁹ primarily functions as a non-inducible housekeeping gene. In contrast, HSPA6/ HSP70B' demonstrates strictly inducible expression, with minimal or no basal expression in most cells. Actually, there is a vast repertoire of combinations of intracellular location and inducibility among HSP members.²⁰ In this work, however, our primary focus will be on the HSPA1s/ HSP70s-based anti-inflammatory HSR and its gradual suppression as chronic inflammatory diseases unfold unless stated otherwise.

HSR at the organismal level: Beyond cellular proteostasis to transcellular signaling, intermediate metabolism, and whole-body homeostasis regulation

The HSR serves primarily a protective function *within* cells, but it also evolved to encompass organism-level situations that threaten homeostasis. One such situation is the release of extracellular HSP70 (eHSP70) into the plasma during various stressful conditions (as described below). Indeed, eHSP70 is essentially a composite of both HSP72 (*HSPA1A* and *HSPA1B*) and HSP73 (*HSPA8*) proteins,²¹ which may be released in exosomes during stressful situations.^{22–26} Unlike intracellular HSP70, which functions as a protein chaperone and anti-inflammatory factor inside the cells, eHSP70 acts as a danger signal and pro-inflammatory cytokine through its interaction with Toll-like 4 receptors

outside the cells.^{25,27–30} In simple terms, eHSP70 may be produced by a stressed tissue (e.g., during exercise) but eventually acting in others, that is, brain and immune system cells.^{25,26} This narrative, however, transcends its current boundaries. As expounded by Schroeder *et al.*¹⁶ our present understanding of HSF1 activation encompasses four distinct mechanisms, with one of them being cellnonautonomous (a process initiated not by the stressed cell itself, but rather originating externally, in contrast to the cell-autonomous mechanism) which unfolds within the cell in response to stress signals directed at the cell. This revelation gained prominence following the groundbreaking discovery by Professor Rick Morimoto's research group, shedding light on a previously unforeseen avenue of HSR activation: the transcellular, cell-nonautonomous regulation of HSF1.³¹ Accordingly, the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans exhibits HSR in a way dependent on thermosensory neurons that detect changes in ambient temperature. As with humans, these specialized neurons exist that play unique roles in controlling temperature-related behavior.^{10,32} As a consequence of this relative loss of cellular autonomy in triggering HSF1 activation, the HSR can be attained by the integration of stress-related, metabolic, and behavioral responses of the animal in order to establish a coordinated organismal response to environmental fluctuations.³¹

Transcellular HSR activation is now accepted not to be a peculiarity of C. elegans, but a mechanism conserved among metazoans, including mammals.^{33,34} This highly elaborated mechanism enables the integration of the HSR across multiple cellular compartments, including the cytoplasm, nucleus, ER, and mitochondria. This is achieved by metabolic adjustment of cell growth, insulin-dependent, and antioxidant factors, which help to compensate for changes in proteostatic load in response to environmental fluctuations.³⁴ Hence, it became clear that multicellular organisms require the coordination between stress responses and the maintenance of proteostasis, which cannot be achieved through cell-autonomous mechanisms alone. Contrarily, they must be orchestrated in a cell non-autonomous manner through centralized control of the nervous system.^{35–38} Remarkably, in *C. elegans*, upregulation of the HSP70 gene (hspa1a) through transcellular chaperone signaling (TCS) has been found to increase resilience to heat stress through a unique molecular mechanism. Specifically, TCS is not regulated by the canonical HSF1-dependent HSR, and upon TCS activation, HSF-1-mediated HSR is remarkably suppressed. This favors an intercellular route, enabling the animal to preserve its survival. TCS represents an organismal stress response that activates HSP70 expression in an HSF1-independent manner.38

While every eukaryotic cell has the necessary machinery for the expression of heat shock genes, the regulation of the HSR through non-autonomous neuronal signaling to somatic tissues and TCS between neurons and peripheral tissues is a significant evolutionary advancement. This guarantees the coordinated activation of the organismal HSR across various tissues and can supersede neuronal control to restore cell-specific and tissue-specific proteostasis, while maintaining the overall homeostasis, including energy balance. Actually, these mechanisms pungently pinpoint an evolutionarily preserved homeostasis-protecting system at the organismal level that is added to caloristasis,¹⁶ the latter at the cellular level, contributing to the preservation of homeostasis. The understanding of the different metabolic pathways as well as neurotransmitters involved in mammal TCS is still in its infancy. Considering the integrative role of the HSR in responding to diverse intracellular and extracellular stressors, further research endeavors hold the promise of illuminating novel avenues toward a more detailed comprehension of this phenomenon.

In addition to the triggering of the HSR through cellautonomous and cell-non-autonomous (TCS) mechanisms, there are other well-known mechanisms of HSR activation at the organismal level that attach the autonomic nervous system to the stress responses. The sympathetic nervous system (SNS) branch of the autonomic nervous system serves as the primary conduit for protective responses against disruptions to homeostasis. Remarkably, this role extends not only to vertebrates but also seemingly across the entire metazoan spectrum.³⁹ As one would anticipate, the evolution of the SNS is intricately linked to the integration of energy sensing mechanisms, encompassing responses to situations ranging from the "fight-or-flight" stress response to the regulation of core temperature, glucose homeostasis, and fat storage. Consequently, all the known stimuli that enhance SNS tone indisputably dictate the activation of the anti-inflammatory HSR. Not unexpectedly, SNS plays a proactive role in the mitigation ("resolution") of one of the pivotal defensive responses of the animals: inflammation.40

The multifaceted interplay of plasma glucose concentrations, energy sensing, HSR, and sympathetic activity takes place within the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH). This neural hub integrates diverse functions, including feeding regulation, fear response, blood pressure, thermoregulation, and sexual activity. Furthermore, the VMH is the site of a notable estrogeninduced HSR.^{41,42} Additionally, mechanisms within the hypothalamus, particularly in the preoptic area, that induce fever (an activator of the HSR) can be modulated by norepinephrine.³² In the context of hypoglycemia, it is noteworthy that acute episodes trigger the release of eHSP72 and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6.⁴³ Importantly, glucose ingestion effectively inhibits the exercise (stress)-induced secretion of eHSP70⁴⁴ and abolishes the counterregulatory actions of the SNS during hypoglycemic episodes.⁴⁵ These effects are intricately mingled in the neuronal circuitry within the VMH.⁴⁶

HSP70 expression can be induced by α -adrenergic stimulation in numerous tissues. Conversely, the HSR is impeded by α_1 -adrenergic blockade.^{47–52} Furthermore, acute stress stimulates the secretion of exosomes containing eHSP70 and augments circulating levels of eHSP70, all in an α -adrenergic-dependent manner. This ultimately serves as a warning to physiological systems of the presence of homeostasis-threatening situations.²²⁻²⁵ Indeed, the HSR pathway has general protective functions and involves pathways that couple exercise, energy balance, and proteostasis to inflammation via HSP70 (Figure 1). To put it differently, HSP70 expression is connected to other homeostatically stressful situations (i.e., homeostasis-threatening situations), not only heat or proteostasis-hostile condi*tions*.^{3,10,25,43} It is worth noting that the perspective depicted in Figure 1 provides insight into just one facet of the HSR. This aspect pertains to situations characterized by predominantly proteotoxic stress, where HSF1 takes precedence over AMPK pathways. In contrast, AMPK pathways are favored in scenarios primarily marked by predominantly metabolic stress, particularly energy scarcity.

An intriguing facet to contemplate pertains to AMPK, the pivotal cellular energy sensor. In addition to its capacity to discern changes in AMP-to-ATP ratios, AMPK possesses a glycogen-binding domain within its β regulatory subunit.⁵³ This unique feature endows it with the ability to function as a glycogen sensor. In addition, glucose can downregulate AMPK activity through protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) in various biological contexts, including rodent islets, β -cell strains,⁵⁴ and yeast.⁵⁵ The activation of PP2A by HSF1 results in the suppression of AMPK,⁵⁶ subsequently promoting an increase in HSP70 expression.⁵⁷ It is important to acknowledge, however, that, under specific circumstances, AMPK has the potential to inhibit HSF1, thereby promoting a pathway focused on safeguarding metabolic functions,^{58,59} as proteostasissaving functions depend on the energy of ATP to provide chaperone-assisted cytoprotection, a phenomenon known as caloristasis,¹³ as discussed in detail by Schroeder and colleagues.¹⁶

Exercise, as it can scarcely be otherwise, resembling a fight-or-flight stressor for the central nervous system (CNS), stands out as a potent inducer of the HSR and HSP70 expression across diverse tissues, *rivaled only by heat*. Notably, exercise prompts the release of eHSP70 into the blood-stream^{60,61} and into the culture media of cells derived from exercised subjects.^{21,26} This phenomenon is sophisticatedly



Fig. 1 Heat shock response (HSR) failure in chronic inflammatory diseases: role of cellular senescence. Under normal nutrient supply (i.e., equivalent to energy expenditure, physical activity), glucose and fatty acids are utilized by adipose tissue upon physiological amounts of insulin. Any excess of demand is counteracted by enhanced HSR in order to supply the correct furnishing of chaperones thus avoiding misfolding or correcting endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and the resulting unfolded protein response (UPR). When circulating glucose and fatty acids (especially saturated) overcome energy expenditure and high amounts of surplus energetic metabolites should be stored in adipose tissue under a higher insulin command, ER stress develops. Should energy expenditure be still and chronically lower than energy intake, ER stress is followed by the UPR, a cellular strategy evolved in order to evaluate the capacity of the cell to arrange a physiological HSR (which conveys cells to protein/metabolite homeostasis). Of note, the illustration shows essentially one side of the HSR, that involving a predominantly proteotoxic stress in which HSF1 has prevalence over AMPK pathways, which is preferentially activated under predominantly metabolic stress conditions. In the case of irremediable HSR, cells may undergo apoptosis and irreversible cell death. On the other hand, if protein homeostasis (proteostasis) is not attained but cells still have conditions to avoid apoptosis, an alternative metabolic pathway may be taken in which cells do not dye but activate senescence, assuming a senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). This is accomplished because adipocytes chronically challenged by excess fatty acids, cholesterol, high-fat diet, and hyperglycemia prepare an inflammatory response, which becomes chronic. Under the persistence of risk factors, cells develop an UPR that is diverted to the inflammatory branch since continuous inflammatory stimuli do not cease to activate NLRP3 inflammasome, leading to the activation of caspase-1. Activated caspase-1 determines, in adipocytes, a state of frank cellular senescence which culminates in SASP that can spread out to other tissues and cell types, including infiltrating macrophages of adipose tissue, skeletal muscle cells, pancreatic β cells, hepatocytes, vascular cells, and brain structures. In all these cell types, including adipocytes, SASP leads to cleavage of HuR, an mRNA-binding protein responsible for enhancing SIRT1 expression. As a consequence, HSF1 expression and transcribing activity becomes depressed, because SIRT1 enhances both. Therefore, HSR is hindered accordingly and a state of enhanced inflammation is noted because HSR is of crucial importance for the resolution of inflammation for many reasons, including, but not limited to, HSF1-dependent blockade of pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and impairment of NF-kB activation. As a healthy HSR cannot resume, resolution of inflammation is more and more jeopardized thus impeding autophagy and an efficient resolution of UPR via HSR. Beside of this, senescent cells are resistant to undergo apoptosis, which should be an alternative to break this vicious cycle, so that chronically

inflamed cells are likely to persist in tissues. Abbreviations used: AMP, adenosine monophosphate; AMPK, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor-1; HSP70, 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; HuR, human antigen R; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; NF- κ B, nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (κ B) family; NLRP3, NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SIRT1, NAD⁺- dependent protein deacetylase of class III family sirtuin-1; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α . *Adapted and reused from*: Ref. 9. Under an open access Creative Common CC BY license 4.0.

linked to heightened immunosurveillance,^{62,63} a process known to be orchestrated *via* α_1 -adrenergic signaling.²³ Conversely, the consumption of glucose during exercise negates the expected surge in circulating eHSP70 levels.⁴⁴ Notably, the expression of HSP70 and its release into the bloodstream are closely associated with indicators of cellular energy depletion. Accordingly, diminished glycogen levels are directly correlated with elevated expression, both at the mRNA and protein levels, of HSP72.⁶⁴ Furthermore, this upregulation of HSP72 mRNA levels correlates with the onset of exhaustion, a stimulus integrated at the SNS level,⁶⁵ while displaying an inverse relationship with lactate levels. Noteworthily, muscle temperature elevation primarily occurs at the outset of the exercise session.⁶⁶

Following an acute bout of exercise, an increase in HSP70 and HSP90 levels is observed in plasma, mononuclear cells, and various organs and tissues, including muscle, liver, cardiac tissue, and brain. This specific response of HSP70 and HSP90 appears to be closely related to the exercise modality, with several dependent factors, such as exercise duration, intensity, type, the training status of the subjects, and environmental factors, such as temperature.⁶⁷ Actually, as is the case of HSP70, HSP90 is also now considered a potential myokine (or exerkine⁶⁸) and mediator of exercise-induced immune responses in patients with idiopathic inflammatory myopathies.⁶⁹ Interestingly, after repeated bouts of eccentric exercise, HSP70 and small HSPs accumulate in areas of myofibrillar disruption and sarcomeres, particularly in Z-disks.⁷⁰

Still, regarding the connection between the HSR and the metabolic stress surveillance system, it is worth noting that, under predominantly proteotoxic stress conditions (Figure 1), AMPK plays a pivotal role in triggering the HSR by inhibiting glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β), a protein that constitutively represses the activity of HSF1. GSK-3ß serves as a negative regulator of glycogen synthase and is typically deactivated when the body is in an "energy plentiful" state, thereby liberating the conversion of glucose into glycogen. In contrast, AMPK serves as the primary "energy-sensing" kinase that responds to periods of "fuel scarcity" stress.^{3,10,71} It is also important to acknowledge that the impact of AMPK on the HSR is contingent on the prevailing caloristasis, meaning that during predominantly metabolic stress conditions, AMPK suppresses HSF1

activity, resulting in a dampened HSR. Conversely, under conditions characterized by predominantly proteotoxic stress, HSF1 can counteract the effects of AMPK, leading to a *bona fide* HSR.¹⁶

The AMPK-mediated alleviation of GSK-3 β 's inhibitory influence on the HSR may occur through the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP), a nutrient-sensing pathway with extensive ties to energy metabolism and the HSR, beyond its role in glycogen synthesis.^{9,72,73} Glutamine, the primary amino acid released into the bloodstream by active skeletal muscle,^{9,71,74,75} and a significant co-inducer of HSP70, enhances the HSR by increasing the HBP metabolic pathway which, in turn, leads to the inhibition of GSK-3 β . Activated AMPK, in this situation, relieves the inhibition of HSF1, ultimately contributing to an anti-inflammatory HSR.^{9,76} Notably, in the context of protein-aggregation disorders like Huntington's disease, phosphorylation of Ser303 and Ser307 by GSK-3 β results in the inactivation and degradation of HSF1.⁷⁷

Turning our attention to the potential impact of exercise on homeostasis again, it becomes evident that exercise exerts a mechanical force, essentially a form of traction, on the skeletal structure. Given this, it was not unreasonable to anticipate that the physiological stress induced by exercise might extend to the bones. Intriguingly, this is rigorously the case. When bony vertebrates encounter immediate danger, stress signals in the basolateral amygdala of the brain trigger the release of glutamate by glutamatergic axons that contact osteoblasts in the bone. This triggers the secretion of osteocalcin, a bone-derived hormone (an osteokine⁷⁸) that actively contributes to energy metabolism, reproductive processes, memory, and the capacity for exercise. These multifaceted functions are indispensable for thriving in unpredictable and hostile environments, such as the wilderness.⁷⁹ Additionally and remarkably, osteocalcin plays a critical role in suppressing the tonus of the parasympathetic nervous system, which allows the stress response to occur because the sympathetic tone remains unopposed. As a result, osteocalcin is released from the osteoblasts as part of the acute stress response, which turns off the "rest-and-digest" arm of the autonomic nervous system and enables the acute stress response to proceed via the "fight-or-flight" sympathetic branch.⁷⁹ Osteocalcin-mediated stress response results in a range of physiological manifestations, including increased body

temperature and energy expenditure, elevated heart rate, and faster breathing.⁷⁹ Bone-derived osteocalcin favors catecholamine synthesis in the brain, thus enhancing sympathetic tone which is the principal efference of the acute stress response⁸⁰ and a major positive signal to trigger the HSR.

In concluding this discussion linking the stress responses among the SNS, metabolism, and exercise, it is crucial to highlight the pivotal role of the skeletal system as an endocrine organ in regulating glucose and energy metabolism. The interplay between bone and energy metabolism has long been a subject of interest, fueled by the observation of an inverse relationship between obesity and osteoporosis.⁸¹ Bone-derived osteocalcin stimulates insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, and energy expenditure by upregulating the expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α), uncoupling protein-1, and mitochondrial biogenesis. Therefore, it is a typical homeostasis-protecting hormone. Also, its secretion and activity are modulated by various hormonal cues, including insulin, leptin, SNS activity, and glucocorticoids.⁸² Essentially, the effects of osteocalcin converge on the same metabolic pathways as those associated with the HSR. Furthermore, it is remarkable that serum osteocalcin levels are notably lower in obese children compared to their normal-weight counterparts, underscoring a negative correlation between osteocalcin levels and body fat mass.⁸¹

To summarize organismal HSR at this point, all known physiological responses to any kind of stress are definitely connected to the HSR. As inferred from the above findings, it is clear that the acute stress response of the skeleton involves metabolic signals similar to those managed in the HSR. Curiously, these pathways are also activated by osteocalcin under emotional stress (e.g., fear). They are the same metabolic routes activated under metabolic "fuel shortage" stress that triggers the expression and export of HSP70 to the extracellular milieu (eHSP70), as detailed above. Conversely, different HSPs influence the behavior of osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and osteocytes in the bone, thus participating in bone physiology. For example, although still a matter of debate, the chaperonin HSP60 (HSPD) stimulates osteoclast activity leading to bone resorption, as do HSP73 (HSPA8) and HSP90 (HSPCs).83 On the other hand, treatment of osteoblasts with HSR inducers, such as sodium arsenite or heat stress, led to the attenuation of osteocalcin synthesis induced by either bone morphogenetic protein-4 or the thyroid hormone T₃, along with an induction of HSP27 (HSPB1). Actually, current evidence strongly suggests that unphosphorylated HSPB1/HSP27 exerts an inhibitory effect on osteocalcin synthesis by a stimulatory effect on mineralization in osteoblasts.⁸⁴ HSPB1/HSP27 is a molecular chaperone that operates independently of ATP and has been linked to tumorigenesis, metastasis, and protection against heat stress.⁸⁵ Its function is influenced by its dynamic phosphorylation and heterogeneous oligomerization under varying conditions of stress. When unphosphorylated, HSP27 (HSPB1) can form large multimers of up to 800 kDa. However, phosphorylation triggers conformational changes resulting in significantly smaller oligomeric sizes, complex dissociation, and loss of chaperone activity. This indicates that HSP27 (HSPB1)'s reversible structural organization ultimately functions as a sensor that enables cells to adapt and overcome lethal conditions by interacting with appropriate protein partners.⁸⁶ Therefore, it seems plausible that HSP27 (HSPB1) liberated by the skeletal muscle after exercise may be involved not only in tissue protein repair but also in disarming SNS after exercise. This signifies that evolution may have picked out this mechanism to say "danger has passed" and there is no longer a need to activate the fight-or-flight response.

In total, the HSR pertains to a general surveillance system that connects cellular proteostasis to physiological adjustments in blood pressure, cardiac output, temperature, glycogenolysis/glycogen synthesis (to correct glycemia), capacity to exercise (fight-or-flight), and affective (limbic) brain responses to *already-experienced* and *unpredicted stresses*, thereby *anticipating* such responses.

The HSR and the physiological resolution of inflammation

As stated in the Introduction section, there is a close association between intracellular quality control of proteins and inflammation. But what is the relation between protein aggregation and unresolved inflammation that permits the existence of chronic metabolic diseases of an inflammatory nature? The answer is that, because of many evolutionary reasons, activation of the HSR, does exert anti-inflammatory effects in animals, and, as we shall discuss here, HSR is progressively suppressed during the establishment of these chronic metabolic diseases, making inflammation perpetual.

Prior to acknowledging the significance of the HSR in the context of inflammation and exploring its role in the resolution of inflammation, it is essential to clarify a crucial point. When there is an excessive demand placed on ER functions, specifically concerning protein synthesis and proper folding, a cellular process known as the UPR is activated to prevent the accumulation of potentially cytotoxic misfolded protein aggregates. However, within the UPR framework, one of its branches, namely Inositol Requiring Enzyme-1 (IRE1)/c-Jun N-terminal kinase-1 (JNK1) (discussed next), can physiologically incite an inflammatory response that depends on the nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (xB) family (NF-kB) downstream pathways, ultimately triggering inflammation. Conversely, this same process also induces the expression of molecular chaperones. Consequently, the HSR emerges as a vital mechanism to counteract any excessive inflammatory response triggered by a potent UPR. This elucidates a significant aspect of the HSR in resolving inflammation. In essence, the HSR evolved as a potent anti-inflammatory tool, strategically harnessed to combat various forms of inflammation.

The HSR exerts cogent anti-inflammatory effects, primarily because HSP70s (HSPAs) act as natural inhibitors of NF-kB subsequent signaling cascades. NF-kB activation is sufficient and sine qua non to trigger inflammation since all known inflammatory cytokines and mechanisms involved in inflammation are NF-xBdependent. HSP70s stabilize the inhibitors of kB (IkB) complexes with NF-xB, thus preventing the translocation of the active dimers (e.g., p50/p65) into the nucleus and the consequent transcribing activity.^{87,88} Many other forms of HSP70-dependent anti-inflammatory activities have also been reported.89 They include induction of HSP70-dependent anti-inflammatory cytokines, modulation of dendritic cell phenotype favoring Th₂-over-Th₁ lymphocyte differentiation, and preferential activation of T_{reg} cells.⁸⁹

Inflammation is a well-preserved response intended to eliminate microorganisms or prepare tissue recovery during an aseptic injury. In a nutshell, inflammation evolved as an adaptive response for restoring homeostasis.⁹⁰ Importantly, immune responses related to inflammation can be appreciated in all metazoans.⁹¹ These responses are usually acute, in that cells of the innate immune system are recruited to the site of sterile injury or to defeat microorganism invasions. Having achieved this objective, inflammation is rapidly dismantled. A successful acute inflammatory response culminates in the eradication of infectious agents (or the start of tissue remodeling), followed by a phase of resolution and tissue repair.⁹⁰ That is to say, chronic inflammation was not part of the original evolutionary blueprint; much less chronic inflammatory diseases.

When an acute inflammatory response is activated in the body, a significant production of pro-inflammatory arachidonic acid-derived prostaglandins (PGs) occurs, along with other lipid mediators and vasoactive compounds.¹⁰ These signaling molecules play a decisive role in alerting immune cells and sensory pathways to the presence of an invader or tissue injury. They also increase vascular permeability, which allows more inflammatory cells to arrive and activate, leading to tissue repair.⁹⁰ This process is initiated by a finely orchestrated expression of inducible proteins centered around NF- κ B transcription factors, which drive inflammation during the initial phase.⁹² However, these same molecules also contribute to the *resolution of inflammation*.^{3,10,93–95} Additional polyunsaturated fatty acid-derived mediators, such as lipoxins and dietary ω 3-fatty-acid-derived resolvins and protectins, further facilitate the resolution of inflammation and tissue repair.⁹⁰

Within 2h of the start of an inflammatory response, a powerful wave of NF-xB-induced expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2, formally known as PGs endoperoxide H synthase) surges through the body tissues, synthesizing copious amounts of PGE₂ from arachidonic acid. This early phase can be inhibited by both selective COX2 inhibitors (COXIBs) and traditional dual COX1/COX2 nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. However, there is an unpredicted and serious risk here: using such inhibitors to alleviate fever, headache, or body pain, at any time during an inflammatory response, strongly exacerbates inflammation at later stages (after 48 h from the beginning), impeding its resolution phase and prolonging or perpetuating the inflammatory state.⁹⁴ This occurs due to various causes. Firstly, PGE₂ is a potent inducer of fever, by impeding the processing of thermosensory information at the preoptic area of the hypothalamus. 32,96,97 This PGE₂ signal then triggers autonomic heat-sparing mechanisms located at the rostral medullary raphe pallidus premotor nuclei, setting off a cascade of bodily responses, including cutaneous vasoconstriction, the feeling of cold and, prominently, elevation of core temperature (fever). Therefore, the initial phase of inflammation (PGE2-driven) tends to induce fever (the most potent physiological HSR inducer) precisely to prepare the termination phase (resolution) so that COXIBs or conventional nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs gravely jeopardize the physiological resolution of inflammation. Strikingly, fever effectively orchestrates antimicrobial defenses and aids in controlling inflammation and tissue repair, even in cold-blooded vertebrates (!), where there is selectivity in the immune mechanisms activated by fever. In summary, fever inhibits inflammation and significantly enhances wound repair⁹⁸ throughout the metazoan kingdom. Because the HSR is a multifaceted anti-inflammatory and antiviral mechanism that naturally resolves inflammation, selective manipulation of this pathway has the potential to control and prevent multifactorial diseases.⁹⁹ Quite the contrary, however, long-term



Fig. 2 Heat shock response (HSR) dynamics in inflammatory responses. Highlighted is the dual function of NF-κB in promoting proinflammatory cytokine production and priming the resolution phase *via* COX-2 activation. Abbreviations used: COX2, cyclooxygenase-2; HSF1, heat shock transcription factor-1; HSP70, 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; IKK- β , IxB kinase- β JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; NF-κB, nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (κB) family; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α

use of COXIBs obviates the physiological triggering of the HSR and, as a result, has been shown to be harmful to human health.^{100,101} This harm has led to the withdrawal of rofecoxib and valdecoxib from the market due to their association with cardiovascular complications.¹⁰¹ Let us not forget: the HSR is also anti-inflammatory in the cardiovascular system. The second point regarding the negative impact of blocking COX activity is that PGE₂ induces fever in the first step but, shortly after, it undergoes dehydration in the plasma into the highly electrophilic cyclopentenone PG (cyPG) PGA₂,¹⁰² which is a powerful antiproliferative eicosanoid that can shut off NF-xB directly and also via HSF1 activation.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵ In addition, heat induces HSF1-dependent COX2 expression, leading to explosive PG production and HSP70 synthesis, which inhibits NF-xBdependent pro-inflammatory cascades.¹⁰⁶ Please, see Figure 2 for the detailed involvement of COX-2 in the HSR.

Anti-inflammatory A-type PGs may also exert an antiproliferative effect by operating akin to statins, as they bind directly and covalently to 3-hydroxy-3-me-thylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase.¹⁰⁷ This enzyme serves as the rate-limiting step in cholesterol synthesis. However, the inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase not only prevents the formation of cholesterol, the final product of this pathway but also hinders cell proliferation. This is because various isoprenoid intermediates, essential for cell proliferation, are synthesized between HMG-CoA and cholesterol. In essence,

disrupting cholesterogenesis leads to the inhibition of cell proliferation.^{108,109} Strikingly, inducers of the HSR, particularly anti-inflammatory cyPGs, at the same time, potently inhibit viral replication in various DNA and RNA viruses, including HIV-1, *via* HSF1-dependent inhibition of NF-xB activation and HSR activation.^{103,110–117} Blocking virus replication by cyPGs depends on HSP70 synthesis, which explains why hyperthermic treatment is antiviral, including in the fever-like range.¹¹⁸ Beyond the intracellular effects against inflammatory pathways already discussed, the HSP70 family of chaperones is also involved in the response to viral infections. HSP70 plays an important role during virus internalization, replication, and gene expression.¹¹⁹

During the most important virus-elicited pandemic of this century, many research groups suggested a possible link between the major susceptibility to infection with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2, in patients with metabolic diseases presenting chronic failure to trigger a robust HSR.¹²⁰⁻¹²³ Administration of recombinant HSP70 *in vitro* and *in vivo* has been found to decrease inflammation and respiratory distress syndrome in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 infection.¹²⁴ At the moment, only one study by our own team has assessed the HSR in COVID-19 patients. However, we did not find a difference in the HSR between critical COVID-19 patients with and

without T2DM, because of a worsening of HSR in both groups, when these patients' results were compared with normal never-infected individuals.¹²⁵ HSR impairment in severe COVID-19 patients appears to be independent of previous metabolic status. However, we assessed only severe COVID-19 patients. Hence, further research is required to discern whether the severity of COVID-19 itself dampens the HSR and/or whether individuals with a robust HSR prior to infection are less likely to experience worsening outcomes.

One of the evolutionarily oldest mechanisms involved in the termination of inflammation is certainly the HSR. This is not a mere coincidence. During an inflammatory response, ER is highly demanded to give rise to and prepare immunoglobulins and pro-inflammatory cytokines in immune cells. This must be closely supervised by HSP chaperones. If a minimal imbalance between protein synthesis and chaperoning activity is perceived by ER molecular sensors, it is imperative for the cell to halt protein synthesis and increase its chaperoning capacity immediately to avoid the accumulation of potentially toxic protein aggregates. If this occurs, aggregates of unfolded proteins are conveyed to HSP70/HSPA1s (or HSP90/ HSPCs) to be refolded or conduced to proteasome-dependent degradation in the case of irrecoverable misfolding. On the other hand, if ER is overburdened with excess unfolded proteins, UPR takes place in order to suspend protein synthesis and enhance the production of HSP70s (and other chaperones). Notwithstanding, UPR has an inflammatory branch that can be counteracted by the concomitant production of the anti-inflammatory HSP70 under physiological conditions. This closes the feedback loop between inflammation and the physiological resolution of inflammation through the control of proteostasis while opening a window to the understanding of the suppression of the HSR in chronic inflammatory diseases.

Impaired resolution of inflammation due to progressive suppression of HSR in chronicdegenerative inflammatory diseases

The connection between chronic inflammation and the HSR involves a very complex network that operates at the gene regulatory level. The tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) gene promoter, for example, contains an HSF1 binding site that represses TNF α transcription.¹²⁶ Consequently, knockout of HSF1 gene is associated with a chronic augmentation of TNF α levels, increased susceptibility to endotoxin challenge,^{127,128} and NF- κ B/AP-1-mediated exacerbation of angiotensin-II-induced inflammation in vascular smooth muscle cells.¹²⁹ On the

flip side, TNF α can temporarily inhibit HSF1 activation.¹³⁰ Additionally, the pro-inflammatory kinase, JNK1, phosphorylates HSF1 in its regulatory domain, leading to the suppression of HSF1 transcriptional activity. On the other hand, HSP70 may inhibit the JNK pathway to prevent apoptosis.^{128,131} Exposure of cells to heat shock and other protein-damaging conditions, including ethanol, arsenite, and oxidative stress, strongly decreases the rate of JNK dephosphorylation,^{132,133} thus inhibiting JNK activity.

HSF1 suppresses IL-1 β gene transcription by forming a complex with the nuclear transcription factor of interleukin-6 (NF-IL6), which directly inhibits IL-1 β gene promoter activity.¹³⁴ However, NF-IL6 can prevent HSF1 activation by blocking its transcriptional activity and displacing HSF1 from the heat shock elements in the promoters of heat shock genes.¹³⁵ Additionally, IL-6 can depress HSF1 transcribing activity via GSK-3ß activity.¹³⁶ HSF1 and NF-IL6 have mutually antagonistic effects,¹³⁷ and the preponderant effect depends on the most prevalent stimulus, as observed for several other pro-inflammatory genes.¹³⁸ These interactions depend also on the degree of predominance of metabolic or proteotoxic stress (caloristasis), as approached in the previous sections. Therefore, a delicate balance is required to equilibrate pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses depending on the overall signals that converge to HSF1 and its regulators. In T2DM, the disruption of insulin signaling leads to HSF1 deactivation, as GSK-3^β constitutively inhibits HSF1 through direct phosphorylation. This reduces HSR activity and subsequently fosters heightened activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, JNK, and IxB kinase (IKK)-β. These signals, in turn, lead to the phosphorylation of Ser307 of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS1), further impeding insulin signaling.¹³⁹

Since T2DM and its complications have oxidative stress as an underlying mechanism, and considering that HSPs are major protective molecules against oxidative stress, Kurucz and colleagues tested and demonstrated, for the first time, the hypothesis that HSP72 (HSPA1s) mRNA contents should be undermined in the skeletal muscle of T2DM patients. In fact, they observed that decreased levels of HSP72 mRNA in the skeletal muscle of T2DM patients were correlated with a decreased rate of glucose uptake by cells and insulin resistance.¹⁴⁰ In T2DM and obesity, decreased expression of both HSP70 and HSF1 is a common feature detected in adipose tissue, liver, skeletal muscle, and vascular beds of patients.^{30,140-149} Depressed HSR is also evident in menopause-related metabolic dysfunctions^{10,150} and in tissues of obese¹⁵¹ and older adults,¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴ including those presenting neurodegenerative diseases.9,155 Impaired HSR has also been reported in rodent models of obesity,

insulin resistance, and CVD.^{153,156-158} Of note, pharmacological¹⁵⁹ as well as non-pharmacological interventions^{156,160} intended to activate HSF1 have been evaluated to block or reverse such unhealthy conditions *via* enhancing HSR successfully. Additionally, protein aggregationrelated neurodegenerative diseases are also directly linked to a deficiency in the expression and function of HSF1, particularly to its degradation and loss of DNA binding activity.⁷⁷ HSP70s, on the other hand, provide protection against an array of brain disorders, including trauma and stroke,^{161,162} not necessarily linked to protein aggregation directly.

As we discussed in the previous sections, ER stress can be resolved in various ways, such as increasing the capacity of protein chaperoning and decreasing protein synthesis. When the demand for ER functions exceeds its ability to cope with protein synthesis without accumulating misfolded proteins, the ER proteostasis surveillance system, under ER stress, triggers the UPR (to avoid undesirable tautology, please refer to the excellent review by Hetz et al.¹⁶³). UPR, in turn, has two major biochemical pathways to resolve ER stress, the *adaptive* and the *proapoptotic* routes. The first was evolutionarily selected to protect cells from proteotoxic oxidative stress while increasing protein chaperoning and refolding. The second is activated when the capacity of UPR to sustain proteostasis is exceeded and cells enter apoptotic programs. Within the adaptive UPR, there are three known main routes responsible for the reestablishment of proteostasis without the need for condemnation of cells to die by apoptosis: the Protein kinaselike ER Kinase (PERK)-dependent pathway, the Activating Transcription Factor 6 (ATF6)-dependent pathway, and the IRE1a also known as ER-to-Nucleus Signaling-1)-dependent pathway. PERK route is in charge of translation attenuation to reduce protein folding load, selective translation, autophagy, and antioxidant responses. The ATF6 pathway regulates the transcription of genes that encode ER chaperones, enzymes that facilitate ER protein translocation, folding, maturation, and secretion, as well as proteins involved in the degradation (ER-associated protein degradation) of misfolded proteins. ATF6 functions transit between ER and Golgi apparatus. Finally, IRE1α-dependent pathways regulate protein loading in the ER, metabolic adaptation, autophagy, ER-associated protein degradation, and NF-kB-dependent inflammatory signals via the NLRP3 inflammasome. Furthermore, IRE1a can associate with adapter proteins to engage in crosstalk with other stress response pathways such as macroautophagy and the MAPK pathways.¹⁶³

Hence, evolution selected a protein-folding correction system to resolve UPR with a *momentary inflammatory profile*, at the same time the HSR works as a sentinel to supervise both protein chaperoning activity and NF- κ B- dependent signals to avoid unwanted inflammation from being triggered during UPR. For these reasons, when examining the low-grade inflammatory background that accompanies all chronic degenerative diseases of an inflammatory nature,^{3,159,164} the question arises: why does the HSR fail to eliminate UPR-elicited inflammatory signals caused by excessive ER stress? Why does the HSR not function to promote the physiological resolution of inflammation in these cases? The answer to these questions lies in the fact that metabolic stresses resulting from energy imbalance (surplus) and insufficient physical activity continually require providence from the ER. This leads to the sustained maintenance of ER stress and exacerbated UPR. Additionally, both the adaptive and proapoptotic UPR pathways ultimately have inflammatory branches that rely on the activation of NLR-family inflammasomes (including NLRP1, NLRP3, NLRP6, and NLRC4), which promote the conversion of procaspase-1 to cysteine-aspartate protease-1 (caspase-1) (formerly known as interleukin-1 converting enzyme).

Inflammasomes are evolutionarily marvelous complexes of molecular platforms that sense and respond to danger signals. These large multimeric complexes are responsible for promoting the activation of caspase-1, a crucial enzyme involved in immune and inflammatory responses. In addition to activating caspase-1, inflammasomes also play a key role in cleaving inactive pro-interleukins and other target proteins, ultimately leading to the production of their active forms. Although all NLR-type inflammasomes can activate caspase-1, the NLRP3 inflammasome has been studied the most extensively.^{165,166} Importantly, NLRP3 inflammasomes have proven to be involved in the noxious effects of permanent ER stress, as we shall discuss next.

Under chronic ER stress, PERK-elF2a-ATF4-CHOP and IRE1-JNK pathways are activated from the lumen of ER to prepare the UPR or initiate apoptosis in mammalian cells.¹⁶⁷ In particular, IRE1, which is a serine/threonineprotein kinase/endoribonuclease, connects ER stress to NFkB-dependent inflammatory signals. Accordingly, in response to ER stress, maximum activation of NF-xB requires the presence of the IKK to address the IxB to proteasome degradation. However, unlike canonical activation of NFκB, the activity of IKK does not increase during ER stress. Instead, the extent of NF-xB activation depends on the level of basal IKK activity, which is crucial for determining the response. In this way, IRE1, a critical initiator of the UPR, contributes to maintaining the basal activity of IKK through its kinase activity but not its RNAse activity.¹⁶⁸ As a consequence of the above ER mechanisms, if the flow through the UPR overcomes the cellular ability to repair proteins, the inflammatory branch of the UPR overwhelms its antiinflammatory capacity (via HSP70s) and a huge burst of

NF-κB-dependent pro-inflammatory cytokines begins. This is exactly what happens in adipose tissue when energy intake surpasses energy expenditure, as stated in the Introduction section. And more: an endless ER stress accompanied by strong UPR may occur in adipose tissue even without any apparent obesity. In other words, overburdened UPR and low-grade inflammation may ensue in apparently lean individuals, as is the case of lean T2DM patients.¹⁶⁹ Indeed, the major point here is the "*metabolic stress*" to the adipose tissue (i.e., adipocytes and their satellite cells, such as macrophages), not overweight or obesity itself. Unfortunately, however, chronic degenerative diseases of an inflammatory nature are all associated with progressive UPR-dependent suppression of the HSR.

When ER stress in adipose tissue remains constantly utilizing the pro-inflammatory pathways of the UPR, the permanent activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is inevitable. However, in this situation, various proinflammatory cytokines are activated (after cleavage of their respective pro-cytokines by caspase-1). This results in the incessant production of caspase-1, which in turn allows for the activation of large quantities of pro-inflammatory cytokines.^{170,171} These cytokines affect adipose tissue but are also released by it into its surroundings.3 Consequently, "aberrant" activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is implicated in various inflammatory disorders, such as cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes, Alzheimer's disease, diabetes, and atherosclerosis that occur far from adipose tissue.^{3,165,172–174} The persistent activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome has another facet: the establishment of a pattern of pro-inflammatory cytokine production known as the SASP, which was mentioned in the Introduction section. As shown in Figure 1, fat cell senescence and the associated SASP may be an alternative mechanism emanating from the UPR that cells employ to avoid apoptotic death when autophagy is not working and the anti-inflammatory HSR fails to operate.³ In fact, a senescent-like state can emerge in the fat cells of obese individuals (even young obese subjects), as an adaptation to the overutilization of such cells, which resembles cellular aging.¹⁷⁵ Additionally, high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity can lead to vascular senescence through long-term activation of Akt1 and mTOR.¹⁷⁶ As proliferative senescence serves as an alternative to apoptosis, it would represent an interesting evolutionary solution that could preserve dysfunctional cells, although at the expense of the organism. Teleologically, this may seem counterintuitive as it undermines the overall health of the organism. On the other hand, it appears clear that evolution did not anticipate the extent to which humans would challenge the biochemistry originally "designed" for the intermediary metabolism of an animal consuming a Paleolithic diet (consisting of lean meat, fruits, vegetables, and nuts, but not grains, dairy, or legumes) and engaging in hunter-gatherer levels of physical activity.³

Cellular senescence, or proliferative senescence, is a part of the cellular stress response. Senescent cells are identified by a combination of features and molecular markers, including essentially permanent growth arrest. However, no single characteristic is exclusive to the senescent state and not all senescent cells display all known markers. Therefore, senescent cells are typically identified by a conjunct of characteristics,¹⁷⁷ which will not be approached here.

Now, we present evidence revealing how the HSR is profoundly obstructed by cellular senescence in response to the abundant activation of UPR. Human fibroblasts from adult segmental progeroid Werner syndrome undergo premature senescence that is associated with a strong positive feedback system in which overactivation of the p38-NF-xB pathway in these cells leads to SASP, which then attenuates the expression of the mRNA-binding protein human antigen R (HuR; also known as embryonic lethal, abnormal vision, Drosophila, homolog-like protein-1). HuR is a critical factor for the activity of the NAD⁺-dependent protein deacetylase of class III family sirtuin-1 (SIRT1).^{178,179} Indeed, the copious amount of NLRP3 inflammasomeoriginated caspase-1 progressively destroys the available quantities of HuR because caspase degrades HuR.¹⁸⁰ Caspases can also mediate the cleavage of HuR under different situations.¹⁸¹ Of note, HuR enhances the stability of various target mRNAs, such as the one encoding SIRT1. This occurs through the association of HuR with the 3'-untranslated region of SIRT1 mRNA, leading to an increase in SIRT1 protein expression levels.¹⁷⁸ However, oxidative stress, which is a potent activator of NLRP3,¹⁷⁰ disrupts the interaction between HuR and SIRT1 mRNA. This leads to a decrease in cell survival through a cycle checkpoint kinase-2-dependent mechanism.¹⁷⁸ SIRT1, on the other hand, enhances the expression of HSF1¹⁷⁹ and, when activated, SIRT1 prolongs HSF1 binding to the promoters of heat shock genes by maintaining HSF1 in a deacetylated, DNAbinding competent state.^{126,182} Furthermore, heat shock itself increases the cellular NAD⁺/NADH ratio and enhances the recruitment of SIRT1 to the HSP70 promoters.¹⁸³ Conversely, SIRT1 knockdown attenuates the HSR,¹⁸⁴ while SIRT1 modulators were found to also modulate HSF1 activity and the HSR in human cells.¹⁸³

During caspase-mediated apoptosis, HuR undergoes a functional switch from pro-survival to pro-apoptotic.¹⁸⁵ Interestingly, attenuation of HuR sensitizes adenocarcinoma cells to apoptosis.¹⁸⁶ However, in the context of continuous NLRP3 inflammasome activation, the ability of HuR to induce apoptosis¹⁸⁷ is inhibited. This is due to the caspase-dependent degradation of HuR, which triggers a process of senescence-associated SASP, ultimately preventing the cells from undergoing apoptosis. This is a regrettable circumstance since apoptosis of cells relaying inflammatory signals would have the potential to relieve the organism of the SASP that induces inflammation everywhere.

After a cellular insult, such as genotoxic stress, HuR binds to SIRT1 mRNA, triggering an anti-apoptotic and pro-survival gene expression program.¹⁸⁸ However, the involvement of HuR in cellular homeostasis extends beyond this function. It plays a role in the differentiation of pre-adipocytes by regulating the translation and stability of GLUT1 mRNA, indicating its importance in muscle and adipose tissue differentiation processes.¹⁸⁹ Reduced HuR levels are associated with increased cellular senescence. This is why HuR is considered the patron of the "young cell" phenotype.¹⁹⁰ In addition, HuR works in synergy with heat shock and calorie restriction, which enhance SIRT1 deacetylase activity, to respond to heat shock.¹⁸³

The tangled interplay between HuR-dependent HSR and the metabolic state of cells extends further. On the one hand, HuR regulates SIRT1 mRNA expression and stability, consequently influencing HSF1 expression and activity. On the other hand, HSF1 may fine-tune the transcription of HuR in a complex interplay involving AMPK, HuR, and SIRT1.59 Despite HuR may autoregulate its own expression through alternative polyadenylation site usage,¹⁹¹ HSF1 exerts tight control over HuR transcription.^{59,192-195} For HuR to operate adequately as an mRNA-binding protein, it has to be exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. Nevertheless, in predominantly metabolic stress conditions, AMPK robustly inhibits the translocation of HuR to the cytosol.^{196,197} Therefore, in these cases, increased AMPK activity directly contributed to the implementation of the senescent phenotype, as opposed to that observed when HuR is free to operate onto target mRNAs in the cytosol. As a consequence, AMPK activation can cause premature fibroblast senescence through mechanisms involving reduced HuR function.¹⁹⁰ During a predominantly proteotoxic stress (e.g., heat), however, inhibition of AMPK is beneficial to cell survival⁵⁷ in part because HuR is freed to stabilize SIRT1 thereby increasing HSF1 activity and the HSR. In fact, during a bona fide HSR, PP2A-mediated AMPK inhibition upregulates HSP70 expression at least partially through stabilizing its mRNA.57

The tumor suppressor kinase LKB1, which typically activates AMPK, may suppress HSF1 activity through

Ser121 phosphorylation, preventing its nuclear translocation, DNA binding, and transcriptional activity.¹⁹⁸ To the contrary, HSF1 may reciprocally suppress AMPK by directly enforcing an inactive conformation. By physically evoking conformational switching of AMPK, HSF1 impairs AMP binding to the γ -subunits, enhances the PP2A-mediated dephosphorylation, and impedes the LKB1-mediated phosphorylation of Thr172, as well as retards ATP binding to the catalytic α -subunits.⁵⁶ Curiously, activation of PP2A in the brains of zebrafish and mice does reverse age-related behavioral changes in senescent neurons.¹⁹⁹ This is why, when there is predominantly proteotoxic stress (which releases HSF1 from chaperones), there is also a concomitant blockade of AMPK. In toto, the final destination and metabolic direction of the HuR-SIRT1 duet depends ultimately on the predominance of either proteotoxic or metabolic stress conditions, that is, caloristasis.¹³

Apart from the above findings, SIRT1 has also been shown to mitigate ER stress and insulin resistance triggered by saturated fatty acids in hepatocyte-like cells.²⁰⁰ Additionally, alongside SIRT1, histone deacetylase 6 can detect protein aggregation and, through its ubiquitin-binding domain, relieve HSF1 from repression, resulting in the disassembly of inhibitory HSP90-HSF1 complexes, thereby enabling HSF1 activation in the presence of protein aggregation.⁵⁹ Resveratrol, a known inducer of SIRT1 metabolic action that obstructs NLRP3 inflammasome,²⁰¹ can shift the metabolism of mammals from a high-calorie diet to that of animals maintained on a standard diet. This is achieved by increasing insulin sensitivity, AMPK activity, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α), which in turn increases the mitochondrial number and oxidative metabolism.^{202,203} Moreover, SIRT1 activates PGC-1a through deacetylation, which stimulates the production and secretion of the myokine Irisin. This myokine acts in white adipose cells, both in vitro and in vivo, promoting a brown-fatlike phenotype through the stimulation of uncoupling protein-1 expression.²⁰⁴ This link between calorie restriction, physical exercise, and protective energy-consuming oxidative metabolism is crucial for preventing metabolic syndrome and age-related diseases. Additionally, there is significant evidence highlighting the tight link between calorie restriction and exercise-induced HSR with metabolic stress, which is protective of metabolism. This is achieved by inducing chaperones during a healthy HSR, through the participation of antisenescence SIRT1 pathways.²⁰⁵ Therefore, the interaction between HuR and SIRT1 is of critical importance for the beneficial effects of the anti-inflammatory and anti-senescence HSR.

As a whole, these findings indicate that the HSR is progressively suppressed under conditions that surpass the capacity of the UPR to operate in favor of proteostasis. Subsequently, this sets in motion a continuous activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, which, in a cascading effect, culminates in caspase-1-induced degradation of HuR. This degradation, in turn, results in a reduction in HSF1 expression and DNA-binding activity, ultimately leading to the dismantling of the HSR in such scenarios. Therefore, the Western lifestyle that constantly drives ER stress in adipose tissue culminates in UPR-elicited SASP via continuous activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, which triggers a limitless suppression of the HuR-SIRT1-HSF1 axis and the consequent abolishment of the HSR. By downregulating HSF1 expression (and its DNA-binding activity) and the consequent anti-inflammatory HSR, SASP contributes to its own initiation and perpetuation.¹⁷⁹ Worse still, adipose tissue-emanated pro-inflammatory cytokines spread out through the organism, triggering SASP and suppression of the HSR in other tissues, as approached next.

SASP-mediated inflammatory response in non-adipose tissues: Evidence of systemic spread

Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in adipocytes plays a deciding role in the onset of various metabolic diseases, such as atherosclerosis and insulin resistance.¹⁷² Interestingly, the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome seems to act as a "danger sensor" in response to injurious stimuli that induce senescence, such as UVB irradiation or metabolic stress from high extracellular glucose.²⁰⁶ In mononuclear cells of the immune system, including macrophages, NLRP3 inflammasome activation can be triggered by several signals, including glucose, palmitate, uric acid, ceramide, reactive oxygen species, and pancreatic islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP).²⁰⁷ In the context of Western HFD, the cleavage of SIRT1 induced by inflammation in adipose tissue is NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent.²⁰⁸ Additionally, genetic ablation of NLRP3-comprising its components or caspase-1 leads to improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in HFD animals.^{173,209} Curiously, metformin, a known inducer of AMPK activity, reduces NLRP3 protein expression and NLRP3 inflammasome activation in inflammatory macrophages,²¹⁰ thus operating as a proteostasis-saving kinase facilitating HSF1 activity and the HSR.

Obesity triggers the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in response to modified low-density lipoprotein particles, free fatty acids (particularly saturated), and intracellular cholesterol crystals, thereby modulating adipocyte differentiation and insulin sensitivity.^{173,211} Actually, high cholesterol levels explain inflammation in the cardiovascular system due to NLRP3 inflammasome activation as well.²¹² Notably, glucose directly stimulates caspase-1 activity,²⁰⁷ adding yet another harmful consequence of hyperglycemia observed in diabetes mellitus of any type. NLRP3 inflammasome senses obesity-associated danger signals and contributes to obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance.²¹³ Hyperglycemia, palmitate, uric acid, LPS, and IAPP all prime the activation of inflammasomes in target cells, such as adipocytes, macrophages, hepatocytes, and the islet of Langerhans cells, promoting the start of caspase-1 mRNA expression. Moreover, the aggregates of IAPP are toxic to pancreatic β -cells and associated with the pathogenesis of T2DM. IAPP is also able to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome.²¹⁴ One concerning aspect of this narrative is the extended and copious activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and the resulting dissemination of SASP, which eventually leads to cellular senescence instead of apoptosis in target cells. Senescent cells resist apoptosis, perpetuating chronic inflammation in tissues and sustaining chronic inflammatory diseases throughout the body.^{172,206,215}

In the context of feminine endocrinology, estrogen is a potent inducer of the HSR.¹⁰ Accordingly, estrogen depletion is linked to various inflammatory events in the CNS that are associated with NLRP3 inflammasome activation. However, in menopause, estrogen replacement can potentially alleviate this scenario by inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation through the type β estrogen receptor pathway.²¹⁶ This has also been observed in reproductively senescent female rats.²¹⁷ Similarly, after global cerebral ischemia, a condition that causes significant oxidative stress and inflammation, local estrogen administration has been found to completely inhibit NLRP3 inflammasome activation and its associated inflammatory pattern.²¹⁸ Both estrogen and progesterone are known to modulate inflammasome activation and mediate anti-inflammation in the CNS.²¹⁹ These findings align with estrogen's anti-inflammatory effects, which mirror its anti-senescence actions. This lends support to the notion that some of estrogen's protective effects stem from its ability to maintain a robust HSR by disrupting the destructive cycle that diminishes HSF1 availability due to SASP and cellular senescence. Notably, heat shock treatment impedes the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome,²²⁰ thereby overcoming the destruction of HuR and tissue senescence associated with depressed HSF1 expression and low HSR. Hence, paradoxically, heat shock alone

can re-establish the HSR. These observations, alongside the findings described in Schroeder *et al.*,²²¹ suggest that heat treatment should be evaluated in menopausal women.

The association between metabolic stress-induced ER stress in adipose tissue and unresolved inflammation centered on the continuous activation of NF-xB members is a causal factor for the progression of metabolic diseases and has, in essence, the overwhelmed UPR being ultimately responsible for the continuous secretory profile of cytokines.^{222,223} This "seeding" of inflammation takes place initially in the adipose tissue and then spreads throughout all body tissues that work as SASP-relaying points.³ SASP-associated production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-18, has been linked to a persistent DNA damage response²²⁴ and, consequently, to an antiapoptotic senescence state. This perpetuates SASP-induced inflammation in all body tissues. There is an interaction between genes that regulate intermediate metabolism and those of the immune system, such as $TNF\alpha$, leptin, adiponectin, resistin, interleukins IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and C-reactive protein, just to cite a few examples, and all of them tend to impose a SASP and apoptosisresistant senescence. In this regard, $TNF\alpha$ is known to activate signal transduction cascades, including some pathways strictly involved in inhibiting insulin action, such as the activation of JNKs. These kinases are particularly critical to insulin signaling in adipose tissue and striated muscle because they phosphorylate insulin receptors and other coupling proteins in serine residues, blocking the normal post-receptor insulin signals.²²⁵ Activation of Toll-like receptor 4 in the intestine, due to nutritional and energy imbalances, leads to a change in the microbiota (gut dysbiosis) that also results in insulin resistance.^{147,226} TNF α is strongly expressed in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle of obese individuals and, when administered in the circulation, induces insulin resistance.²²⁷ Conversely, inhibition of the action of this cytokine in a model of obesity in rats leads to an increase of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in adipose tissue.²²⁸ TNF α reduces insulin signaling by inducing phosphorylation of IRS-1 in Ser307 in skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, and liver, while in the liver, this cytokine acts dependently on JNKs.^{229,230} Furthermore, in a remarkable evolutionary innovation, a distinct negative feedback mechanism was introduced into insulin signaling to disrupt excessive downstream signal transduction via insulin receptors. This involves the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-dependent activation of the very JNKs, which disrupts insulin signals.²³¹ TNFα also imposes a similar inhibition over IRS-1 in muscle and fat tissues from obese rats.²³⁰ Consequently,

excessive insulin concentrations undeniably result in insulin resistance (i.e., *insulin-dependent insulin resistance*) and the generation of inflammatory signals in target tissues.

Since continuous activation of NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent and NF-κB-dependent production of pro-inflammatory cytokines become perpetual, pro-inflammatory kinases, such as JNKs, are rendered vigorously active inhibiting insulin signaling,²²⁵ which could be avoided by the direct binding of HSP70 to them.²³² Studies from this laboratory with individuals undergoing bariatric surgery also show that the inflammatory process that begins in the adipose tissue spreads out to the liver, leading to a reduction in the expression of HSF1 and HSP70 with a significant increase in the expression of JNKs both in the liver and adipose tissue.¹⁴⁴

As approached in the previous sections, GSK-3 β , a serine/threonine protein kinase responsible for phosphorylating specific target serine and threonine amino acid residues, physiologically and constitutively inactivates HSF1 under normal cellular conditions.²³³ Conversely, GSK-3^β inactivation is contingent upon the PI3K pathway, effectively making it dependent on the insulin signaling pathway.⁹⁵ This elucidates why, during the development of insulin resistance, the mechanism for GSK-36 inactivation via AMPK and SIRT1 fails, resulting in the continuous suppression of HSF1 activity.²³⁴ The reduced activity of the HSR pathway is directly linked to insulin resistance and the worsening of type 2 diabetes.^{127,151} Therefore, it is crucial to monitor the temporal progression of chronic inflammatory diseases with regard to impaired HSR.²²¹

Since both HuR and SIRT1 are recognized as antisenescent and anti-inflammatory proteins,¹⁰ senolytic therapies have been developed and are now in clinical trials. These therapies employ drugs (known as senolytics) that preferentially target senescent cells and selectively eliminate them by inducing apoptosis.235,236 The aim is to stop the noxious ER-stress-SASP-inflammation vicious cycle and restore the physiological resolution of inflammation via HSR. Senescent cells can be dysfunctional, decreasing the survival rate even in young animals, whereas senolytics can enhance the lifespan of older ones.²³⁷ In fact, combinations of FDAapproved senolytic drugs, such as quercetin and azithromycin, have been proposed for treating COVID-19 patients,²³⁸ particularly those with chronic metabolic diseases of an inflammatory nature, which pose a significant threat to these patients.¹²⁰

Although having underlying mechanisms not completely understood, aging may also be associated with deficient HSR. Aging is a complex process modulated by different molecular and cellular events, such as genome instability, epigenetic and transcriptional changes, molecular damage, cell death, proliferative senescence, inflammation, and metabolic dysfunction.⁹ Particularly, protein quality control (i.e., chaperone systems) tends to be negatively affected by aging, thus leading to cellular senescence in metabolic tissues and, as a consequence, to the increased dissemination of inflammation throughout the body. Of particular note is the age-dependent increase in inhibitory signals directed to HSPs, as well as hyperacetylation that is associated with a significant reduction in the activity of HSF1 in binding to DNA.²³⁹ Hence, cellular senescence is a common link in the chain of chronic degenerative diseases, including during aging, because, as stated here, SASP-producing cells are extremely resistant to apoptosis and allow for a state of low-grade chronic inflammation all the way through the organism.^{3,9}

A substantial body of research has explored the link between activating the HSR and extending longevity. In the nematode C. elegans, the post-reproductive stage is marked by a sudden decline in protein quality control.^{9,240} Consequently, the capacity to respond effectively to heat stress becomes a crucial characteristic of longer-lived animals. In C. elegans, overexpression of the HSF1 orthologue, hsf1, in all tissues enhances resilience to stress and retards aging. Overexpression of hsf1 in the CNS, on the other hand, is sufficient to enhance both protection against acute thermal stress and longevity,²⁴¹ possibly because this maneuver triggers cell-nonautonomous regulation of proteostasis through TCS.³⁴ Interestingly, a cold-sensitive strain of Hvdra oligactis shifts from asexual budding to sexual reproduction when exposed to temperature stress (from 18 to 10 °C). This involves an upregulation not only of gametogenesis-related genes, but also of those related to cellular senescence, apoptosis, and DNA repair, as well as downregulation of genes involved in stem cell maintenance.²⁴² Sexual reproduction in Hydra species, as in vertebrates, is typically triggered or impeded by environmental cues indicative of proteotoxic or metabolic stress conditions (caloristasis). Under favorable environmental circumstances, Hydra primarily reproduces through asexual budding and does not exhibit noticeable gametogenesis.^{243,244} Sexual reproduction, characterized by increased sperm and/or egg production from interstitial stem cells, can be induced in Hydra by environmental stressors such as food scarcity, crowding, or low temperatures, akin to conditions associated with the onset of winter.²⁴⁵

As organisms age, they frequently encounter functional decline, giving rise to conditions such as sarcopenia, atherosclerosis, heart and kidney failure, osteoporosis, macular degeneration, pulmonary insufficiency, and neurodegeneration, including Alzheimer's and Parkinson's

diseases.¹⁷⁷ These conditions all share a common thread: senescence and the SASP. For a comprehensive understanding of the role of SASP, readers are encouraged to consult the thorough review by Tchkonia and colleagues,²⁴⁶ which offers an in-depth perspective. Additionally, Zhu and collaborators have extensively detailed SASP's involvement in age-related chronic diseases.²²⁴ It is noteworthy that Ames dwarf mice possess a 40-60% enhanced lifespan as compared to wild mice. Curiously, these animals concomitantly present an impressive insulin sensitivity in the skeletal muscle and liver.²⁴⁷ This abnormal longevity is associated with altered methionine metabolism in these tissues leading to a complete modification of cysteine metabolism and enhanced antioxidant metabolism as compared to wild mice.²⁴⁸ In contrast to typical aging patterns, it has been shown that the levels of HSF1 protein and mRNA in Ames dwarf mice actually increase as they age and can be further enhanced by exposure to stress! This suggests that exceptional longevity may be linked to compensatory and improved regulation of HSF1 as a response to age-related pressures that would otherwise suppress the heat shock axis,²³⁹ as previously pointed out.²⁴⁹ These findings corroborate once again that HSR is strongly linked to energy metabolism,¹⁶ as prophesied by Ritossa in his first papers on the effects of heat shock on polytene chromosomes of Drosophila spp.^{250–252} and recently confirmed.^{13,58,59}

Cardiovascular dysfunctions, which are prevalent during aging, are closely related to other metabolic diseases, particularly in terms of depressed HSR, which is always evident. Metabolic changes caused by overutilization of preadipocytes lead to obesity, which is accompanied by a state of cellular senescence that impairs an effective HSR when needed.^{175,179,246} Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-18, which are produced as a result of SASP-related cytokine storm, spread throughout the body, promoting insulin resistance²⁵³ and negatively affect blood vessels and the heart, impairing both tissue repair and the efficiency of antioxidant systems.^{254–258} Ultimately, this leads to low-grade sterile inflammation that cannot be cured.³ Obesity not only causes insulin resistance and impairs the HSR in blood vessels, but it also heightens vascular senescence and susceptibility to ischemic injury, increasing the likelihood of peripheral and cerebral ischemic episodes. Moreover, cellular senescence of vascular smooth muscle cells stimulates atherosclerosis (an essentially inflammatory disease) and plaque vulnerability.176,256,259,260

Although senescence can initially cause growth arrest (which could impede the dissemination of inflammatory cells), it also triggers the production of various growth factors and pro-inflammatory cytokines

that contribute to SASP.^{255,261} As time passes, the SASP can lead to chronic oxidative stress²⁶² and low-grade inflammation in the vascular intima-media layers, which is a hallmark of atherosclerosis.²⁶³ While vascular HSR may indeed increase during the early phases of atherogenesis,^{264–267} it eventually collapses during later stages, contributing to the loss of proteostasis, deregulated nutrient sensing, and plaque instability.^{254,268} In summary, although senescence initially could have a desirable (antiproliferative) effect on the vascular wall and adipose tissue by causing growth arrest, it ultimately leads to the production of harmful growth factors and pro-inflammatory cytokines that cause chronic oxidative stress and inflammation. As a result, cellular senescence (which occurs during organismal aging) can cause DNA damage and weaken antioxidant responses, leading to increased vascular inflammation and worsening of atherosclerosis.^{145,256} It is noteworthy that heat stress has long been shown to reduce free-radicalmediated oxidative stress in the heart²⁶⁹ whereas HSP70 suppresses neuroinflammation caused by protein aggregation.^{270,271} Actually, pharmacological treatments based on A-type cyPGs, which are powerful HSR inducers, have been shown to prevent the progression of atherosclerotic lesions in mice.²⁷² In addition, taking into account that oxidative stress disrupts the interaction between HuR and SIRT1 mRNA due to NLRP3 inflammasome activation,¹⁷⁰ physiological maneuvers intended to remediate the HSR through heat treatments^{139,156,273-275} emerge as alternatives to pharmacological interventions, as approached in Schroeder et al.²²¹

Aging is considered the strongest independent risk factor for developing atherosclerosis.²⁷⁶ It induces vascular smooth muscle cell senescence, which triggers peripheral monocytosis and macrophage recruitment within atherosclerotic lesions.²⁷⁷ Similarly, aging-associated senescence in the heart reduces tissue capacity to respond to stress and protect against injury.²⁷⁸ Cellular senescence plays a central role in the etiology and progression of various chronic inflammatory diseases, including atherosclerosis, hypertension, diabetes, osteoarthritis, and Alzheimer's disease,²²⁴ as it parallels the development of dysfunction in different tissues.

As a whole, the failure of the HSR due to SASP can have serious consequences for our health, including an increased risk of chronic degenerative diseases of an inflammatory nature. However, there is hope. By making simple lifestyle changes and incorporating practices such as regular exercise, sauna, and hot tub use, we can help to reactivate and support the body's HSR. Sauna and hot tubs are particularly useful for those with limited access to exercise. These methods have been used for centuries and have been shown to have significant health benefits. Additionally, pharmacological approaches may also hold promise for activating the HSR in those with chronic diseases. These specific points and the clinical significance of evaluating the HSR using cost-effective and accessible tools are presented in the review article by Schroeder *et al.*²²¹

Conclusion

Delving into the perplexing interplay between the modern Western lifestyle and the failure of the HSR to orchestrate the resolution of inflammation is akin to savoring the nuances of a symphony. Because of this, we decided to stay seated in the front row of this intricate performance, where every note and crescendo reveals the profound implications of caloristasis imbalances on the grand stage of human health.

In the dazzling tapestry of metabolic management, metazoans possess a remarkable arsenal to counteract the perils of energy scarcity, orchestrating a symphony of physiological mechanisms at both the macro and micro scales. At the macro scale, the SNS acts as the conductor of homeostasis, directing the harmonious glycogenolysis in muscle and liver tissues. Glucagon, growth hormone, and corticotropin-releasing hormone chime in as key instrumentalists. At the micro-scale, AMPK, GSK-3β, SIRT1, and HuR oversee the intricacies of oxidative metabolism. However, in remarkable contrast, when it comes to managing abundant energy reserves, there is a singular dominant conductor: the insulin pathways. Additionally, and quite remarkably, evolution introduced an innovation utilizing a unique negative feedback mechanism in insulin signaling to prevent excessive downstream signal transduction through insulin receptors. This mechanism involves PI3K-dependent activation of JNKs, effectively halting insulin signals. Therefore, excess insulin concentrations undoubtedly lead to insulin resistance and inflammatory signals originating from target tissues. In other words, the blueprint of evolution did not anticipate the need to navigate the challenges posed by our contemporary societies' abundance of energy surplus. This, in part, elucidates the extraordinary difficulty our organisms encounter in combating the conditions that lead to caloristasis imbalances, ultimately instigating the inception of chronic inflammatory symphonies by stifling the melodies of the HSR.

Chronic degenerative diseases, with their inflammatory overtures, emerge from the discord of caloristasis imbalances, orchestrating the debilitating SASP and silencing the HSR's harmonious resolution. While the ancient score of human genetics and metabolism remains relatively unaltered over millions of years, our modern lifestyle, marked by surplus energy intake and insufficient physical activity, exacerbates this dissonance. Rising rates of obesity and diabetes, along with their associations with a host of other chronic maladies, create a chorus of progressive failure to resolve inflammation.

During the grand overture of vertebrate evolution, inflammation evolved as a defense mechanism against harmful microorganisms and for tissue repair, with two distinct phases: initiation and resolution. It is precisely the resolution phase that is increasingly compromised, leading to low-grade inflammation underlying these chronic diseases. The HSR, an evolutionarily conserved pathway, plays a critical role in resolving inflammation by restoring proteostasis in cells. However, the constant activation of UPR turns on inflammasomes, particularly NLRP3, leading to the degradation of HuR and a decline in HSR effectiveness. Proliferative senescence triggered by continuous NLRP3 activation imposes SASP, which perpetuates chronic inflammation, especially in adipose tissue. Senescent adipose cells, in turn, resist apoptosis, further propagating inflammation to various tissues. Consequently, metabolic diseases like insulin reand sistance. atherosclerosis, neurodegeneration emerge.

To restore the symphony of health, further research must uncover the hidden notes of HSR impairment and compose more efficacious therapies. The crescendo of chronic inflammation and its accompanying infirmities resonates globally, emphasizing the urgency of harnessing the symphonic power of the HSR in this enduring battle.

"Quæ medicamenta non sanat æ ferrum sanat. Quæ ferrum non sanat æ ignis sanat. Quæ vero ignis non sanat æ insanabilia existimare oportet.

That which drugs fail to cure the scalpel can cure. That which the scalpel fails to cure heat can cure. If heat cannot cure, it must be determined to be incurable."

(Aphorisms of Hippocrates, by Elias Marks, from the Latin version of Verhoofd, Collins & Co., New York, 1817)

Funding and support This work has been supported by the State of Rio Grande do Sul Foundation for Research Support (FAPERGS/Decit/SCTIE/MS/CNPq/SESRS n. 03/2017-PPSUS #17/2551-0001424-3 to MK and #19/2551-0001713-8 to PIHdB) and the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq, process #303853/2017-4 to PIHdB, process #307926/2022-2 to TGH and process # 302959/2020-3 to MK). Financial support from CAPES (Coordination of Superior Level Staff Improvement) is also acknowledged.

Author contribution PIHdB conceptualized the paper, prepared the initial draft, and oversaw its finalization. All the authors were involved in co-writing this work. PIHdB prepared the figures. All the authors have read and agreed to the submitted and published versions of the manuscript.

Data availability statement Data will be made available on request.

Declarations of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest and no competing interests such as consultancies, financial involvement, patent ownership, etc. in relation to the work described. CNPq, FAPERGS, and CAPES (the funding organisms) had no involvement in the propositions presented in this manuscript.

Acknowledgments The authors are indebted to Dr. Maria Inês Lavina Rodrigues for her invaluable technical support during the experiments that support many of the findings described herein. The authors apologize for not including many important primary studies in their text due to space constraints. Their goal was to ensure a smooth flow of information throughout the text.

References

- 1. WHO. Noncommunicable diseases. World Health Organization; 2023. Available at: https://www.who.int/ health-topics/noncommunicable-diseases#tab=tab_1. Accessed December 11, 2023.
- Soukas A, Cohen P, Socci ND, Friedman JM. Leptin-specific patterns of gene expression in white adipose tissue. *Genes Dev.* 2000;14:963–980. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad. 14.8.963
- Newsholme P, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. The fat cell senescence hypothesis: a mechanism responsible for abrogating the resolution of inflammation in chronic disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2014;17:295–305. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000077
- Pedersen BK. Exercise-induced myokines and their role in chronic diseases. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2011;25:811–816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2011.02.010
- Pedersen B, Febbraio M. Muscles, exercise and obesity: skeletal muscle as a secretory organ. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2012;8:457–465. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2012.49
- Ahima RS, Park HK. Connecting myokines and metabolism. *Endocrinol Metab.* 2015;30:235–245. https://doi.org/ 10.3803/EnM.2015.30.3.235
- Grannell A, Kokkinos A, le Roux CW. Myokines in appetite control and energy balance. *Muscles*. 2022;1:26–47. https:// doi.org/10.3390/muscles1010003
- Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. *Science*. 2004;306:457–461. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1103160
- Leite JSM, Cruzat VF, Krause MS, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Physiological regulation of the heat shock response by glutamine: implications for chronic low-grade inflammatory diseases in age-related conditions. *Nutrire*. 2016;41:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41110-016-0021-y
- Miragem AA, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Nitric oxide-heat shock protein axis in menopausal hot flushes: neglected metabolic issues of chronic inflammatory diseases associated with deranged heat shock response. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2017;23:600–628. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmx020
- 11. Rebeaud ME, Mallik S, Goloubinoff P, Tawfik DS. On the evolution of chaperones and cochaperones and the expansion of

proteomes across the Tree of Life. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2021;118:e2020885118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2020885118

- Laskey RA, Honda BM, Mills AD, Finch JT. Nucleosomes are assembled by an acidic protein which binds histones and transfers them to DNA. *Nature*. 1978;275:416–420. https:// doi.org/10.1038/275416a0
- Tezgin D, Giardina C, Perdrizet GA, Hightower LE. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen on mitochondrial and glycolytic energy metabolism: the caloristasis concept. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2020;25:667–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-020-01100-5
- Kampinga HH, Craig EA. The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2010;11:579–592. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2941
- Rowles JE, Keane KN, Gomes Heck T, Cruzat V, Verdile G, Newsholme P. Are heat shock proteins an important link between type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer disease? *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21:8204. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21218204
- Schroeder HT, De Lemos Muller CH, Heck TG, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. The Dance of Proteostasis and Metabolism: Unveiling the Caloristatic Controlling Switch. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2024:S1355-8145(24)00050-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres.2024.02.002. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 38331164.
- Kampinga HH, Hageman J, Vos MJ, et al. Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2009;14:105–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0068-7
- Marszalek J, De Los Rio P, Cyr D, et al. J-Domain Proteins: from molecular mechanisms to diseases. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres.2023.12.002. (in press).
- Hageman J, Kampinga HH. Computational analysis of the human HSPH/HSPA/DNAJ family and cloning of a human HSPH/HSPA/DNAJ expression library. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2009;14:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0060-2
- Daugaard M, Rohde M, Jäättelä M. The heat shock protein 70 family: highly homologous proteins with overlapping and distinct functions. *FEBS Lett.* 2007;581:3702–3710. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.05.039
- Schöler CM, Marques CV, Da Silva GS, Heck TG, De Oliveira Junior LP, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Modulation of rat monocyte/macrophage innate functions by increasing intensities of swimming exercise is associated with heat shock protein status. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2016;421:111–125. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11010-016-2791-1
- Campisi J, Fleshner M. Role of extracellular HSP72 in acute stress-induced potentiation of innate immunity in active rats. J Appl Physiol. 2003;94:43–52. https://doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00681.2002
- Johnson JD, Campisi J, Sharkey CM, Kennedy SL, Nickerson M, Fleshner M. Adrenergic receptors mediate stress-induced elevations in extracellular Hsp72. J Appl Physiol. 2005;99: 1789–1795. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00390.2005
- Beninson LA, Brown PN, Loughridge AB, et al. Acute stressor exposure modifies plasma exosome-associated heat shock protein 72 (Hsp72) and microRNA (miR-142-5p and miR-203. *PLoS One.* 2014;9:e108748. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0108748
- Heck TG, Schöler CM, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. HSP70 expression: does it a novel fatigue signalling factor from immune system to the brain? *Cell Biochem Funct*. 2011;29: 215–226. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbf.1739
- Heck TG, Scomazzon SP, Nunes PR, et al. Acute exercise boosts cell proliferation and the heat shock response in lymphocytes: correlation with cytokine production and extracellular-to-

intracellular HSP70 ratio. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2017;22:271–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-017-0771-3

- Asea A. Initiation of the immune response by extracellular Hsp72: chaperokine activity of Hsp72. *Curr Immunol Rev.* 2006;2:209–215. https://doi.org/10.2174/157339506778018514
- 28. De Maio A. Extracellular heat shock proteins, cellular export vesicles, and the Stress Observation System: a form of communication during injury, infection, and cell damage. It is never known how far a controversial finding will go! Dedicated to Ferruccio Ritossa. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2011;16:235–249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-010-0236-4
- 29. De Maio A, Vazquez D. Extracellular heat shock proteins: a new location, a new function. *Shock*. 2013;40:239–246. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK.0b013e3182a185ab
- Krause M, Bock PM, Takahashi HK, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI, Newsholme P. The regulatory roles of NADPH oxidase, intra- and extra-cellular HSP70 in pancreatic islet function, dysfunction and diabetes. *Clin Sci.* 2015;128:789–803. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20140695
- Prahlad V, Cornelius T, Morimoto RI. Regulation of the cellular heat shock response in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by thermosensory neurons. *Science*. 2008;320:811–814. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.1156093
- Nakamura K. Central circuitries for body temperature regulation and fever. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2011;301:R1207–R1228. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu. 00109.2011
- Miller HA, Dean ES, Pletcher SD, Leiser SF. Cell non-autonomous regulation of health and longevity. *Elife*. 2020;9:e62659. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.62659
- Morimoto RI. Cell-Nonautonomous regulation of proteostasis in aging and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2020;12:a034074. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect. a034074
- Van Oosten-Hawle P, Morimoto RI. Transcellular chaperone signaling: an organismal strategy for integrated cell stress responses. J Exp Biol. 2014;217:129–136. https://doi. org/10.1242/jeb.091249
- 36. Van Oosten-Hawle P, Morimoto RI. Organismal proteostasis: role of cell-nonautonomous regulation and transcellular chaperone signaling. *Genes Dev.* 2014;28:1533–1543. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.241125.114
- Jones LM, Chen Y, Van Oosten-Hawle P. Redefining proteostasis transcription factors in organismal stress responses, development, metabolism, and health. *Biol Chem.* 2020;401:1005–1018. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2019-0385
- Miles J, Townend S, Milonaitytė D, et al. Transcellular chaperone signaling is an intercellular stress-response distinct from the HSF-1-mediated heat shock response. *PLoS Biol.* 2023;21:e3001605. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pbio.3001605
- Shimizu H, Okabe M. Evolutionary origin of autonomic regulation of physiological activities in vertebrate phyla. J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol. 2007;193:1013–1019. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-007-0256-4
- Körner A, Schlegel M, Kaussen T, et al. Sympathetic nervous system controls resolution of inflammation via regulation of repulsive guidance molecule A. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10:633. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08328-5
- Olazábal UE, Pfaff DW, Mobbs CV. Estrogenic regulation of heat shock protein 90 kDa in the rat ventromedial hypothalamus and uterus. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*. 1992;84:175–183. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0303-7207(92)90028-5

- 42. Olazábal UE, Pfaff DW, Mobbs CV. Sex differences in the regulation of heat shock protein 70 kDa and 90 kDa in the rat ventromedial hypothalamus by estrogen. *Brain Res.* 1992;596:311–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)91563-t
- 43. Ludwig MS, Minguetti-Câmara VC, Heck TG, et al. Shortterm but not long-term hypoglycaemia enhances plasma levels and hepatic expression of HSP72 in insulin-treated rats: an effect associated with increased IL-6 levels but not with IL-10 or TNFα. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2014;397:97–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-014-2176-2
- 44. Febbraio MA, Mesa JL, Chung J, et al. Glucose ingestion attenuates the exercise-induced increase in circulating heat shock protein 72 and heat shock protein 60 in humans. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2004;9:390–396. https://doi.org/10.1379/ csc-24r1.1
- Sprague JE, Arbeláez AM. Glucose counterregulatory responses to hypoglycemia. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* 2011;9:463–473.
- 46. Garfield AS, Shah BP, Madara JC, et al. A parabrachial-hypothalamic cholecystokinin neurocircuit controls counterregulatory responses to hypoglycemia. *Cell Metab.* 2014;20: 1030–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2014.11.006
- Matz JM, LaVoi KP, Blake MJ. Adrenergic regulation of the heat shock response in brown adipose tissue. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 1996;277:1751–1758.
- Matz JM, LaVoi KP, Moen RJ, Blake MJ. Cold-induced heat shock protein expression in rat aorta and brown adipose tissue. *Physiol Behav.* 1996;60:1369–1374. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0031-9384(96)00220-x
- Lacoste A, De Cian MC, Cueff A, Poulet SA. Noradrenaline and alpha-adrenergic signaling induce the hsp70 gene promoter in mollusc immune cells. J Cell Sci. 2001;114: 3557–3564. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.114.19.3557
- Lacoste A, Malham SK, Cueff A, Poulet AS. Noradrenaline modulates oyster hemocyte phagocytosis via a beta-adrenergic receptor-cAMP signaling pathway. *Gen Comp Endocrinol.* 2001;122:252–259. https://doi.org/10.1006/gcen. 2001.7643
- Giraldo E, Multhoff G, Ortega E. Noradrenaline increases the expression and release of Hsp72 by human neutrophils. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2010;24:672–677. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbi.2010.02.003
- Cox SS, Speaker KJ, Beninson LA, Craig WC, Paton MM, Fleshner M. Adrenergic and glucocorticoid modulation of the sterile inflammatory response. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2014;36:183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2013.11.018
- 53. McBride A, Ghilagaber S, Nikolaev A, Hardie DG. The glycogen-binding domain on the AMPK beta subunit allows the kinase to act as a glycogen sensor. *Cell Metab.* 2009;9:23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.11.008
- 54. Arora DK, Machhadieh B, Matti A, Wadzinski BE, Ramanadham S, Kowluru A. High glucose exposure promotes activation of protein phosphatase 2A in rodent islets and INS-1 832/13 β-cells by increasing the posttranslational carboxylmethylation of its catalytic subunit. *Endocrinology*. 2014;155:380–391. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2013-1773
- Gimeno-Alcañiz JV, Sanz P. Glucose and type 2A protein phosphatase regulates the interaction between catalytic and regulatory subunits of AMP-activated protein kinase. *J Mol Biol.* 2003;333:201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2003.08.022
- Su KH, Dai S, Tang Z, Xu M, Dai C. Heat shock factor 1 is a direct antagonist of AMP-activated protein kinase. *Mol Cell.* 2019;76:546–561.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2019. 08.021
- 57. Wang T, Yu Q, Chen J, Deng B, Qian L, Le Y. PP2A mediated AMPK inhibition promotes HSP70 expression in

heat shock response. *PLoS One.* 2010;5:e13096. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013096

- Dai S, Tang Z, Cao J, et al. Suppression of the HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress response by the metabolic stress sensor AMPK. *EMBO J.* 2015;34:275–293. https://doi.org/10. 15252/embj.201489062
- Dai C. The heat-shock, or HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress, response in cancer: from proteomic stability to oncogenesis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2018;373:20160525. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0525
- Febbraio MA, Ott P, Nielsen HB, et al. Exercise induces hepatosplanchnic release of heat shock protein 72 in humans. J Physiol. 2002;544:957–962. https://doi.org/10.1113/ jphysiol.2002.025148
- Speaker KJ, Cox SS, Paton MM, et al. Six weeks of voluntary wheel running modulates inflammatory protein (MCP-1, IL-6, and IL-10) and DAMP (Hsp72) responses to acute stress in white adipose tissue of lean rats. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2014;39:87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2013.10.028
- Ortega E, Giraldo E, Hinchado MD, et al. Role of Hsp72 and norepinephrine in the moderate exercise-induced stimulation of neutrophils' microbicide capacity. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2006;98:250–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-006-0269-7
- Ortega E, Hinchado MD, Martín-Cordero L, Asea A. The effect of stress-inducible extracellular Hsp72 on human neutrophil chemotaxis: a role during acute intense exercise. *Stress.* 2009;12:240–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890802309853
- 64. Febbraio MA, Steensberg A, Walsh R, et al. Reduced glycogen availability is associated with an elevation in HSP72 in contracting human skeletal muscle. J Physiol. 2002;538:911–917. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2001.013145
- Tornero-Aguilera JF, Jimenez-Morcillo J, Rubio-Zarapuz A, Clemente-Suárez VJ. Central and peripheral fatigue in physical exercise explained: a narrative review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 2022;19:3909. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph19073909
- Febbraio MA, Koukoulas I. HSP72 gene expression progressively increases in human skeletal muscle during prolonged, exhaustive exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2000;89: 1055–1060. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2000.89.3.1055
- Krüger K, Reichel T, Zeilinger C. Role of heat shock proteins 70/90 in exercise physiology and exercise immunology and their diagnostic potential in sports. *J Appl Physiol.* 2019;126:916–927. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01052.201
- Chow LS, Gerszten RE, Taylor JM, et al. Exerkines in health, resilience and disease. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2022;18:273–289. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-022-00641-2
- 69. Švec X, Štorkánová H, Špiritović M, et al. Hsp90 as a myokine: its association with systemic inflammation after exercise interventions in patients with myositis and healthy subjects. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23:11451. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms231911451
- Paulsen G, Lauritzen F, Bayer ML, et al. Subcellular movement and expression of HSP27, αB-crystallin, and HSP70 after two bouts of eccentric exercise in humans. J Appl Physiol. 2009;107:570–582. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00209.2009
- Curi R, Newsholme P, Marzuca-Nassr GN, et al. Regulatory principles in metabolism-then and now. *Biochem J.* 2016;473:1845–1857. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160103
- 72. He B, Meng YH, Mivechi NF. Glycogen synthase kinase-3β and extracellular signal-regulated kinase inactivate heat shock transcription factor 1 by facilitating the disappearance of transcriptionally active granules after heat shock. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1998;18:6624–6633. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB. 18.11.6624

- 73. Kazemi Z, Chang H, Haserodt S, McKen C, Zachara NE. Olinked beta-N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) regulates stress-induced heat shock protein expression in a GSK-3βdependent manner. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:39096–39107. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.131102
- 74. Heck TG, Scomazzon SP, Ludwig MS, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Role of Heat Shock Proteins in Skeletal Muscle. In: Julianna Cseried. Skeletal Muscle - From Myogenesis to Clinical Relations. Rijeka, Croatia: Intech Open Access Publisher; 2012:105–122. https://doi.org/10.5772/47815
- 75. Newsholme P, Keane K, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI, Murphy C, Krause MS. Type 1 Diabetes Alan PEscher, ed. *The Impact of Inflammation on Pancreatic β-cell Metabolism, Function and Failure in T1DM and T2DM: Commonalities and Differences.* Rijeka, Croatia: Intech Open Access Publisher; 2013:127–165. https://doi.org/10.5772/55349. Type 1 Diabetes.
- Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI, Newsholme P. A novel l-arginine/l-glutamine coupling hypothesis: implications for type 1 diabetes. In: Chih-Pin Liued. Type 1 Diabetes -Complications, Pathogenesis, and Alternative Treatments. Rijeka, Croatia: Intech Open Access Publisher; 2011:241–284. https://doi.org/10.5772/20759
- Gomez-Pastor R, Burchfiel ET, Thiele DJ. Regulation of heat shock transcription factors and their roles in physiology and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2018;19:4–19. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrm.2017.73
- Kaji H. Crosstalk between muscle and bone. J Bone Miner Metab. 2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00774-023-01472-5. (in press).
- Berger JM, Singh P, Khrimian L, et al. Mediation of the acute stress response by the skeleton. *Cell Metab.* 2019;30:890–902.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.08.012
- Karsenty G, Olson EN. Bone and muscle endocrine functions: unexpected paradigms of inter-organ communication. *Cell.* 2016;164:1248–1256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.043
- Reinehr T, Roth CL. A new link between skeleton, obesity and insulin resistance: relationships between osteocalcin, leptin and insulin resistance in obese children before and after weight loss. *Int J Obes*. 2010;34:852–858. https://doi. org/10.1038/ijo.2009.282
- Ferron M, Lacombe J. Regulation of energy metabolism by the skeleton: osteocalcin and beyond. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2014;561:137–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2014.05.022
- Hang K, Ye C, Chen E, Zhang W, Xue D, Pan Z. Role of the heat shock protein family in bone metabolism. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2018;23:1153–1164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-018-0932-z
- 84. Kato K, Adachi S, Matsushima-Nishiwaki R, et al. Regulation by heat shock protein 27 of osteocalcin synthesis in osteoblasts. *Endocrinology*. 2011;152:1872–1882. https:// doi.org/10.1210/en.2010-1062
- 85. Tang S, Buriro R, Liu Z, et al. Localization and expression of Hsp27 and αB-crystallin in rat primary myocardial cells during heat stress in vitro. *PLoS One.* 2013;8:e69066. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069066
- Katsogiannou M, Andrieu C, Rocchi P. Heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation state is associated with cancer progression. *Front Genet.* 2014;5:346. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene. 2014.00346
- 87. Chen HW, Kuo HT, Wang SJ, Lu TS, Yang RC. In vivo heat shock protein assembles with septic liver NF-κB/I-κB complex regulating NF-κB activity. *Shock*. 2005;24:232–238.
- 88. Martínez de Toda I, De la Fuente M. The role of Hsp70 in oxi-inflamm-aging and its use as a potential biomarker of

lifespan. Biogerontology. 2015;16:709–721. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10522-015-9607-7

- Borges TJ, Wieten L, van Herwijnen MJ, et al. The antiinflammatory mechanisms of Hsp70. Front Immunol. 2012;3:95. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00095
- Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature. 2008;454:428–435. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature07201
- Traylor-Knowles N, Browne WE, Mydlarz LD, Palmer CV, Rosental B. Editorial: innate immunity in early diverging metazoans. *Front Immunol.* 2022;13:816550. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fimmu.2022.816550
- Oeckinghaus A, Ghosh S. The NF-κB family of transcription factors and its regulation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2009;1:a000034. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000034
- Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR, Willis D, Chivers J, Paul-Clark MJ, Willoughby DA. Inducible cyclooxygenase may have anti-inflammatory properties. *Nat Med.* 1999;5:698–701. https://doi.org/10.1038/9550
- 94. Serhan CN. The resolution of inflammation: the devil in the flask and in the details. *FASEB J.* 2011;25:1441–1448. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.11-0502ufm-newaholme,2016
- Newsholme P, Cruzat VF, Keane KN, Carlessi R, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Molecular mechanisms of ROS production and oxidative stress in diabetes. *Biochem J.* 2016;473:4527–4550. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160503C
- **96.** Nakamura K, Matsumura K, Hübschle T, et al. Identification of sympathetic premotor neurons in medullary raphe regions mediating fever and other thermoregulatory functions. *J Neurosci.* 2004;24:5370–5380.
- Nakamura K, Morrison SF. A thermosensory pathway mediating heat-defence responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2010;107:8848–8853. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0913358107
- 98. Haddad F, Soliman AM, Wong ME, et al. Fever integrates antimicrobial defences, inflammation control, and tissue repair in a cold-blooded vertebrate. *Elife.* 2023;12:e83644. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83644
- Morimoto RI, Santoro MG. Stress-inducible responses and heat shock proteins: new pharmacologic targets for cytoprotection. *Nat Biotechnol.* 1998;16:833–838. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nbt0998-833
- 100. Fitzgerald GA. Coxibs and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:1709–1711. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMp048288
- 101. Grosser T, Yu Y, Fitzgerald GA. Emotion recollected in tranquility: lessons learned from the COX-2 saga. Annu Rev Med. 2010;61:17–33. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-011209-153129
- 102. Homem de Bittencourt PI, Curi R. Antiproliferative prostaglandins and the MRP/GS-X pump role in cancer immunosuppression and insight into new strategies in cancer gene therapy. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2001;62:811–819. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0006-2952(01)00738-9
- 103. Rossi A, Elia G, Santoro MG. Inhibition of nuclear factor κB by prostaglandin A1: an effect associated with heat shock transcription factor activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1997;94:746–750. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.2.746
- 104. Rossi A, Kapahi P, Natoli G, et al. Anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins are direct inhibitors of IxB kinase. *Nature*. 2000;403:103–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 47520
- 105. Gutierrez LL, Maslinkiewicz A, Curi R, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Atherosclerosis: a redox-sensitive lipid imbalance suppressible by cyclopentenone prostaglandins.

Biochem Pharmacol. 2008;75:2245–2262. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bcp.2008.03.002

- 106. Rossi A, Coccia M, Trotta E, Angelini M, Santoro MG. Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression by heat: a novel aspect of heat shock factor 1 function in human cells. *PLoS One.* 2012;7:e31304. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0031304
- 107. Gutierrez LLP, Marques CV, Scomazzon SP, et al. A-family anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins: a novel class of non-statin inhibitors of HMG-CoA reductase. *Biochimie*. 2021;182:37–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi. 2020.12.019
- 108. Siperstein MD. Role of cholesterogenesis and isoprenoid synthesis in DNA replication and cell growth. J Lipid Res. 1984;25:1462–1468. https://www.jlr.org/article/S0022-2275(20)34419-9/pdf.
- 109. Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Regulation of the mevalonate pathway. *Nature*. 1990;343:425–430. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 343425a0
- 110. Santoro MG, Benedetto A, Carruba G, Garaci E, Jaffe BM. Prostaglandin A compounds as antiviral agents. *Science*. 1980;209:1032–1034. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6157190
- 111. Santoro MG, Jaffe BM, Garaci E, Esteban M. Antiviral effect of prostaglandins of the A series: inhibition of vaccinia virus replication in cultured cells. *J Gen Virol*. 1982;63:435–440. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-53-1-75
- 112. Santoro MG, Fukushima M, Benedetto A, Amici C. PGJ₂, a new antiviral prostaglandin: inhibition of Sendai virus replication and alteration of virus protein synthesis. *J Gen Virol.* 1987;68:1153–1158. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-68-4-1153
- 113. Santoro MG, Garaci E, Amici C. Prostaglandins with antiproliferative activity induce the synthesis of a heat shock protein in human cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1989;86:8407–8411. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.86.21.8407
- 114. Santoro MG. Heat shock proteins and virus replication: hsp70s as mediators of the antiviral effects of prostaglandins. *Experientia.* 1994;50:1039–1047. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF01923459
- 115. Rozera C, Carattoli A, De Marco A, Amici C, Giorgi C, Santoro MG. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by cyclopentenone prostaglandins in acutely infected human cells. Evidence for a transcriptional block. J Clin Invest. 1996;97:1795–1803. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118609
- 116. D'Onofrio C, Amici C, Bonmassar E, Santoro MG. The antiproliferative effect of prostaglandin A and J on HTLV-I transformed cells is associated with induction of a heatshock protein. *Pharmacol Res.* 1990;22(Suppl 1):41–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/1043-6618(90)90798-I
- 117. Amici C, Sistonen L, Santoro MG, Morimoto RI. Antiproliferative prostaglandins activate heat shock transcription factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1992;89:6227–6231. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.14.6227
- 118. De Marco A, Santoro MG. Antiviral effect of short hyperthermic treatment at specific stages of vesicular stomatitis virus replication cycle. *J Gen Virol.* 1993;74:1685–1690. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-74-8-1685
- 119. Lubkowska A, Dudzińska W, Pluta W. Antioxidant enzyme activity and serum HSP70 concentrations in relation to insulin resistance and lipid profile in lean and overweight young men. *Antioxidants.* 2023;12:655. https://doi.org/10. 3390/antiox12030655
- 120. Heck TG, Ludwig MS, Frizzo MN, Rasia-Filho AA, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Suppressed anti-inflammatory heat shock response in high-risk COVID-19 patients: lessons from

basic research (inclusive bats), light on conceivable therapies. *Clin Sci.* 2020;134:1991–2017. https://doi.org/10.1042/ CS20200596

- 121. Krause M, Gerchman F, Friedman R. Coronavirus infection (SARS-CoV-2) in obesity and diabetes comorbidities: is heat shock response determinant for the disease complications? *Diabetol Metab Syndr*. 2020;12:63. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13098-020-00572-w
- 122. Rébé C, Ghiringhelli F, Garrido C. Can the hyperthermiamediated heat shock factor/heat shock protein 70 pathway dampen the cytokine storm during SARS-CoV-2 infection? *Br J Pharmacol.* 2022;179:4910–4916. https://doi.org/10. 1111/bph.15343
- 123. Zhang X, Yu W. Heat shock proteins and viral infection. Front Immunol. 2022;13:947789. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2022.947789
- 124. Onikienko S, Vinokurov M, Yurinskaya M, et al. The effects of H2S and recombinant human Hsp70 on inflammation induced by SARS and other agents in vitro and in vivo. *Biomedicines*. 2022;10:2155. https://doi.org/10.3390/ biomedicines10092155
- 125. Borges Russo MK, Kowalewski LS, da Natividade GR, et al. Elevated extracellular HSP72 and blunted heat shock response in severe COVID-19 patients. *Biomolecules*. 2022;12:1374. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom12101374
- 126. Singh IS, Hasday JD. Fever, hyperthermia and the heat shock response. Int J Hyperthermia. 2013;29:423–435. https://doi. org/10.3109/02656736.2013.808766
- Calapre L, Gray ES, Ziman M. Heat stress: a risk factor for skin carcinogenesis. *Cancer Lett.* 2013;337:35–40. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.05.039
- 128. Wu L, Hu C, Huang M, Jiang M, Lu L, Tang J. Heat shock transcription factor 1 attenuates TNFα-induced cardiomyocyte death through suppression of NF-κB pathway. *Gene.* 2013;527:89–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2013.05.024
- 129. Chen Y, Currie RW. Small interfering RNA knocks down heat shock factor-1 (HSF-1) and exacerbates pro-inflammatory activation of NF-κB and AP-1 in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;69:66–75. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.07.004
- Chen Y, Arrigo AP, Currie RW. Heat shock treatment suppresses angiotensin II-induced activation of NF-kappaB pathway and heart inflammation: a role for IKK depletion by heat shock? *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2004;287:H1104–H1114. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart. 00102.2004
- 131. Li Z, Song Y, Xing R, et al. Heat shock protein 70 acts as a potential biomarker for early diagnosis of heart failure. *PLoS One.* 2013;8:e67964. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0067964
- 132. Meriin AB, Yaglom JA, Gabai VL, et al. Protein-damaging stresses activate c-Jun N-terminal kinase via inhibition of its dephosphorylation: a novel pathway controlled by HSP72. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1999;19:2547–2555. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.19.4.2547
- 133. Gabai VL, Mabuchi K, Mosser DD, Sherman MY. Hsp72 and stress kinase c-jun N-terminal kinase regulate the bid-dependent pathway in tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2002;22:3415–3424. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.22.10.3415-3424.2002
- 134. Xie Y, Chen C, Stevenson MA, Auron PE, Calderwood SK. Heat shock factor 1 represses transcription of the IL-1β gene through physical interaction with the nuclear factor of interleukin 6. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277:11802–11810. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M109296200

- 135. Tang D, Xie Y, Zhao M, Stevenson MA, Calderwood SK. Repression of the HSP70B promoter by NFIL6, Ku70, and MAPK involves three complementary mechanisms. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. 2001;280:280–285. https://doi.org/10. 1006/bbrc.2000.4118
- 136. Wigmore SJ, Sangster K, McNally SJ, et al. De-repression of heat shock transcription factor-1 in interleukin-6- treated hepatocytes is mediated by downregulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3β and MAPK/ERK-1. *Int J Mol Med.* 2007;19:413–420. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.19.3.413
- 137. Xie Y, Chen C, Stevenson MA, Hume DA, Auron PE, Calderwood SK. NF-IL6 and HSF1 have mutually antagonistic effects on transcription in monocytic cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2002;291:1071–1080. https://doi.org/ 10.1006/bbrc.2002.6562
- 138. Zhang L, Yang M, Wang Q, et al. HSF1 regulates expression of G-CSF through the binding element for NF-IL6/CCAAT enhancer binding protein β. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2011;352:11–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-010-0624-1
- 139. Hooper PL, Balogh G, Rivas E, Kavanagh K, Vigh L. The importance of the cellular stress response in the pathogenesis and treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2014;19:447–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-014-0493-8
- 140. Kurucz I, Morva A, Vaag A, et al. Decreased expression of heat shock protein 72 in skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes correlates with insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. 2002;51:1102–1109. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.51.4. 1102
- 141. Bruce CR, Carey AL, Hawley JA, Febbraio MA. Intramuscular heat shock protein 72 and heme oxygenase-1 mRNA are reduced in patients with type 2 diabetes: evidence that insulin resistance is associated with a disturbed antioxidant defense mechanism. *Diabetes*. 2003;52:2338–2345. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.9.2338
- 142. Rodrigues-Krause J, Krause M, O'Hagan C, et al. Divergence of intracellular and extracellular HSP72 in type 2 diabetes: does fat matter? *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2012;17:293–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-011-0319-x
- 143. Krause M, Keane K, Rodrigues-Krause J, et al. Elevated levels of extracellular heat-shock protein 72 (eHSP72) are positively correlated with insulin resistance in vivo and cause pancreatic β-cell dysfunction and death in vitro. *Clin Sci.* 2014;126:739–752. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20130678
- 144. Di Naso FC, Porto RR, Fillmann HS, et al. Obesity depresses the anti-inflammatory HSP70 pathway, contributing to NAFLD progression. *Obesity*. 2015;23:120–129. https://doi. org/10.1002/oby.20919
- 145. Collins AR, Lyon CJ, Xia X, et al. Age-accelerated atherosclerosis correlates with failure to upregulate antioxidant genes. *Circ Res.* 2009;104:42–54. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.108.188771
- 146. Wang L, Schumann U, Liu Y, Prokopchuk O, Steinacker JM. Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) inhibits oxidative phosphorylation and compensates ATP balance through enhanced glycolytic activity. J Appl Physiol. 2012;113:1669–1676. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00658.2012
- 147. Newsholme P, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Gut associated bacteria are critical to metabolism, inflammation and health. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2016;19:245–249. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000293
- 148. Costa-Beber LC, Heck TG, Fiorin PBG, Ludwig MS. HSP70 as a biomarker of the thin threshold between benefit and injury due to physical exercise when exposed to air pollution. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2021;26:889–915. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12192-021-01241-1

- 149. Costa-Beber LC, Hirsch GE, Heck TG, Ludwig MS. Chaperone duality: the role of extracellular and intracellular HSP70 as a biomarker of endothelial dysfunction in the development of atherosclerosis. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2022;128:1016–1023. https://doi.org/10.1080/13813455.2020. 1745850
- Auro K, Joensuu A, Fischer K, et al. A metabolic view on menopause and ageing. *Nat Commun.* 2014;5:4708. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5708
- Chung J, Nguyen AK, Henstridge DC, et al. HSP72 protects against obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 2008;105:1739–1744. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0705799105
- 152. De Lemos Muller CH, Rech A, Botton CE, et al. Heat-induced extracellular HSP72 release is blunted in elderly diabetic people compared with healthy middle-aged and older adults, but it is partially restored by resistance training. *Exp Gerontol.* 2018;111:180–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger. 2018.07.014
- 153. De Lemos Muller CH, De Matos JR, Grigolo GB, Schroeder HT, Rodrigues-Krause J, Krause M. Exercise training for the elderly: inflammaging and the central role for HSP70. J Sci Sport Exerc. 2019;1:97–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42978-019-0015-6
- 154. De Lemos Muller CH, Schroeder HT, Rodrigues-Krause J, Krause M. Extra and intracellular HSP70 levels in adults with and without metabolic disorders: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2023;28(6):761–771. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12192-023-01368-3
- **155.** Krause M, Rodrigues-Krause J, da C. Extracellular heat shock proteins (eHSP70) in exercise: possible targets outside the immune system and their role for neurodegenerative disorders treatment. *Med Hypotheses.* 2011;76:286–290.
- 156. Bruxel MA, Tavares AMV, Zavarize Neto LD, et al. Chronic whole-body heat treatment relieves atherosclerotic lesions, cardiovascular and metabolic abnormalities, and enhances survival time restoring the anti-inflammatory and anti-senescent heat shock response in mice. *Biochimie*. 2019;156:33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2018.09.011
- 157. Kostrycki IM, Wildner G, Donato YH, et al. Effects of highfat diet on eHSP72 and extra-to-intracellular HSP70 levels in mice submitted to exercise under exposure to fine particulate matter. *J Diabetes Res.* 2019;2019:4858740. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2019/4858740
- 158. Bittencourt A, Schroeder HT, Porto RR, De Lemos Muller CH, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Heat shock response to exercise in pancreatic islets of obese mice. *Biochimie.* 2020;168:28–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi. 2019.10.015
- 159. Neef DW, Jaeger AM, Thiele DJ. Heat shock transcription factor 1 as a therapeutic target in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* 2011;10:930–944. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nrd3453
- 160. Lissarassa YPS, Vincensi CF, Costa-Beber LC, et al. Chronic heat treatment positively impacts metabolic profile of ovariectomized rats: association with heat shock response pathways. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2020;25:467–479. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12192-020-01087-z
- 161. Kim JY, Han Y, Lee JE, Yenari MA. The 70-kDa heat shock protein (Hsp70) as a therapeutic target for stroke. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. 2018;22:191–199. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14728222.2018.1439477
- 162. Kim JY, Kim JW, Yenari MA. Heat shock protein signaling in brain ischemia and injury. *Neurosci Lett.* 2020;715:134642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2019.134642

- 163. Hetz C, Zhang K, Kaufman RJ. Mechanisms, regulation and functions of the unfolded protein response. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2020;21:421–438. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0250-z
- 164. Rius B, López-Vicario C, González-Périz A, et al. Resolution of inflammation in obesity-induced liver disease. Front Immunol. 2012;3:257. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012. 00257
- 165. Kelley N, Jeltema D, Duan Y, He Y. The NLRP3 inflammasome: an overview of mechanisms of activation and regulation. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019;20:3328. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20133328
- 166. Swanson KV, Deng M, Ting JP. The NLRP3 inflammasome: molecular activation and regulation to therapeutics. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2019;19:477–489. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0165-0
- 167. Chen Y, Brandizzi F. IRE1: ER stress sensor and cell fate executor. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2013;23:547–555. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tcb.2013.06.005
- 168. Tam AB, Mercado EL, Hoffmann A, Niwa M. ER stress activates NF-κB by integrating functions of basal IKK activity, IRE1 and PERK. *PLoS One.* 2012;7:e45078. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0045078
- 169. Taylor R, Holman RR. Normal weight individuals who develop type 2 diabetes: the personal fat threshold. *Clin Sci.* 2015;128:405–410. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20140553
- 170. Tschopp J, Schroder K. NLRP3 inflammasome activation: The convergence of multiple signalling pathways on ROS production? *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2010;10:210–215. https://doi. org/10.1038/nri2725
- 171. Keller M, Rüegg A, Werner S, Beer HD. Active caspase-1 is a regulator of unconventional protein secretion. *Cell.* 2008;132:818–831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.040
- 172. Davis BK, Wen H, Ting JP. The inflammasome NLRs in immunity, inflammation, and associated diseases. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2011;29:707–735. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevimmunol-031210-101405
- 173. De Nardo D, Latz E. NLRP3 inflammasomes link inflammation and metabolic disease. *Trends Immunol.* 2011;32:373–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2011.05.004
- 174. Lee HM, Kim JJ, Kim HJ, Shong M, Ku BJ, Jo EK. Upregulated NLRP3 inflammasome activation in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2013;62:194–204. https://doi. org/10.2337/db12-0420
- 175. Tchkonia T, Morbeck DE, Von Zglinicki T, et al. Fat tissue, aging, and cellular senescence. *Aging Cell*. 2010;9:667–684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00608.x
- 176. Wang CY, Kim HH, Hiroi Y, et al. Obesity increases vascular senescence and susceptibility to ischemic injury through chronic activation of Akt and mTOR. *Sci Signal.* 2009;2:ra11. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2000143
- 177. Campisi J. Aging, cellular senescence, and cancer. Annu Rev Physiol. 2013;75:685–705. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevphysiol-030212-183653
- 178. Abdelmohsen K, Pullmann Jr R, Lal A, et al. Phosphorylation of HuR by Chk2 regulates SIRT1 expression. *Mol Cell.* 2007;25:543–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2007.01.011
- 179. Kim G, Meriin AB, Gabai VL, et al. The heat shock transcription factor Hsf1 is downregulated in DNA damage-associated senescence, contributing to the maintenance of senescence phenotype. *Aging Cell*. 2012;11:617–627. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00827.x
- 180. Mazroui R, Di Marco S, Clair E, et al. Caspase-mediated cleavage of HuR in the cytoplasm contributes to pp32/PHAP-

I regulation of apoptosis. J Cell Biol. 2008;180:113–127. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200709030

- 181. Talwar S, Jin J, Carroll B, Liu A, Gillespie MB, Palanisamy V. Caspase-mediated cleavage of RNA-binding protein HuR regulates c-Myc protein expression after hypoxic stress. J Biol Chem. 2011;286:32333–32343. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M111.255927
- 182. Westerheide SD, Anckar J, Stevens Jr SM, Sistonen L, Morimoto RI. Stress-inducible regulation of heat shock factor 1 by the deacetylase SIRT1. *Science*. 2009;323:1063–1066. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1165946
- 183. Raynes R, Leckey Jr BD, Nguyen K, Westerheide SD. Heat shock and caloric restriction have a synergistic effect on the heat shock response in a sir2.1-dependent manner in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem. 2012;287:29045–29053. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.353714
- 184. Liu DJ, Hammer D, Komlos D, Chen KY, Firestein BL, Liu AY. SIRT1 knockdown promotes neural differentiation and attenuates the heat shock response. J Cell Physiol. 2014;229:1224–1235. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24556
- 185. Von Roretz C, Lian XJ, Macri AM, et al. Apoptotic-induced cleavage shifts HuR from being a promoter of survival to an activator of caspase-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*. 2013;20:154–168. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2012.111
- 186. Winkler C, Doller A, Imre G, et al. Attenuation of the ELAV1-like protein HuR sensitizes adenocarcinoma cells to the intrinsic apoptotic pathway by increasing the translation of caspase-2L. *Cell Death Dis.* 2014;5:e1321. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/cddis.2014.279
- 187. Abdelmohsen K, Lal A, Kim HH, Gorospe M. Posttranscriptional orchestration of an anti-apoptotic program by HuR. *Cell Cycle*. 2007;6:1288–1292. https://doi.org/ 10.4161/cc.6.11.4299
- 188. Gorospe M, de Cabo R. AsSIRTing the DNA damage response. Trends Cell Biol. 2008;18:77–83. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tcb.2007.11.007
- Govindaraju S, Lee BS. Adaptive and maladaptive expression of the mRNA regulatory protein HuR. World J Biol Chem. 2013;4:111–118. https://doi.org/10.4331/wjbc.v4.i4.111
- 190. Wang W, Yang X, López de Silanes I, Carling D, Gorospe M. Increased AMP:ATP ratio and AMP-activated protein kinase activity during cellular senescence linked to reduced HuR function. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:27016–27023. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M300318200
- 191. Dai W, Zhang G, Makeyev EV. RNA-binding protein HuR autoregulates its expression by promoting alternative polyadenylation site usage. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2012;40:787–800. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr783
- 192. Barreau C, Paillard L, Osborne HB. AU-rich elements and associated factors: are there unifying principles? *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2005;33:7138–7150. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gki1012
- 193. Chou S-D, Murshid A, Eguchi T, Gong J, Calderwood SK. HSF1 regulation of β-catenin in mammary cancer cells through control of HuR/elavL1 expression. Oncogene. 2015;34:2178–2188. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2014.177
- 194. Kovács D, Sigmond T, Hotzi B, et al. HSF1Base: a comprehensive database of HSF1 (heat shock factor 1) target genes. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019;20:5815. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20225815
- 195. Kovács D, Sigmond T, Hotzi B, et al. HSF1Base: A comprehensive database of HSF1 (heat shock factor 1) target genes; 2020. https://hsf1base.org. Accessed December 11, 2023.
- 196. Wang W, Fan J, Yang X, et al. AMP-activated kinase regulates cytoplasmic HuR. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2002;22:3425–3436. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.22.10.3425-3436.2002

- 197. Wang W, Yang X, Kawai T, et al. AMP-activated protein kinase-regulated phosphorylation and acetylation of importin alpha1: involvement in the nuclear import of RNA-binding protein HuR. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:48376–48388. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M409014200
- 198. Alasady MJ, Mendillo ML. The multifaceted role of HSF1 in tumorigenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2020;1243:69–85. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40204-4_5
- 199. Xing J, Chen K, Gao S, et al. Protein phosphatase 2A activators reverse age-related behavioral changes by targeting neural cell senescence. Aging Cell. 2023;22:e13780. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13780
- 200. Jung TW, Lee KT, Lee MW, Ka KH. SIRT1 attenuates palmitate-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in HepG2 cells via induction of oxygen-regulated protein 150. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;422:229–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.04.129
- 201. Fu Y, Wang Y, Du L, et al. Resveratrol inhibits ionising irradiation-induced inflammation in MSCs by activating SIRT1 and limiting NLRP-3 inflammasome activation. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2013;14:14105–14118. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140714105
- 202. Kitada M, Koya D. SIRT1 in type 2 diabetes: mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Diabetes Metab J.* 2013;37:315–325. https://doi.org/10.4093/dmj.2013.37.5.315
- 203. Moreno M, Lombardi A, Silvestri E, et al. PPARs: nuclear receptors controlled by, and controlling, nutrient handling through nuclear and cytosolic signaling. *PPAR Res.* 2010;2010:435689. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/435689
- 204. Boström P, Wu J, Jedrychowski MP, et al. A PGC1-α-dependent myokine that drives brown-fat-like development of white fat and thermogenesis. *Nature*. 2012;481:463–468. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10777
- 205. Dancsó B, Spiró Z, Arslan MA, et al. The heat shock connection of metabolic stress and dietary restriction. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol.* 2010;11:139–145. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 138920110790909704
- 206. Schroder K, Tschopp J. The inflammasomes. *Cell.* 2010;140:821–832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.040
- 207. Stienstra R, Tack CJ, Kanneganti TD, Joosten LA, Netea MG. The inflammasome puts obesity in the danger zone. *Cell Metab.* 2012;15:10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011. 10.011
- 208. Chalkiadaki A, Guarente L. High-fat diet triggers inflammation-induced cleavage of SIRT1 in adipose tissue to promote metabolic dysfunction. *Cell Metab.* 2012;16:180–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.07.003
- 209. Wen H, Ting JP, O'Neill LA. A role for the NLRP3 inflammasome in metabolic diseases - Did Warburg miss inflammation? Nat Immunol. 2012;13:352–357. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ni.2228
- 210. Zhang L, Lu L, Zhong X, et al. Metformin reduced NLRP3 inflammasome activity in Ox-LDL stimulated macrophages through adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase and protein phosphatase 2A. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2019;852:99–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.03.006
- 211. Stienstra R, Joosten LA, Koenen T, et al. The inflammasomemediated caspase-1 activation controls adipocyte differentiation and insulin sensitivity. *Cell Metab.* 2010;12: 593–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2010.11.011
- 212. Rajamäki K, Lappalainen J, Oörni K, et al. Cholesterol crystals activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in human macrophages: a novel link between cholesterol metabolism and inflammation. *PLoS One.* 2010;5:e11765. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0011765

- 213. Vandanmagsar B, Youm YH, Ravussin A, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome instigates obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *Nat Med.* 2011;17:179–188. https://doi. org/10.1038/nm.2279
- 214. Masters SL, Dunne A, Subramanian SL, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by islet amyloid polypeptide provides a mechanism for enhanced IL-1β in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Immunol.* 2010;11:897–904. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni. 1935
- 215. Burton DG. Cellular senescence, ageing and disease. Age. 2009;31:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-008-9075-y
- 216. Xu Y, Sheng H, Bao Q, Wang Y, Lu J, Ni X. NLRP3 inflammasome activation mediates estrogen deficiency-induced depression- and anxiety-like behavior and hippocampal inflammation in mice. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2016;56:175–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.02.022
- 217. De Rivero Vaccari JP, Patel HH, Brand 3rd FJ, Perez-Pinzon MA, Bramlett HM, Raval AP. Estrogen receptor beta signaling alters cellular inflammasomes activity after global cerebral ischemia in reproductively senescence female rats. *J Neurochem.* 2016;36:492–496. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc. 13404
- 218. Thakkar R, Wang R, Sareddy G, et al. NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the brain after global cerebral ischemia and regulation by 17β-estradiol. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2016;2016:8309031. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8309031
- Slowik A, Beyer C. Inflammasomes are neuroprotective targets for sex steroids. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2015;153:135–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.02. 013
- 220. Levin TC, Wickliffe KE, Leppla SH, Moayeri M. Heat shock inhibits caspase-1 activity while also preventing its inflammasome-mediated activation by anthrax lethal toxin. *Cell Microbiol.* 2008;10:2434–2446. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1462-5822.2008.01220.x
- 221. Schroeder HT, De Lemos Muller CH, Heck TG, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI. Resolution of Inflammation in Chronic Disease via Restoration of the Heat Shock Response (HSR). *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2024;29:66–87. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cstres.2024.01.005
- 222. Biden TJ, Boslem E, Chu KY, Sue N. Lipotoxic endoplasmic reticulum stress, β cell failure, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* 2014;25:389–398. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tem.2014.02.003
- 223. Cnop M, Foufelle F, Velloso LA. Endoplasmic reticulum stress, obesity and diabetes. *Trends Mol Med.* 2012;18:59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2011.07.010
- 224. Zhu Y, Armstrong JL, Tchkonia T, Kirkland JL. Cellular senescence and the senescent secretory phenotype in age-related chronic diseases. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* 2014;17: 324–328. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000065
- 225. Pal M, Febbraio MA, Lancaster GI. The roles of c-Jun NH2terminal kinases (JNKs) in obesity and insulin resistance. J Physiol. 2016;594:267–279. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP27145
- 226. Caricilli AM, Saad MJ. The role of gut microbiota on insulin resistance. *Nutrients*. 2013;5:829–851. https://doi.org/10. 3390/nu5030829
- 227. Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest.* 1995;95:2409–2415. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117936
- 228. Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science*. 1993;259:87–91. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7678183

- Hirosumi J, Tuncman G, Chang L, et al. A central role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. *Nature*. 2002;420: 333–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01137
- 230. Hotamisligil GS, Peraldi P, Budavari A, Ellis R, White MF, Spiegelman BM. IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alpha- and obesityinduced insulin resistance. *Science*. 1996;271:665–668. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.271.5249.665
- Lee YH, Giraud J, Davis RJ, White MF. c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) mediates feedback inhibition of the insulin signaling cascade. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:2896–2902. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M208359200
- 232. Park HS, Lee JS, Huh SH, Seo JS, Choi EJ. Hsp72 functions as a natural inhibitory protein of c-Jun N-terminal kinase. *EMBO J.* 2001;20:446–456. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/20.3.446
- 233. Calderwood SK. Regulatory interfaces between the stress protein response and other gene expression programs in the cell. *Methods.* 2005;35:139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymeth.2004.08.004
- 234. Hooper PL. Insulin signaling, GSK-3, heat shock proteins and the natural history of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a hypothesis. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. 2007;5:220–230. https:// doi.org/10.1089/met.2007.0005
- Palmer AK, Gustafson B, Kirkland JL, Smith U. Cellular senescence: at the nexus between ageing and diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2019;62:1835–1841. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4934-x
- 236. Song S, Lam EW, Tchkonia T, Kirkland JL, Sun Y. Senescent cells: emerging targets for human aging and age-related diseases. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2020;45:578–592. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tibs.2020.03.008
- 237. Xu M, Pirtskhalava T, Farr JN, et al. Senolytics improve physical function and increase lifespan in old age. *Nat Med.* 2018;24:1246–1256. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0092-9
- Sargiacomo C, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP. COVID-19 and chronological aging: senolytics and other anti-aging drugs for the treatment or prevention of corona virus infection? *Aging*. 2020;12:6511–6517. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.103001
- 239. Trivedi R, Knopf B, Tripathi JK, et al. Augmentation of the heat shock axis during exceptional longevity in Ames dwarf mice. *Geroscience*. 2021;43:1921–1934. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11357-021-00362-w
- 240. Anckar J, Sistonen L. Regulation of HSF1 function in the heat stress response: implications in aging and disease. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2011;80:1089–1115. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-biochem-060809-095203
- 241. Douglas PM, Baird NA, Simic MS, et al. Heterotypic signals from neural HSF-1 separate thermotolerance from longevity. *Cell Reports.* 2015;12:1196–1204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2015.07.026
- 242. Sun S, White RR, Fischer KE, Zhang Z, Austad SN, Vijg J. Inducible aging in Hydra oligactis implicates sexual reproduction, loss of stem cells, and genome maintenance as major pathways. *Geroscience*. 2020;42:1119–1132. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11357-020-00214-z
- 243. Martínez DE. Mortality patterns suggest lack of senescence in hydra. *Exp Gerontol.* 1998;33:217–225. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0531-5565(97)00113-7
- 244. Schaible R, Scheuerlein A, Dańko MJ, Gampe J, Martínez DE, Vaupel JW. Constant mortality and fertility over age in Hydra. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2015;112:15701–15706. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1521002112
- 245. Littlefield CL, Finkemeier C, Bode HR. Spermatogenesis in *Hydra oligactis*. II. How temperature controls the reciprocity of sexual and asexual reproduction. *Dev Biol*. 1991;146:292–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(91)90231-q

- 246. Tchkonia T, Zhu Y, van Deursen J, Campisi J, Kirkland JL. Cellular senescence and the senescent secretory phenotype: therapeutic opportunities. *J Clin Invest.* 2013;123:966–972. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI64098
- 247. Wiesenborn DS, Ayala JE, King E, Masternak MM. Insulin sensitivity in long-living Ames dwarf mice. Age. 2014;36:9709. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-014-9709-1
- Uthus EO, Brown-Borg HM. Altered methionine metabolism in long living Ames dwarf mice. *Exp Gerontol.* 2003;38:491–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0531-5565(03)00008-1
- 249. Calderwood SK, Murshid A, Prince T. The shock of aging: molecular chaperones and the heat shock response in longevity and aging-a mini-review. *Gerontology*. 2009;55: 550–558. https://doi.org/10.1159/000225957
- 250. Ritossa F. A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in Drosophila. *Experientia*. 1962;18:571–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02172188
- **251.** Ritossa F. New puffs induced by temperature shock, DNP and salicylate in salivary chromosomes of *D. melanogaster*. *Drosophila Info Serv.* 1963;37:122–123.
- 252. Ritossa FM. Experimental activation of specific loci in polytene chromosomes of drosophila. *Exp Cell Res.* 1964;35:601–607. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(64)90147-8
- 253. Palmer AK, Tchkonia T, LeBrasseur NK, Chini EN, Xu M, Kirkland JL. Cellular senescence in type 2 diabetes: a therapeutic opportunity. *Diabetes*. 2015;64:2289–2298. https:// doi.org/10.2337/db14-1820
- Gorenne I, Kavurma M, Scott S, Bennett M. Vascular smooth muscle cell senescence in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;72:9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardiores.2006.06.004
- 255. Minamino T, Komuro I. Vascular cell senescence: contribution to atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2007;100:15–26. https://doi. org/10.1161/01.RES.0000256837.40544.4a
- 256. Wang JC, Bennett M. Aging and atherosclerosis: mechanisms, functional consequences, and potential therapeutics for cellular senescence. *Circ Res.* 2012;111:245–259. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.261388
- 257. Xu Y, Li N, Xiang R, Sun P. Emerging roles of the p38 MAPK and PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathways in oncogene-induced senescence. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2014;39:268–276. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tibs.2014.04.004
- 258. Oubaha M, Miloudi K, Dejda A, et al. Senescence-associated secretory phenotype contributes to pathological angiogenesis in retinopathy. *Sci Transl Med.* 2016;8:362ra144. https://doi. org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf9440
- Karpe PA, Tikoo K. Heat shock prevents insulin resistanceinduced vascular complications by augmenting angiotensin-(1-7) signaling. *Diabetes*. 2014;63:1124–1139. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/db13-1267
- 260. Wang J, Uryga AK, Reinhold J, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell senescence promotes atherosclerosis and features of plaque vulnerability. *Circulation*. 2015;132:1909–1919. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.016457
- 261. Ritschka B, Storer M, Mas A, et al. The senescence-associated secretory phenotype induces cellular plasticity and tissue regeneration. *Genes Dev.* 2017;31:172–183. https://doi.org/10. 1101/gad.290635.116
- 262. Lee YK, Liu DJ, Lu J, Chen KY, Liu AY. Aberrant regulation and modification of heat shock factor 1 in senescent human diploid fibroblasts. *J Cell Biochem*. 2009;106:267–278. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21997
- 263. Hopkins PN. Molecular biology of atherosclerosis. *Physiol Rev.* 2013;93:1317–1542. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00004.2012
- 264. Xu Q. Role of heat shock proteins in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002;22:1547–1559. https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.0000029720.59649.50

- 265. Xu Q, Metzler B, Jahangiri M, Mandal K. Molecular chaperones and heat shock proteins in atherosclerosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2012;302:H506–H514. https://doi. org/10.1152/ajpheart.00646.2011
- 266. Pockley AG, Calderwood SK, Multhoff G. The atheroprotective properties of Hsp70: a role for Hsp70-endothelial interactions? *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2009;14:545–553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-009-0113-1
- 267. Akoumianakis I, Antoniades C. Is stress response a new link between adipose tissue and atherogenesis? The role of HSPs/ HSF1. Cardiovasc Res. 2016;111:10–12. https://doi.org/10. 1093/cvr/cvw099
- 268. Uryga AK, Bennett MR. Ageing induced vascular smooth muscle cell senescence in atherosclerosis. J Physiol. 2016;594:2115–2124. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270923
- 269. Mocanu MM, Steare SE, Evans MC, Nugent JH, Yellon DM. Heat stress attenuates free radical release in the isolated perfused rat heart. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1993;15:459–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(93)90046-w
- 270. Yu WW, Cao SN, Zang CX, et al. Heat shock protein 70 suppresses neuroinflammation induced by α-synuclein in astrocytes. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 2018;86:58–64. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mcn.2017.11.013
- 271. Dukay B, Csoboz B, Tóth ME. Heat-shock proteins in neuroinflammation. *Front Pharmacol.* 2019;10:920. https://doi. org/10.3389/fphar.2019.00920

- 272. Homem de Bittencourt Jr PI, Lagranha DJ, Maslinkiewicz A, et al. LipoCardium: endothelium-directed cyclopentenone prostaglandin-based liposome formulation that completely reverses atherosclerotic lesions. *Atherosclerosis*. 2007;193:245–258. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006.08.049
- 273. Hooper PL. Hot-tub therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1999;341:924–925. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199909163411216
- 274. Hooper PL, Hooper PL. Inflammation, heat shock proteins, and type 2 diabetes. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2009;14:113–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0073-x
- 275. Krause M, Ludwig MS, Heck TG, Takahashi HK. Heat shock proteins and Heat therapy for type 2 diabetes: pros and cons. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2015;18:374–380. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000183
- 276. Ferrari AU, Radaelli A, Centola M. Invited review: aging and the cardiovascular system. J Appl Physiol. 2003;95:2591–2597. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00601.2003
- 277. Du W, Wong C, Song Y, et al. Age-associated vascular inflammation promotes monocytosis during atherogenesis. *Aging Cell.* 2016;15:766–777. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel. 12488
- Juhaszova M, Rabuel C, Zorov DB, Lakatta EG, Sollott SJ. Protection in the aged heart: preventing the heart-break of old age. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;66:233–244. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cardiores.2004.12.020

Capítulo III

Título: Heat shock response during the resolution of inflammation and its progressive suppression in chronic-degenerative inflammatory diseases

Periódico: Cell Stress and Chaperones

Situação: Publicado em fevereiro de 2024.

(disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres.2024.01.005>).
REVIEW

Resolution of inflammation in chronic disease *via* restoration of the heat shock response (HSR)

Helena Trevisan Schroeder^{a,1} · Carlos Henrique De Lemos Muller^{b,2} · Thiago Gomes Heck^{c,3} · Mauricio Krause^{b,4} · Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt Jr^{a,*,5}

Received: 15 September 2023 / Revised: 28 January 2024 / Accepted: 29 January 2024

© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Cell Stress Society International. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Abstract

Effective resolution of inflammation *via* the heat shock response (HSR) is pivotal in averting the transition to chronic inflammatory states. This transition characterizes a spectrum of debilitating conditions, including insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and cardiovascular ailments. This manuscript explores a range of physiological, pharmacological, and nutraceutical interventions aimed at reinstating the HSR in the context of chronic low-grade inflammation, as well as protocols to assess the HSR. Monitoring the progression or suppression of the HSR in patients and laboratory animals offers predictive insights into the organism's capacity to combat chronic inflammation, as well as the impact of exercise and hyperthermic treatments (e.g., sauna or hot tub baths) on the HSR. Interestingly, a reciprocal correlation exists between the expression of HSR components in peripheral blood leukocytes (PBL) and the extent of local tissue proinflammatory activity in individuals afflicted by chronic inflammatory disorders. Therefore, the Heck index, contrasting extracellular 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins (HSP70) (proinflammatory) and intracellular HSP70 (anti-inflammatory) in PBL, serves as a valuable metric

Abbreviations: **AMPK**, 5'-adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; **COVID-19**, coronavirus disease-2019; **COXIBs**, inhibitors of cyclooxygenase (prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase); **CRP**, C-reactive protein; **CVD**, cardiovascular disease(s); **ER**, endoplasmic reticulum; **GSK-3** β , glycogen synthase kinase-3 β ; **HbA1c**, % of glycated hemoglobin A1_C; **HBP**, hexosamine biosynthetic pathway; **HFD**, high-fat diet; **HOMA-IR**, homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance index; **HSF1**, heat shock transcription factor-1; **HSP**, heat shock protein; **HSP70**, the 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; **iHSP70**, intracellular HSP70; **eHSP70**, extracellular HSP70; **HSR**, heat shock response; **HuR**, human antigen R, a.k.a. ELAV-1, for *Embryonic Lethal*, *Abnormal Vision*, Drosophila, Homolog-Like protein-1; **IRE1**, Inositol Requiring Enzyme-1, also known as Endoplasmic Reticulum-to-Nucleus Signaling-1, ERN1; **JNK**, c-Jun *N*-terminal kinase; **NAFLD**, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; **NF**-**KB**, nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (κ B) family; **NLRP3**, NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 inflammasome; **NSAIDs**, non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs; **PBMC**, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; **PGs**, prostaglandins; **cyPGs**, cyclopentenone prostaglandins; **PERK**, *P*rotein kinase-like *ER* Kinase; **SASP**, Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype; **SIRT1**, NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase sirtuin-1; **T1DM**, type 1 diabetes mellitus; **T2DM**, type 2 diabetes mellitus; **TLR**, Toll-like receptor; **TNF** α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; **UPR**, unfolded protein response

¹0000-0003-4000-3671 ²0000-0003-0205-7775 ³0000-0002-1242-5423 ⁴0000-0001-9814-742X ⁵0000-0003-1907-3341

- * Paulo Ivo Homem de BittencourtJr pauloivo@ufrgs.br
- ^a Laboratory of Cellular Physiology (FisCel), Department of Physiology, Institute of Basic Health Sciences (ICBS), Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil
- ^b Laboratory of Inflammation, Metabolism and Exercise Research (LAPIMEX), Department of Physiology, ICBS, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil
- ^c Post Graduate Program in Integral Health Care (PPGAIS-UNIJUÍ/UNICRUZ/URI), Regional University of Northwestern Rio Grande Do Sul State (UNIJUI) and Post Graduate Program in Mathematical and Computational Modeling (PPGMMC), UNIJUI, Ijuí, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil.

for HSR assessment. Our laboratory has also developed straightforward protocols for evaluating HSR by subjecting whole blood samples from both rodents and human volunteers to *ex vivo* heat challenges. Collectively, this discussion underscores the critical role of HSR disruption in the pathogenesis of chronic inflammatory states and emphasizes the significance of simple, cost-effective tools for clinical HSR assessment. This understanding is instrumental in the development of innovative strategies for preventing and managing chronic inflammatory diseases, which continue to exert a substantial global burden on morbidity and mortality.

Keywords HSP70 \cdot Heat shock response \cdot Low-grade inflammation \cdot Heck index of HSP70 \cdot Type 2 diabetes mellitus

Introduction

Inflammation is a highly conserved physiological response that evolved to eliminate microorganisms or facilitate tissue recovery during an aseptic injury. While these responses are typically acute, a Western lifestyle based on insufficient physical activity and surplus energy consumption predisposes to progressive suppression of the physiological resolution of inflammation through the heat shock response (HSR). This is mainly because lifestyle-elicited energy imbalances overwhelm the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of adipose tissue leading to ER stress and eventually to the unfolded protein response (UPR). However, the UPR has an inflammatory branch through the protein kinase-like ER kinase-elF2a-ATF4-CHOP and inositol requiring enzyme-1-c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways that relay inflammatory signals throughout the body.¹ As discussed by Schroeder and colleagues,^{2,3} continuous activation of UPR downstream pathways culminates in uninterrupted activation of NOD-like receptor pyrin domain-containing protein-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome in adipose tissue, which leads to the production of activated caspase-1. Caspase-1, in turn, progressively degrades human antigen R (also known as embryonic lethal, abnormal vision, Drosophila, homolog-like protein-1), an mRNA-binding protein that is indispensable for the expression and activation of the heat shock transcription factor-1 (HSF1). Therefore, chronic ER stress of adipose tissue gradually impedes the resolution of inflammation via the HSR in several tissues, not just in the adipose tissue. This leads to the establishment of chronic low-grade inflammation that accompanies chronic degenerative conditions such as insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), and neurodegenerative diseases (e.g., Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Huntington's).

Although chronic degenerative diseases of an inflammatory nature take place precisely because the HSR becomes jeopardized as long as noxious stimuli (e.g., Western lifestyle) do not cease to activate NLRP3 inflammasomes, the HSR can be nonetheless re-established through strategies that are known to trigger the activation of HSF1 and 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins (HSP70) expression. If this could appear paradoxical at first glance, heat shock (HS) (i.e., fever, thermotherapy) or even exercise, by different mechanisms, are able to dismantle NLRP3 inflammasome activation, resuming the HSR and thereby relieving the above chronic inflammatory conditions.

In the present manuscript, we review current physiological, pharmacological, and nutraceutical approaches aimed at rearming the HSR in chronic inflammatory conditions. We also discuss simple and cost-effective tools used to clinically evaluate the progression or suppression of the HSR in humans and laboratory animals.

Physiological approaches

The physiological activation of the HSR primarily hinges on two key factors: proteostasis-threatening conditions and metabolic stress. These factors can be mutually exclusive, with the prevalence of one over the other dependent on a delicate metabolic balance referred to as "caloristasis,"⁴ as elaborated upon in.² For instance, an increase in the bodily core temperature represents a proteostasis-threatening situation, as heat can alter protein conformation, potentially leading to the formation of toxic protein aggregates that trigger an inflammatory response. Therefore, hyperthermic treatments such as saunas or hot tub baths can robustly activate the HSR throughout the body. Additionally, metabolic signals directed toward energy-conserving pathways, such as 5'adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK) or NAD⁺-dependent deacetylase sirtuin-1 (SIRT1), can also induce a genuine HSR. This is evident in the case of physical exercise, where AMPK activation may result from decreased intracellular glycogen levels, directly correlating with elevated mRNA and protein levels of HSP72.⁵ AMPK activation in such cases inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3β, which consistently and constitutively represses HSF1 activity,⁶ thereby mitigating a bona fide HSR. Notably, HSR activation during

exercise is not solely reliant on increased body or muscle temperature.⁷ However, if cellular metabolic sensors perceive that metabolic stress poses a greater threat to overall bodily homeostasis than the activation of the HSR to correct misfolded proteins (an energy-intensive process, as core chaperones like HSP70 or HSP90 utilize ATP to preserve protein function), AMPK may impede HSF1 activation.^{8,9} In essence, whether the proteostasis-preserving HSR is triggered or not hinges on the delicate balance governing caloristasis.

With these reservations duly noted, (re)activating the HSR can often be achieved through fever, or rather, by deliberately not suppressing fever in many situations may prove beneficial.² Remarkably, fever adeptly orchestrates antimicrobial defenses and contributes to the regulation of inflammation and tissue healing, a phenomenon observed even in cold-blooded vertebrates, where there exists a discernible selectivity in the immune responses induced by fever. In essence, fever not only suppresses inflammation but also substantially amplifies the process of wound repair, as detailed in a recent study by Haddad *et al.*,¹⁰ extending its effects across the entire metazoan kingdom.

Fever, in its broad sense, is thought to have evolved in modern animals approximately 600 million years ago.¹¹ It is not limited to homeothermic mammals and birds; many poikilothermic animals, including lower vertebrates, arthropods, and annelids, can also increase their core temperature in response to infection or injury through a variety of behaviors.^{10,12} However, generating a fever is a complex response that is very metabolically costly.¹³ In humans, producing fever may require a sixfold increase in metabolic rate, while maintaining core temperature at febrile levels may demand a 12% increase in metabolic rate per 1 °C increase.¹¹ In essence, despite the significant energy expenditure it demands from an organism, evolution has consistently favored fever as an indispensable mechanism for maintaining homeostasis. Indeed, fever, or the sustained elevation of body temperature, emerges as a last resort and a natural therapeutic tool with the potential to curtail excessive cytokine production in critically septic patients and those afflicted with chronic inflammatory metabolic disorders, as highlighted by Heck *et al.*¹³ Consequently, indiscriminately suppressing fever through the use of antipyretic medications seems, to say the least, unwise. This consideration becomes even more crucial when considering the disruption caused by inhibitors of cyclooxygenase-2 (prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase-2; COXIBs) and traditional nonsteroid antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in the physiological resolution of inflammation orchestrated by the HSR, as expounded upon in the works of Schroeder et al.^{2,3}

Fever works as an integrative response regulating the induction and resolution phases of acute inflammation.^{10,11} A rise in core temperature of about 2–3 °C initiates the HSR,¹¹ which provides physiological resolution of inflammation at the same time that it impedes intracellular protein aggregation because the HSR produces anti-aggregative protein chaperones, such as HSP70.^{14,15} Structural changes in the plasma membrane during the establishment of fever also participate in HSF1 activation.¹⁶

Because HSP70s are stress-inducible proteins activated by both hyperthermia and hypothermia,^{17,18} physical approaches that can elevate local or central temperature may be employed to stimulate the HSR. As stated above, exercise is a powerful activator of HSR through mechanisms that include intracellular metabolic challenges (e.g., increase in AMP/ATP and NAD⁺/NADH ratios), elevated sympathetic tonus to striated muscle, adipose tissue, and pancreatic islets, as well as slight increases in core temperature itself. This explains at least partially the wellknown beneficial impacts of exercise.^{19–28} Nonetheless, besides exercise, hyperthermic treatment itself has demonstrated innumerable beneficial effects for the body by reducing fat deposition, alleviating insulin resistance, and decreasing total body mass.²⁵

Although hyperthermic treatment was well-known to the ancient Romans and by Hippocrates himself, the first indication for the therapeutic use of thermal therapy occurred, incredible, only in 1999, when Professor Philip L. Hooper investigated the ability of hot-tub therapy (37.8-41.0 °C water temperature with average oral temperature rise of 0.8 °C) to reduce blood glucose in diabetic humans.²⁹ Interestingly, Professor Hooper's primary curiosity was not the HSR itself. Instead, he and his colleagues conjectured that the effects of partial immersion in a hot tub could mimic the known beneficial effects of exercise by increasing blood flow to skeletal muscle. Actually, most of the beneficial effects of thermotherapy in the muscle are a consequence of sympathetic stimulation of the muscle vasculature (so, vasoconstriction; not vasodilation) in order to prevent a dangerous fall in cardiac output due to cutaneous vasodilation that follows immersion in hot water.^{25,30} Thus, thermotherapy could in fact be of value in treating diabetic people, as one of the features of insulin resistance is the decreased expression of HSP72 in the skeletal muscle of T2DM patients.³¹

Hot tub treatment (40 °C, 30-min sessions) has been shown to improve life quality and hemodynamic function in chronic heart failure patients, including postmenopausal women.³² In our laboratory, for instance, by using a mouse model of atherosclerosis (a typical inflammatory disease), we applied HS treatment with

6	a
υ	7

	P70
	HS
	ase
	cre
	ij.
	, to
	apy
	her
	at t
	he
	ing
	loy
	mp
	ls e
	nan
	hur
	in
	les
	ipn
	f st
	cs o
	istic
	teri
e 1	rac
able	Cha
-	0

Study	Sample size	Condition	Treatment	Duration (week)	Frequency (times/week)	HSP70 result	Main findings
Ref. ³⁶	20	Healthy young	Heat therapy	8	4–5	↓ ↓	↓ NF-κB in PBMC, superoxide production
Ref. ³⁷	20	Healthy young	Heat therapy leg	1	6		PGC-1α and mitochondrial respiratory
Ref. ³⁸	18	Overweight adults	Hot water immersion	2	S.	Muscre ↓ Plasma	↓ FBG and insulin
Ref. ⁴²	40	Metabolic syndrome or T2DM middle-aged	MES + HS	12	4	TExpression in monocytes	↓ Visceral adiposity, wc, BP, FPG, HOMA-IR, TNF-α and CRP.
Ref. ⁴³	60	Obese with T2DM middle- aged/elderly	MES + HS	12	2, 4, or 7	†Expression in monocytes	Γ autponecun. ↓ Visceral adiposity, wc, BMI, FPG, HOMA-IR, HbA1c, TNF-α and CRP. ↑ adiponectin.
Abbreviat model as nuclear tr necrosis 1	tions used: BMI sessment-insuli anscription fact factor-alpha; w	, body mass index; BP, blood pr n resistance; HS, heat shock; HS ors of the kappa light chain enh c, waist circumference.	ressure; CRP, C-reactive SP70, 70 kDa family of he ancer of activated B cells	protein; FPG, ¹ eat shock prote s (kB) family; P	asting plasma gluco ins; MES, mild electr 3MC, peripheral bloc	se; HbA1c, % of glyca ical stimulation; MnS ^O od mononuclear cells; ⁻	ed hemoglobin A1C; HOMA-IR, homeostasis D, manganese superoxide dismutase; NF-κB, 2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; TNF-α, tumor

hot water immersion (41.5 °C for 15 min) once a week over 8 weeks and observed an impressive decrease in the animal mortality rate, significant improvement of the established vascular disease, increased blood flow, amelioration of ultrasonographic parameters, along with reversal of the depressed HSR.³³ Heat treatment, even in the fever-like range, blocks the NLRP3 inflammasomedependent senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP),³⁴ re-establishing the human antigen R-SIRT1-HSF-1 downstream pathways. Therefore, HSR, through HS may, paradoxically *a priori*, reactivate its major biochemical pathway, namely, the HSR.

Whatever the mechanisms involved, hyperthermic manipulations have been employed therapeutically in complications related to obesity and T2DM,^{24–26,29,30} especially for people to whom access to physical exercise is initially difficult.³⁵

While the existing body of research on HSP70 levels in individuals undergoing heat therapy is limited, these studies, as summarized in Table 1, yield promising results. In one study involving young sedentary adults who underwent 4-5 sessions of hot water immersion per week for 8 weeks, an increase in intracellular HSP70 (iHSP70) coincided with a reduction in nuclear transcription factors of the kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (xB) family (NF-xB) activation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs).³⁶ Similarly, in a comparable group of volunteers exposed to six consecutive sessions of pulsed short-wave diathermyinduced heat stress, a significant rise in muscular HSP70 levels was observed, which correlated with enhanced mitochondrial function.³⁷ However, sedentary overweight adults undergoing 2 weeks of hot water immersion (a total of 10 sessions) did not experience changes in HSP70 content within monocytes. Nevertheless, they exhibited a decrease in plasma HSP70 levels concurrent with improvements in fasting glucose and insulin.³⁸ This observation holds significance because elevated levels of extracellular HSP70 (eHSP70) are linked to low-grade inflammation and the exacerbation of T2DM.^{25,39,40} Furthermore, a study involving both older and younger vervet monkeys, subjected to biweekly thermal hydrotherapy sessions over 5 weeks, revealed a notable correlation between the elevation of HSP70 levels in skeletal muscle and a reduction in fasting glucose levels.⁴¹ These findings raise the possibility that the beneficial effects observed in thermotherapy may extend to individuals with various chronic low-grade inflammatory conditions.

Another series of studies examined the effects of mild electrical stimulation (MES) combined with HS (MES + HS) on individuals with chronic low-grade inflammation, including those with metabolic syndrome and T2DM.^{42,43} The MES + HS treatment involved placing a device with electrodes on both the front and back of the abdomen, delivering a direct current at 1.4 ± 0.1 V/cm (55 pulses/s) and heat (42 °C), each pulse lasting 0.1 ms. After 4 weeks of MES + HS applied four times a week for 60 min, the studies revealed an increase in HSP70 expression in monocytes. Furthermore, following 12 weeks of treatment, significant improvements were observed in body composition, blood pressure, fasting blood glucose levels, the homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) index, and inflammatory markers.⁴² In another study by the same research group, they investigated the effects of MES + HS in obese individuals with T2DM over 12 weeks.⁴³ Participants were divided into three groups, each receiving the treatment at different frequencies: two times a week (group 1), four times a week (group 2), and seven times a week (group 3), all for 60 min per session. Following the treatment, an increase in HSP70 expression in monocytes was observed in all groups. Moreover, when comparing all groups with their baseline measurements, significant reductions were noted in visceral adiposity, waist circumference, body mass index, fasting blood glucose, HOMA-IR, % of glycated hemoglobin A1C (HbA1c), and proinflammatory markers. Conversely, adiponectin levels increased. Notably, higher treatment frequencies were associated with more pronounced reductions in HOMA-IR, HbA1c, and diastolic blood pressure, indicating an improvement in the parasympathetic to sympathetic tone.⁴³ In summary, these studies consistently demonstrated favorable outcomes in terms of body composition, blood glucose regulation, and inflammatory markers when applying HS to specific body regions in conjunction with MES. Additionally, this treatment led to enhanced basal expression of HSP70 in monocytes among individuals with metabolic disorders.

In addition to hot tubs, saunas represent another form of hyperthermic treatment with a proven safety profile across various clinical conditions. Beyond its metabolic benefits, sauna heat therapy has been shown to induce an anti-senescent effect on blood vessels.³⁰ This effect is mediated by the HSR, which leads to the disinhibition of key regulators such as AMPK, SIRT1, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) expressions.⁴⁴ These findings strongly imply that the decreased risk of sudden cardiac death, fatal coronary heart disease, fatal CVD, and overall mortality associated with increased sauna bathing frequency in humans⁴⁵ may be attributed to the heightened HSR achieved through heat therapy. Notably, sauna therapy is now recognized as beneficial for CVD patients by improving endothelial function⁴⁶ and overall cardiovascular health,^{47,48} even among those with heart failure.³⁰

While sauna is contraindicated *a priori* for patients with unstable angina pectoris and recent myocardial infarction, it is generally considered safe for most coronary heart disease patients, particularly those with a history of stable angina pectoris and a remote history of myocardial infarction.⁴⁹ Furthermore, sauna therapy has been demonstrated as safe during uncomplicated pregnancies among healthy women, as affirmed by numerous studies.⁴⁹

Table 1 provides an overview of the outcomes from various studies investigating the effects of hyperthermic treatment on the HSR in obese, T2DM, and healthy individuals.

While sympathetic tonus to the musculature may be a principal mechanism for triggering the HSR,^{25,30} many of the health-benefiting effects of heat treatment, especially when applied locally, rely on the localized production of the vasodilatory and gaseous free radical nitric oxide (NO). NO, in fact, serves as a potent activator of HSP70 expression⁵⁰⁻⁵³ and the accompanying HSR because it induces mild oxidative stress, ultimately activating HSF1 through disulfide bond formation.^{15,30} Consequently, this slight redox imbalance induced by NO acts as a catalyst for the HSR.⁵⁴ Furthermore, a portion of the cytoprotective and anti-inflammatory effects attributed to estrogen-mediated HSR⁵⁵⁻⁵⁸ can be linked to estrogen's capacity to stimulate NO production in various tissues. In alignment with this concept, estrogen's protective effects against cerebral ischemia⁵⁹ and various other types of injuries⁶⁰ are primarily ascribed to its influence on HSP70 expression. An inherent deduction drawn from these observations is that enhancing the production of NO within the vascular wall may furnish a cytoprotective HSR in the context of CVD induced by diabetes, as emphasized by Hooper et al.²²

Rearming the HSR through the manipulation of gut microbiota

The HSR is influenced by the gut microbiota, with a direct relationship to the production of NO, a powerful HSR inducer, as stated above. The gut microbiota has the capacity to generate NO from nitrate,^{61,62} enhancing the HSR in the intestinal epithelium. However, excessive NO production in the gut can be detrimental, leading to enterocyte apoptosis and hindering epithelial restitution processes.⁶³ While the precise balance of NO remains uncertain, understanding the regulation of HSR at the intestinal level is crucial. This is because the gut microbiota ecosystem impacts low-grade inflammation and related chronic inflammatory diseases,^{64,65} and obesity induces alterations in gut microbial metabolism linked to

the proinflammatory senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) and tissue senescence.⁶⁶ Furthermore, the fermentation of carbohydrate prebiotics by the gut microbiota modulates NOS/NO pathways and NO-producing bacteria, simultaneously mitigating systemic endothelial dysfunction.^{67,68} Additionally, evidence suggests that the enteric microbiota is a key determinant of immunity through the modulation of HSP production in intestinal epithelial cells.⁶⁹

Gut microbiota plays a pivotal role in regulating the immune, metabolic, and even eating-behavioral aspects of mammals,⁷⁰⁻⁷⁴ and the *diversity* of commensal microbiota is closely tied to an organism's health.⁷⁵ For instance, in conditions such as obesity and T2DM, the interaction between gut microbiota and the host plays a pivotal role in the development of metabolic disorders. Excessive dietary fat intake, for example, heightens systemic exposure to potentially proinflammatory free fatty acids and their derivatives, elevating plasma lipopolysaccharide (LPS) levels, a phenomenon termed "metabolic endotoxemia."^{64,65,76} Imbalances in the distribution of gut microbiota taxa further contribute to the disruption of gut barrier integrity.⁷⁶ Converselv, adherence to a Mediterranean diet has been linked to various health benefits, including reduced mortality, lower rates of obesity, T2DM, low-grade inflammation, cancer, Alzheimer's disease, and depression. Additionally, recent studies suggest that following a Mediterranean diet may delay the onset of Crohn's disease.⁷⁷

A reduction in gut microbiota species diversity has been observed in obesity and T2DM,^{78,79} along with an imbalance between beneficial and harmful species.⁸⁰ Such alterations can also result from pathogenic infections, as seen in COVID-19.81 Notably, diabetic individuals exhibit an increased presence of Proteobacteria,⁸²⁻⁸⁴ a pattern also associated with conditions like Crohn's disease and colitis.⁸⁵ Although Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes represent 90% of gut microbiota, the dominant gut microbial phyla are Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia.⁸⁶ In addition, the relative proportion of Bacteroidetes genera has long been known to be decreased in obese people in comparison with lean people, while this proportion increases with low-calorie diet-induced weight loss.⁸⁷

Gut microbiota has a preponderant role in insulin resistance.⁸⁸ The composition of the microbiota is even proposed as a marker for diseases or disease stages, such as fibrosis in NAFLD patients.⁸⁹ Furthermore, probiotics, live microorganisms used to promote health,⁹⁰ have demonstrated potential benefits as adjunctive treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases. For instance, the yeast probiotic *Saccharomyces boulardii* changes gut microbiota and reduces hepatic steatosis, low-grade inflammation, and fat mass in obese and T2DM db/db mice.⁹¹ Probiotics are promising also for the treatment of humans with T2DM.⁹²

Nutritional imbalances and shifts in gut microbiota are key contributors to obesity and insulin resistance. Dysregulation of gut microbiota due to the Western lifestyle results in defects in intestinal tight junctions. leading to chronic endotoxemia and exacerbating systemic inflammation.⁷⁶ This mechanism is intricately linked to an increase in circulating LPS, as demonstrated in the seminal work by Cani and colleagues, which revealed that a high-fat diet alters gut microbiota and leads to elevated LPS levels and bacterial translocation into the bloodstream in mice.^{64,65} In addition to the presence of plasma LPS and bacteremia, this situation is unfortunate as the increased prevalence of bacterial LPS-producing microbes results in LPS-induced metabolic endotoxemia. This condition triggers obesity, insulin resistance, and diabetes by disrupting insulin sensitivity and weight control through the LPS/CD14 system.⁶⁴ Subsequent studies have consistently reaffirmed these findings.^{91,93,94}

Alterations in intestinal barrier permeability and heightened nutrient availability^{95,96} are also involved. Dietary fat directly diminishes the distribution and expression levels of tight junction components, including occludin, E-cadherin, claudin, and junctional adherens molecule, leading to the disruption of intestinal permeability.⁹⁷ Furthermore, high intake of γ -linolenic (ω -6) and docosahexaenoic (ω -3) acids, typical in the Western diet, may also modulate intestinal permeability by stimulating intracellular signaling pathways via protein kinase C pathways.⁹⁷ Altogether, these factors contribute to lowgrade inflammation, fostering insulin resistance independently of weight gain.⁹⁸ LPS activates toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), triggering the JNK pathway, which can obstruct insulin activation downstream to insulin receptor phosphorylation.99 Gut microbiota imbalances may also induce insulin receptor S-nitrosation by boosting inducible NOS activity, which is NF-kB-dependent.^{100,101}

To address this inflammatory condition, the preservation of the intestinal barrier integrity is paramount, and the HSR appears to play a pivotal role. HSF1 directly promotes the expression of the tight junction protein occludin, ensuring a secure seal and integrity of the intestinal epithelial barrier. This occurs through direct binding to its motif in the occludin promoter region.¹⁰² Consequently, activation of HSF1 during thermal stress within the fever-like range serves as a protective measure against heat-induced disruption of the intestinal tight junction barrier. Conversely, compromised HSF1 activity in T2DM contributes to gut-derived endotoxemia.

Strategies aimed at elevating intestinal HSR and HSP production have been proposed as therapeutic interventions against gastrointestinal toxicity.¹⁰³ Alterations in the normal gut microbiota influence mucosal HSP72 expression and may render the organism more susceptible to harmful agents, such as Clostridium difficile toxin A.¹⁰⁴ Perturbations in microbiota composition or immune status can contribute to pathogenic processes causing localized intestinal injury.^{105,106} Notably, an increase in HSP70 within intestinal barrier cells has demonstrated protective effects in cases of colitis.¹⁰⁷ Additionally, HSP70 polymorphisms appear to influence the severity of intestinal barrier disruptions.¹⁰⁸ Furthermore, small HSPs, such as HSP27, play a role in the cytoskeletal activity of intestinal epithelial cells, crucial for preserving their integrity.^{109,110}

Exercise stands as a cost-effective means to combat chronic inflammatory diseases, as extensively documented.^{24,25} Notably, exercise also exerts a profound influence on the host-gut microbiota axis.¹¹¹ A study involving overweight adolescents who underwent a 10-week program of low-calorie intake and increased physical activity demonstrated beneficial effects on gut microbiota composition. This intervention reduced Firmicutes genera while elevating Bacteroidetes.¹¹¹ Exercise alone can impact gut microbiota composition, although taking into account its influence on gut motility and transit time.¹¹²

The intertwined relationship among diet, metabolism, and exercise has become increasingly apparent, with well-controlled studies on elite athletes shedding light on this synergy (see, for instance,¹¹³ for review). Within this context, whey protein (WP) supplements have gained prominence. Renowned for their postexercise recovery and muscle hypertrophy benefits, WP and whey protein hydrolysates (WPH) have the potential to influence gut microbiota composition and, by extension, lipid metabolism. This notion is supported by metagenomic analyses in relevant samples.¹¹³ Furthermore, WPH is emerging as a novel antidiabetic agent, exhibiting favorable effects on glycemia in animal models and humans. It has been demonstrated to enhance blood glucose clearance, reduce hyperinsulinemia, and restore pancreatic islet insulin secretion in response to glucose in ob/ob mice.¹¹⁴

While there is not a "*one-size-fits-all*" optimal gut microbiota composition, given its substantial interindividual variation,⁸⁶ manipulations aimed at promoting a more physiologically balanced bacterial phyla (high diversity of genera) composition in the intestines hold promise for enhancing the HSR capacity in the intestines and, consequently, overall health. As exercise mimics many effects of heat therapy on the body, heat therapy may similarly influence HSR in intestinal barrier cells. Currently, no study has explored the impact of heat therapy on the gut microbiota of individuals with obesity or diabetes. However, we hypothesize that akin to exercise,^{26,27} elevating core temperature may induce favorable adaptations in the gut microbiota, potentially enhancing gut barrier function (possibly through increased HSP70 expression in enterocytes), elevating butyrate production, and mitigating chronic LPS/bacterial infiltration into the bloodstream. Our laboratory is actively investigating the effects of heat therapy on gut microbiota to shed light on this intriguing possibility.

Nutraceutical and pharmacological approaches

Various molecules, obtained from both natural sources and synthetic means, have demonstrated their potential as inducers or co-inducers of the HSR, offering benefits in the context of chronic inflammatory diseases. These compounds have been administered as nutraceutical supplements or pharmacological agents, opening promising avenues for therapeutic intervention. Here, we explore some of these approaches.

Commercial WP and WPH represent a notable example of nutraceutical supplementation that has gained popularity, particularly due to their observed positive influence on gut microbiota, as stated in the previous section. WPH, in particular, has demonstrated intriguing anti-inflammatory properties and the ability to augment the HSR. Research on rats subjected to WPH treatment revealed increased HSP70 expression following a single acute treadmill session.¹¹⁵ Therefore, WPH effects depend on a previous HSR arming stress (exercise). Similarly, a study involving healthy older individuals reported an elevation in HSP70 and HSF-1 levels in response to a combination of resistance training and WPH.¹¹⁶

Notably, camel WPH, despite sharing a similar composition with bovine WPH, exhibits superior antioxidant activities due to its higher content of antioxidant amino acids. Studies involving camel WPH have indicated a reduction in NF- κ B activity and associated proinflammatory pathways in lymphocytes and hepatocytes in the context of heat stress-induced damage. Importantly, these effects were accompanied by the maintenance of baseline HSP70 levels in both models.^{117,118} Indeed, WPH's beneficial effects can be attributed to its amino acid composition, as the effects observed with WPH supplementation were not replicated when casein or nonhydrolyzed WP were administered. This underscores the potential significance of the amino acid profile in hydrolysates.¹¹⁵

Furthermore, research has highlighted the benefits of supplementing with nonessential amino acids in various conditions, including exercise and diabetes. In the context of the HSR signaling, these amino acids appear to play a crucial role, as evidenced by the reduction in HSF1 activity observed during amino acid deprivation.¹¹⁹ Importantly, studies conducted in vitro and in vivo have demonstrated that the supplementation of L-glutamine or L-alanyl-L-glutamine dipeptide can enhance HSP70 expression in skeletal muscle, liver, and immune cells and tissues of mice. This effect extends to scenarios such as endotoxemia and contributes to improvements in metabolic status and antioxidant profiles.¹²⁰⁻¹²³ Conversely, exercise, a potent trigger of systemic HSR (second only to fever or heat itself), concurrently serves as a significant supplier of glutamine to the circulation.¹²⁴ Of note, exercise is linked to increased gut permeability and elevated endotoxin levels in human subjects, particularly in hot environments. A single bout of exercise induces gut damage and heightened permeability in healthy individuals, with exacerbated damage observed in hot conditions.¹²⁵ Conversely, oral glutamine supplementation mitigates this impairment.¹²⁶ In the same study, it was observed that glutamine enhances the HS-induced expression of HSP70, HSF1, and occludin in cell cultures of the intestinal epithelial line Caco-2.¹²⁶ These findings align with previous research (Rearming the HSR through the manipulation of gut microbiota) indicating that HSF1 directly promotes occludin expression, and the HSR improves the intestinal epithelial barrier, thereby preventing LPS-mediated metabolic endotoxemia.^{64,65,76,1}

While several amino acids, including glycine, alanine,¹²⁷ arginine,¹²⁸ and taurine,¹²⁹ have demonstrated the capacity to boost HSP70 expression, glutamine stands out as the primary co-inducer within this category. Importantly, in cellular or animal models lacking HSP induction mechanisms, the protective effects of glutamine are not evident,^{130,131} thus reinforcing that this amino acid acts by potentiating an existing HSR.

A proposed mechanism for the enhanced HSR elicited by glutamine involves the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP),¹³² as outlined by Leite *et al.*²³ Glutamine serves as a substrate for HBP,^{133,134} which, in turn, triggers HSF-1 *N*-acetylglycosylation, ultimately leading to increased HSP70 expression.^{132,135} Consequently, glutamine actually operates as a co-inducer of the HSR, necessitating prior activation of HSF1 before the enhancement of HSF1 activity facilitated by glutamine (a concept elaborated upon in the referenced publication).³

Glutamine and its derivatives, known enhancers of the HSR, have demonstrated the capacity to ameliorate metabolic status^{121,122} and enhance pancreatic β -cell

function both in vivo and in vitro by bolstering the HSR biochemical pathway.^{123,136–138} Studies have also shown that combining glutamine supplementation with exercise provides cytoprotective benefits by augmenting the HSR in animal models.^{120,139} However, there are significant unresolved aspects in this context. Notably, plasma glutamine levels have exhibited a positive correlation with coronary artery disease in both male and premenopausal female individuals.¹⁴⁰ A meta-analysis of 10,083 women further revealed that menopausal status is associated with elevated serum glutamine levels.¹⁴¹ However, plasma glutamine concentrations may not necessarily reflect the organism's capacity for glutamine utilization and its associated effects.^{124,142} Moreover, the mechanistic and clinical implications of these findings remain to be fully elucidated, especially given that both chronological age and menopausal status are independently linked to CVD risk factors.¹⁴³ Furthermore, conflicting results have emerged from animal models.¹⁴⁴ Currently, there is a dearth of studies specifically investigating the effects of glutamine supplementation, whether alone or in conjunction with HSR inducers like exercise or heat treatment, on menopausal CVD risk factors or hot flushes.³⁰

In addition to the natural regulation of the HSR through methods such as heat treatment, either independently or in conjunction with physical exercise or prebiotics, pharmacological intervention offers an alternative approach. An intriguing example of unexplored and potentially valuable molecules lies in the α,β -unsaturated cyclopentenone prostaglandins (cyPGs) of the A-type (but not other *non*- α , β -unsaturated PGs), with PGA₂ being a prominent representative. cyPGs are highly electrophilic compounds naturally produced during the resolution phase of inflammation and exhibit potent antiinflammatory and antiproliferative properties. They exert their effects by interrupting the entire NF-kB activation pathway.¹⁴⁵ Notably, cyPGs have demonstrated the capability to entirely reverse atherosclerotic lesions both in vivo and in vitro.¹⁴⁶ A-type cyPGs also engage in physical interactions with 3-hvdroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase, the rate-limiting step in cholesterol synthesis.¹⁴⁷ This interaction may contribute to the antiproliferative effects of cyPGs, given the indispensable role of cholesterogenesis (not only cholesterol synthesis) in cell proliferation. Consequently, PGA2, an inducer of the HSR, holds promise as a novel nonstatin inhibitor of (3hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A) reductase with potential therapeutic applications in CVD. However, PGA₂'s efficacy in chronic inflammatory conditions be-yond atherosclerosis^{146,148} remains unexplored.

Pharmacological interventions utilizing hydroxylamine derivatives such as bimoclomol and BGP-15 have emerged as promising strategies for addressing a spectrum of metabolic disorders characterized by inflammation. These disorders encompass diabetes, obesity, and related conditions such as CVD, NAFLD, as well as neuromuscular and neurodegenerative ailments.¹⁴⁹ Much like the observed effects of glutamine, which, upon metabolism through the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP), extends the activation and transcriptional activity of HSF1,²³ bimoclomol and BGP-15 also serve as HSR co-inducers. This implies that these drugs do not instigate a genuine HSR by themselves but rather necessitate a triggering event, such as exercise, heat exposure, or oxidative stress, to potentiate it.

As anticipated, bimoclomol has been demonstrated to accumulate HSP70 in tissues affected by chronic diseases, including diabetes, heart disease, and kidney dysfunction. Importantly, it has exhibited clinical safety in human trials.¹⁵⁰ Animal studies have further substantiated the effectiveness of bimoclomol as an insulin sensitizer, ameliorating peripheral neuropathy in diabetic rats¹⁵¹ and affording protection to rat cardiomyocytes from severe heat stress (47 °C for 2 h) *ex vivo* and myocardial infarction *in vivo*, with these effects being contingent on HSP70.¹⁵²

Several natural compounds have demonstrated their ability to induce the HSR, leading to an increase in HSP expression in both in vivo and in vitro settings. Celastrol, a triterpenoid derived from plant root extracts, exhibits anti-inflammatory properties by inhibiting NF-xB and increasing HSP70 levels in cultured cells.¹⁵³ Leucinostatin, a fungal peptide mycotoxin, has been shown to enhance HSP70 expression in stressed cells.¹⁵⁴ Carvacrol, also known as cymophenol, a phenolic monoterpenoid found in plant oils, can co-induce HSP70 expression, both in vitro and in models of arthritis.^{155,156} Geranylgeranylacetone is another HSP70 inducer that demonstrates protective effects in rat models of ischemia-reperfusion injury.¹⁵⁷ Geranylgeranylacetone has also shown promise in improving glucose tolerance in diabetic monkeys through an increase in HSP70 levels¹⁵⁸ and has been considered for use in liver surgery.¹⁵⁹ Similarly, various nontoxic hydroxylamine derivatives known to act as HSP inducers have been investigated. For example, arimoclomol^{160,161} besides bimoclomol¹⁶² has been shown to prolong the activity of HSF1, thereby increasing HSP70 induction.¹⁵²

Among the above-mentioned HSR co-inducers, BGP-15, apart from other cellular effects that confer cytoprotection,¹⁶³ stands out as a well-studied compound with excellent tolerability and a promising insulin-sensitizing effect.^{164–167} Comparative studies in animal models strongly support its potential application in a range of conditions, including CVD, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and muscular dystrophies.^{168–171} BGP-15 is currently being investigated as a therapeutic option for metabolic diseases.^{149,164,172,173} BGP-15, which is a small molecule co-inducer of HSP72, mimics the beneficial effects seen with genetic overexpression of HSP72 and exercise training. These effects include an increase in mitochondrial area and enhanced insulin sensitivity.¹⁴⁹ The interest in BGP-15 as a potential therapeutic agent for inducing the HSR stemmed from its ability to act as a pharmacological mimic of exercise. During exercise, contracting muscle cells significantly increase the flow of glutamine into the circulation and through the HBP. This heightened HBP flow inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3β (GSK-3β), which usually hampers HSF1 binding to the HS gene promoters. Additionally, the enhanced HBP flow promotes increased AMPK activity, leading to heightened SIRT1 expression and its binding activity to the HSF-1 promoter of HS genes under circumstances of predominantly proteotoxic stress.² These combined effects enhance the HSR.²³

While exercise remains the most potent physiological inducer of the HSR, comparable only to fever, BGP-15, as an HSR co-inducer, not only reduces the production of reactive oxygen species but also possesses the ability to remodel cholesterol-rich membrane domains. Furthermore, it can block the activity of JNKs through direct binding.¹⁷³

In summary, a myriad of molecules, ranging from amino acids to dietary compounds and pharmacological agents, have demonstrated their potential to co-induce the HSR, offering promising avenues for therapeutic intervention in chronic inflammatory diseases and metabolic disorders. Further research is needed to unravel the intricacies of these approaches and translate them into effective clinical strategies.

The integrity of the HSR can be assessed by the Heck index and whole blood heat challenge tests

HSP70 members present some peculiarities regarding their site of responses, stressful situations to those each member may be recruited, and compartmentalization of the products.¹⁷⁴ Elevated iHSP70 expression is closely related to insulin signaling.³¹ Insulin itself is a signal for increased expression of iHSP⁷⁰¹⁷⁵ and regulation of its induction.¹⁷⁶ The intracellular location of HSP70 is related to the preservation and improvement of insulin sensitivity in both skeletal muscle and vascular endothelium.^{44,177} Consequently, HSP70 (HSP72^{-/-}) knockout mice show poor insulin signaling,^{172,178} while transgenic mice overexpressing HSP70 (HSP72^{+/+})

present improvement in insulin signal.^{149,172} Strikingly, when insulin downstream pathways are turned on, they inhibit the activation of HSF1. There is also a coupling between reduced insulin levels (e.g., restricted nutrient intake) and increased lifespan in a variety of animals, ranging from worms and flies to mice.¹⁷⁹ Actually, we presume that, maybe, HSF1 suppression by insulin is also involved in insulin-mediated insulin resistance¹⁸⁰ and perpetuation of low-grade inflammation in obesity and T2DM! On the other hand, this metabolic behavior is intertwined with the caloristasis equilibrium.²

The release of the same HSP70 into the plasma (eHSP70), on the other hand, acts as a danger signal, potentially stimulating the innate and adaptive immune system¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸³ and works as an active mediator of inflammatory pathways, including via TLR4 priming.¹⁸⁴ Furthermore, eHSP70 (e.g., eHSP72) has been associated with the danger-associated molecular pattern in activating caspase-1¹⁸⁵ while it has been suggested that a major part of eHSP70 content in the blood is released by circulating immune cells.^{186,187} Acutely, eHSP70 can be an important defense signal for the maintenance of homeostasis in stressful conditions, being also implicated in motoneuron protection²¹ and even in providing anti-inflammatory resources.¹⁸⁸ Chronic exposure to high plasma levels of eHSP70, however, is firmly accepted to be deleterious to an array of tissues (including the pancreas) from obese patients and those bearing T2DM, CVD, NAFLD, and menopause-associated metabolic imbalances.^{21,30,39,40,189}

The ability to produce and release appropriate amounts of eHSP70 is also associated with the anti-inflammatory HSR,^{27,188,190} while the adequate balance between eHSP70 and iHSP70 is now assumed to be directly correlated to the immunoinflammatory status of individuals.^{187,191–194} Indeed, increased eHSP70-toiHSP70 ratios are elevated in different acute and chronic challenges to health¹⁸⁷ but are virtually always associated with low-grade chronic inflammation thus permitting the use of these ratios to follow up patients and laboratory animals.²⁵ eHSP70 is also linked to arterial hypertension.¹⁹⁵ Besides, elevated eHSP70-to-iHSP70 ratios were found to disrupt vascular responses to calcium and to activate the TLR4/MD2 complex in type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), as reported by De Oliveira and colleagues.¹⁹⁴ This can be partially explained by the rise of a pro-inflammatory cytokine (eHSP70) that mobilizes Ca²⁺ in vascular cells and the reduction of a powerful antiinflammatory (iHSP70), thus leading to vascular cell dysregulation. Additionally, iHSP70 was found to regulate Ca²⁺ mobilization participating in the contraction of vascular smooth muscle.¹⁹⁴ On the other hand, intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization within the cytoplasm is a

powerful inducer of HSF1 activation and HSR.¹⁵ Finally, eHSP70 present in the plasma of T1DM rats increases α -adrenergic-induced contraction of aorta rings in a TLR4/MD2-dependent way, collaborating to disturb vascular reactivity in T1DM.¹⁹⁴

Chronically, the elevation of plasma HSP70 (eHSP72) correlates with tumor necrosis factor- α increase, insulin resistance, and pancreatic β -cell failure.⁴⁰ As expected, there is also a negative correlation of eHSP70 with insulin levels and HOMA-IR in overweight young men.¹⁹⁶ Increased eHSP72 levels are associated with sarcopenia¹⁹⁷ and duration of T2DM.¹⁹⁸ On the other hand, conditions that stimulate the tonus of the sympathetic nervous system (as probably occurring during saunas and hot tubs) can augment HSP70 release from immune cells.^{24,25} Additionally, adrenergic sympathetic activation occurs following overfeeding.¹⁹⁹ Therefore, in states of continuous surplus energy imbalance,^{200,201} such as in obesity, adrenergic stimulus to many tissues may take place. Contrariwise, adipose tissue itself acts as an endocrine organ releasing adipocytokines (e.g. leptin, resistin, adiponectin) that, along with insulin resistance-derived hyperinsulinemia, increase sympathetic activity via signaling at the central level, that is, in the nucleus tractus solitarius.²⁰² Adrenergic stimulus can increase the expression and release of HSP70 by circulating immune cells.²⁰³ Together with the fact that immune cells are reputed to be the main exporters of eHSP70 in stressful situations, measuring the release of HSP70 by this "circulating tissue" became a good tool to assess organismal capacity to activate the HSR under stressful conditions.

The antagonistic relation between intra and eHSP70 signals can be used to assess the inflammatory profile. PBMCs are widely used to access HSP70 production in laboratory animals and humans,^{190,204–206} because the expression of HSP70 in PBMC is inversely correlated with the degree of proinflammatory status in tissues from chronic disease patients.^{187,190,207} As PBMC evaluation represents a less invasive method that perfectly matches the muscle content of HSP^{70,208} we have started to use this approach as a representative of bodily HSP70 intracellular content.

This approach is possible because alterations in proinflammatory parameters are directly correlated with an increased eHSP70-to-iHSP70 ratio, so such ratio can be used as a predictor of the proinflammatory or antiinflammatory response and to the development of insulin resistance, even before alterations in classical parameters, such as HbA1c, can be noticed.^{24,25,209} As previously mentioned, the rationale behind this can be partly explained by the increase in the proinflammatory cytokine eHSP70 and the decrease in the potent anti-inflammatory iHSP70 that correlates with eHSP70-to-iHSP70 ratio. Furthermore, our laboratory's studies have provided clear evidence to support that this postulation is correct.¹⁸⁷ Therefore, taking PBMC and plasmas from patients or laboratory animals allows for the assessment of the time course of the evolution of plasma-to-leukocyte ratios with ease. These ratios can be obtained by a simple division between the absolute values of eHSP70 and iHSP70 in different times or situations, irrespective of the method used to assess these HSP70 contents.

Unlike simply estimating the evolution of eHSP70/ iHSP70 ratios, which gives a static picture in different situations, the eHSP70-to-iHSP70 ratio *index* can also be tracked by the Heck index or H-index of organismal HSP70 status. Heck index consists of the comparison between the eHSP70/iHSP70 ratio in a situation with that of the eHSP70/iHSP70 ratio in a different condition, but using the *ratio of eHSP70/iHSP70 ratios*, instead of merely accompanying the linear progression of the eHSP70/iHSP70 ratio.

Heck index has been recently identified as a novel and comprehensive index of an individual's immunoin-flammatory status. Similarly to that described above for simple eHSP70/iHSP70 ratios, the Heck index can also be taken by evaluating HSP70 contents in PBMC and plasma, but comparing *the ratio of ratios*. This is possible because eHSP70/iHSP70 ratios between *plasma and PBMC* reflect eHSP70/iHSP70 ratios between *plasma and (metabolic) tissues*.^{24,25,181,187,191,207,209–216}

The reasoning for this is that higher eHSP70 levels signify an increase in inflammatory signals, as eHSP70 is inherently proinflammatory. Conversely, cells that respond to stressful stimuli by enhancing intracellular iHSP70 levels are more likely to be in a state of antiinflammation or equilibrated HSR. To calculate the Heck index, one initially takes $R_c = (eHSP70)_c/$ (iHSP70)_c as the HSP70 ratio in a baseline (control) situation and $R_i = (eHSP70)_i/(iHSP70)_i$ as the HSP70 ratio in any other situation "j," irrespective of the techniques used to measure each eHSP70 and iHSP70. Heck index can then be calculated as the quotient of any R_i by the control R_c , which is considered to be unity ($R_c = 1$) and normalizes all other results in "j" situations allowing for easy comparisons between different conditions. Hence, the Heck index = R_i/R_c and can be used to compare any stressful situation "j" with the assumed control situation. This index can be used to estimate the immunoinflammatory status of an individual (or groups of individuals) in a variety of situations, including immune responses, diabetes, and the immunological impacts of exercise.

As previously shown,^{25,187} assuming a Heck index of 1 ($R_c = 1$) for the controls (resting, unstimulated),

exercise can cause a shift in Heck indices of up to approximately 5, which is accompanied by an increase in inflammatory markers and cell proliferation. A Heck index value >5 indicates an exacerbated proin-flammatory condition. Conversely, a Heck index value between 1 and 5 suggests a predominantly equilibrated HSR while values <1 indicate an anti-inflammatory status (for more details, see supplemental *Table S2* in Ref.¹⁸⁷).

Heck index allows for the follow-up of the temporal evolution of immunoinflammatory status in patients and laboratory animals, that is, the occurrence of a background inflammation. High basal Heck indices have been associated with high HOMA-IR values,^{39,40} visceral obesity, and insulin resistance,²¹¹ as well as elevated levels of ultra-sensitive C-reactive protein.²¹⁷ Heck index is higher in streptozotocin-treated diabetic rats and correlates with vascular abnormalities observed in the animals¹⁹⁴ as well. Consequently, changes in the Heck index have emerged as a potentially novel biomarker for lowgrade inflammation and a highly sensitive indicator of an individual's inflammatory status permitting an initial evaluation of the HSR in patients and laboratory animals. As such, maintaining an appropriate balance between extracellular and iHSP70 is now believed to be directly correlated with an individual's immunoinflammatory status.^{191–194}

Although the Heck index is especially useful for giving initial clues about the inflammatory status of an individual, it does not furnish the capacity to trigger a pronounced HSR under stress. To supplement the Heck index, we developed a straightforward technique to evaluate HSR status in rodents and humans, using short-term heat challenges of whole-blood samples under different conditions. This method allows the monitoring of HSR integrity capacity,²⁷ particularly because the expression of HSR components in PBMC is inversely correlated with the degree of proinflammatory "tonus" in chronic disease tissues.^{13,190,207} Notably, PBMC incubated at various temperatures for 2 h exhibit an iHSP70 peak at 42 °C, with lymphocytes as the primary producers under this condition.¹⁸⁶ However, after just 1 h of incubation at 40 °C or 43 °C, a significant increase in iHSP70 is observed only at the higher thermal stress level.²⁰⁶ Similar results are observed upon incubations of circulating monocytes at 41 °C or 42 °C (Schöler et al. manuscript in preparation).

Basal iHSP70 contents and thermal stress sensitivity in human PBMC and polymorphonuclear leukocytes differ depending on the cell clusters.²¹⁸ Monocytes exhibit a more robust response between 39 °C and 41 °C after a 2-h incubation period, while lymphocytes respond better at 42 °C within the same duration.²¹⁹ At temperatures up to 41 °C, lymphocytes and polymorphonuclear leukocytes show only a modest increase in iHSP70, whereas monocytes display a strong induction at 39 °C, with iHSP70 expression at 41 °C being 10fold higher than in control monocytes at 37 °C.²¹⁹ In healthy volunteers who had been exposed to a hot water bath to induce whole-body hyperthermia in a fever-like range (39 °C), iHSP70 induction was observed in all leukocytes, with cell type-specific variations comparable to those observed *in vitro*, albeit less pronounced.²¹⁹ Although there are disagreements regarding the temperatures and incubation times used for specific cell types in the literature, our current studies indicate that using a 2-h incubation at 42 °C is optimal for testing iHSP70 production.

To assess organismal HSR under different clinical conditions, we employ a whole-blood HS challenge *ex vivo*. Three approaches are in use in our laboratory, all involving 2-h incubations of whole blood at 42 °C, with control samples kept for the same period at 37 °C. In *protocol #1*, extracellular eHSP70 is promptly measured after a 2-h thermal (or control) challenge,¹⁹⁰ followed by the evaluation of iHSP70 in the PBMC fraction (e.g., Ficoll-Hypaque) after 6 h of rest at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ atmosphere.²²⁰

In *protocol #2*, we compare both HSP70 in PBMC (intracellular, iHSP70) and supernatant HSP70 (extracellular, eHSP70), after 6 h from the beginning of the 2-h incubation period.²¹⁶ We have used the same protocol to compare the HSR in the human ovarian cortex obtained by closed metal container vitrification or the slow-freezing technique of cryopreservation.²²¹

Although we believe that the protocols explained above satisfactorily permit evaluation of organismal HSR (see details in Table 2), they have some limitations under specific conditions. A considerable sample volume (at least 400 μ L) is required for the test, which for human samples is perfect but is limiting when studying small animals (e.g., mice). Also, the use of gradient-separating products, such as Histopaque or Ficoll-Hypaque (protocol #1 and protocol #2), makes the method more complex and expensive. This is why we set up a simpler and straightforward technique to assess the status of the HSR in rodents and humans by using the short-term heat challenge of whole-blood samples, without requiring prior or postincubation cell separation. Moreover, changing the culture medium after the heat challenge does not affect the results (Schroeder et al. manuscript in preparation). Therefore, protocol #3 involves diluting whole-blood samples and incubating them at 42 °C (or 37 °C for controls) for 2 h. The samples are then incubated for an additional 6 h at 37 °C, allowing for the accumulation of inducible HSP70 (HSP72), a marker of HSR capacity. By using this

Table 2				
Characteristics	of current H	HSR assessmer	nt approaches	

Technique	Method	Characteristics	Interpretation
Basal measurement	eHSP70 by ELISA kit	Direct measurement with absolute values to compare	Reference values are not known
	iHSP70 by ELISA kit, WB, FCM, IHC	Possible visualization of cellular compartmentalization of the iHSP70	
	Heck index (eHSP70 to iHSP70 ratio index)	Allow quantitation of the ratios between intra and extracellular HSP70 forms as pro/anti- inflammatory markers	R < 1 = anti-inflammatory status; 1 ≤R ≤ 5 equilibrated immunoinflammatory surveillance status; R > 5 chronic proinflammatory status
Heat shock challenge	Protocol #1 Whole Blood (isolation <i>after</i> test)	Provides different combinations and evaluates the overall stimulation of cells	\uparrow HSP70 = HSR preserved
	Protocol #2 Whole Blood (isolation <i>before</i> incubation)	Isolation responses from different cell types	
	Protocol #3 Whole Blood (<i>without</i> PBMC isolation)	Easy to perform, cost-effective	

Abbreviations used: eHSP70, extracellular HSP70; FCM, flow cytometry; HSP70, 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; HSR, heat shock response; iHSP70, intracellular HSP70; IHC, immunohistochemistry; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; WB, Western blotting.

technique, it is possible to establish the timeline of HSR suppression in animal models of high-fat diet-induced obesity, based on the differences in iHSP70 between the two test temperatures (Δ HSP70). The Δ HSP70 demonstrates a 5-parameter logistic correlation with fasting glycemia (negative), fast insulinemia (negative), HOMA-IR, negative, and Quantitative Insulin Sensitivity Check Index

(positive) (Schroeder *et al.* manuscript in preparation). The illustration of *protocol #3* can be found in Figure 1.

Blood samples collected in heparinized tubes are subjected to dispersion and then diluted in a 1:10 ratio with an appropriate culture medium. The resulting diluted blood samples are incubated in a temperature-controlled water bath at 42.00 \pm 0.01 °C for a period of



Fig. 1 Whole-blood heat shock challenge *ex vivo* to assess organismal heat shock response. Heparinized blood samples are collected from overnight-fasted individuals and diluted 1:10 with culture medium. Diluted blood samples are, then, incubated in a temperature-controlled water bath at 42.00 ± 0.01 °C for 2 h. Parallel control preparations are to be maintained in another water bath at 37 °C for the same time period. After incubations, cells from both groups are incubated for additional 6 h at 37 °C to allow for a robust accumulation of the inducible forms of HSP70 (HSP72), which serves as a marker of the HSR capacity. Total experimental time, since blood harvesting to the end of incubations, is 8 h. HSP70 accumulation can be assessed by Western blotting, ELISA, and flow cytometry. The *difference* (Δ) between HSP72 expressed after 42 °C compared with that after 37 °C is consistent with IR and T2DM. This illustration was prepared by using free icons from Biorender.com (available at https://app.biorender.com/). Abbreviations used: HS, heat shock; HSP70, 70 kDa family of heat shock proteins; HSR, heat shock response; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.

2 h. Parallel control preparations are maintained in another water bath at 37 °C for the same duration of time. Following the water bath incubations, cells from both the control and heat-treated groups are incubated for an additional 6 h at 37 °C to allow for the significant accumulation of the inducible forms of HSP70 (HSP72), which serve as markers of the HSR capacity. After the incubation period, cells can be processed for iHSP70 analysis using various techniques, including EIA kits, Western blotting, flow cytometry, or immunofluorescence. This technique is particularly useful when there is no significant difference in basal expressions of iHSP70 between control and test groups, such as in cases of diabetes, obesity, or CVD. In our experience, evaluation of the HSR by ex vivo whole-blood HSR protocol #3 is sensitive enough to detect insulin resistance in mice from week to week, even when glucose tolerance tests and basal glycemia are normal.

Concluding remarks

In summary, inflammation, a fundamental physiological response, has evolved as a crucial defense mechanism against microbial threats and tissue damage. However, in our modern Western lifestyle characterized by sedentary habits and excessive calorie consumption, the body's natural mechanisms for resolving inflammation, notably the HSR, become jeopardized. The relentless strain placed on adipose tissue's ER leads to chronic ER stress and the subsequent UPR. Unfortunately, the UPR possesses an inflammatory arm that propagates inflammatory signals throughout the body. This persistent activation of UPR pathways eventually triggers the continuous activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, initially in adipose tissue, and then affecting the resolution of inflammation by the HSR in multiple tissues beyond just adipose tissue.

This domino effect leads to the establishment of chronic low-grade inflammation, a hallmark of various degenerative conditions including insulin resistance, obesity, T2DM, NFLD, CVDs, and neurodegenerative diseases. Remarkably, strategies do exist to re-establish the HSR, even in the face of persistent noxious stimuli of our Western lifestyle. Heat-based interventions, such as fever and thermotherapy, as well as exercise, operate through distinct mechanisms to dismantle NLRP3 inflammasome activation and reactivate the HSR. This offers hope for alleviating chronic inflammatory conditions.

In this manuscript, we have explored current physiological, pharmacological, and nutraceutical approaches designed to reawaken the HSR in chronic inflammatory conditions. Additionally, we have highlighted clinical tools that can evaluate HSP70 status, offering valuable insights into the HSR's progression or suppression in both patients and experimental animals. Overall, understanding and harnessing the power of the HSR holds promise for helping to combat the widespread burden of chronic inflammatory diseases in our society.

"Quæ medicamenta non sanat æ ferrum sanat. Quæ ferrum non sanat æ ignis sanat. Quæ vero ignis non sanat æ insanabilia existimare oportet.

That which drugs fail to cure the scalpel can cure. That which the scalpel fails to cure heat can cure. If heat cannot cure, it must be determined to be incurable."

(Aphorisms of Hippocrates, by Elias Marks, from the Latin version of Verhoofd, Collins & Co. New York, 1817).

Funding and support This work has been supported by the State of Rio Grande do Sul Foundation for Research Support (FAPERGS/Decit/SCTIE/MS/CNPq/SESRS n. 03/2017-PPSUS #17/2551-0001424-3 to MK and #19/2551-0001713-8 to PIHB) and the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq, process #303853/2017-4 to PIHBJ, process #307926/2022-2 to TGH and process #302959/2020-3 to MK). Financial support from CAPES (Coordination of Superior Level Staff Improvement) is also acknowledged.

Author contribution HTS and PIHB conceptualized the paper while HTS prepared the first draft. All the authors were involved in co-writing this work. PIHB prepared the figures and supervised the finalization of the manuscript. All the authors have read and agreed to the submitted and published versions of the manuscript.

Data availability statement Data will be made available on request.

Declarations of interest The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper. On behalf of all the authors, Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt declares that they have no potential conflict of interest related to the present manuscript, and no competing interests such as consultancies, financial involvement, patent ownership, etc. in relation to the work described. CNPq, FAPERGS, and CAPES (the funding organisms) had no involvement in the propositions presented in this manuscript.

Acknowledgments The authors are indebted to Dr. Maria Inês Lavina Rodrigues for her invaluable technical support during the experiments that support many of the findings described herein. The authors apologize for not including many important primary studies in their text due to space constraints. Their goal was to ensure a smooth flow of information throughout the text.

References

- Chen Y, Brandizzi F. IRE1: ER stress sensor and cell fate executor. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2013;23:547–555. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tcb.2013.06.005
- 2. Schroeder HT, De Lemos Muller CH, Heck TG, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt PI. The dance of proteostasis and

metabolism: unveiling the caloristatic controlling switch. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (CSTRES-D-23-00001_R2); 2024. S1355-8145(24)00050-6.

- 3. Schroeder HT, De Lemos Muller CH, Heck TG, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Heat shock response during the resolution of inflammation and its progressive suppression in chronic-degenerative inflammatory diseases. *Cell Stress Chaperones*; 2024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstres.2024.01. 002.
- Tezgin D, Giardina C, Perdrizet GA, Hightower LE. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen on mitochondrial and glycolytic energy metabolism: the caloristasis concept. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2020;25:667–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-020-01100-5
- Febbraio MA, Steensberg A, Walsh R, et al. Reduced glycogen availability is associated with an elevation in HSP72 in contracting human skeletal muscle. *J Physiol.* 2002;538:911–917. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2001. 013145
- Calderwood SK. Regulatory interfaces between the stress protein response and other gene expression programs in the cell. *Methods.* 2005;35:139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymeth.2004.08.004
- Febbraio MA, Koukoulas I. HSP72 gene expression progressively increases in human skeletal muscle during prolonged, exhaustive exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2000;89: 1055–1060. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2000.89.3.1055
- Dai S, Tang Z, Cao J, et al. Suppression of the HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress response by the metabolic stress sensor AMPK. *EMBO J.* 2015;34:275–293.10.15252/embj.201489062.
- 9. Dai C. The heat-shock, or HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress, response in cancer: from proteomic stability to oncogenesis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2018;373:20160525. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0525
- Haddad F, Soliman AM, Wong ME, et al. Fever integrates antimicrobial defences, inflammation control, and tissue repair in a cold-blooded vertebrate. *Elife.* 2023;12:e83644. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83644
- Singh IS, Hasday JD. Fever, hyperthermia and the heat shock response. Int J Hyperthermia. 2013;29:423–435. https://doi. org/10.3109/02656736.2013.808766
- Hasday JD, Singh IS. Fever and the heat shock response: distinct, partially overlapping processes. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2000;5:471–480. https://doi.org/10.1379/1466-1268(2000)005<0471:fathsr>2.0.co;2
- Heck TG, Ludwig MS, Frizzo MN, Rasia-Filho AA, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Suppressed anti-inflammatory heat shock response in high-risk COVID-19 patients: lessons from basic research (inclusive bats), light on conceivable therapies. *Clin Sci.* 2020;134:1991–2017. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20200596
- 14. Lindquist S. The heat-shock response. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 1986;55:1151–1191. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bi.55. 070186.005443
- Anckar J, Sistonen L. Regulation of HSF1 function in the heat stress response: implications in aging and disease. *Annu Rev Biochem.* 2011;80:1089–1115. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-biochem-060809-095203
- Török Z, Crul T, Maresca B, et al. Plasma membranes as heat stress sensors: from lipid-controlled molecular switches to therapeutic applications. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2014;1838: 1594–1618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.12.015
- Li GC, Werb Z. Correlation between synthesis of heat shock proteins and development of thermotolerance in Chinese hamster fibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1982;79: 3218–3222. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.79.10.3218

- Rada A, Tonino P, Anselmi G, Strauss M. Is hypothermia a stress condition in HepG2 cells? Expression and localization of Hsp70 in human hepatoma cell line. *Tissue Cell.* 2005;37:59–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2004.10.003
- Hooper PL. Insulin signaling, GSK-3, heat shock proteins and the natural history of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a hypothesis. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. 2007;5:220–230. https:// doi.org/10.1089/met.2007.0005
- Hooper PL, Hooper PL. Inflammation, heat shock proteins, and type 2 diabetes. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2009;14: 113–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-008-0073-x
- Krause M, Rodrigues-Krause J da C. Extracellular heat shock proteins (eHSP70) in exercise: possible targets outside the immune system and their role for neurodegenerative disorders treatment. *Med Hypotheses*. 2011;76: 286–290. https://doi.org/S0306-9877(10)00438-X.
- Hooper PL, Balogh G, Rivas E, Kavanagh K, Vígh L. The importance of the cellular stress response in the pathogenesis and treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2014;19:447–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-014-0493-8
- Leite JSM, Cruzat VF, Krause MS, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Physiological regulation of the heat shock response by glutamine: implications for chronic low-grade inflammatory diseases in age-related conditions. *Nutrire*. 2016;41:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41110-016-0021-y
- Krause M, Bock PM, Takahashi HK, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Newsholme P. The regulatory roles of NADPH oxidase, intra- and extra-cellular HSP70 in pancreatic islet function, dysfunction and diabetes. *Clin Sci.* 2015;128:789–803. https:// doi.org/10.1042/CS20140695
- 25. Krause M, Heck TG, Bittencourt A, et al. The chaperone balance hypothesis: the importance of the extracellular to intracellular HSP70 ratio to inflammation-driven type 2 diabetes, the effect of exercise, and the implications for clinical management. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015;2015: 249205. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/249205
- 26. Krause M, Ludwig MS, Heck TG, Takahashi HK. Heat shock proteins and heat therapy for type 2 diabetes: pros and cons. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* 2015;18:374–380. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000183
- De Lemos Muller CH, De Matos JR, Grigolo GB, Schroeder HT, Rodrigues-Krause J, Krause M. Exercise training for the elderly: inflammaging and the central role for HSP70. J Sci Sport Exercise. 2019;1:97–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s42978-019-0015-6
- Bittencourt A, Schroeder HT, Porto RR, De Lemos Muller CH, Krause M, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Heat shock response to exercise in pancreatic islets of obese mice. *Biochimie.* 2020;168:28–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi. 2019.10.015
- Hooper PL. Hot-tub therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1999;341:924–925. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199909163411216
- 30. Miragem AA, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Nitric oxide-heat shock protein axis in menopausal hot flushes: neglected metabolic issues of chronic inflammatory diseases associated with deranged heat shock response. *Hum Reprod.* 2017;23:600–628. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmx020
- **31.** Kurucz I, Morva A, Vaag A, et al. Decreased expression of heat shock protein 72 in skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes correlates with insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. 2002;51:1102–1109.10.2337/diabetes.51.4.1102.
- Michalsen A, Lüdtke R, Bühring M, Spahn G, Langhorst J, Dobos GJ. Thermal hydrotherapy improves quality of life and

hemodynamic function in patients with chronic heart failure. *Am Heart J.* 2003;146:728–733.

- 33. Bruxel MA, Tavares AMV, Zavarize Neto LD, et al. Chronic whole-body heat treatment relieves atherosclerotic lesions, cardiovascular and metabolic abnormalities, and enhances survival time restoring the anti-inflammatory and anti-senescent heat shock response in mice. *Biochimie*. 2019;156:33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2018.09.011
- 34. Levin TC, Wickliffe KE, Leppla SH, Moayeri M. Heat shock inhibits caspase-1 activity while also preventing its inflammasome-mediated activation by anthrax lethal toxin. *Cell Microbiol.* 2008;10:2434–2446. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1462-5822.2008.01220.x
- **35.** Hoekstra SP, Bishop NC, Leicht CA. Elevating body temperature to reduce low-grade inflammation: a welcome strategy for those unable to exercise? *Exerc Immunol Rev.* 2020;26:42–55.
- 36. Brunt VE, Wiedenfeld-Needham K, Comrada LN, Minson CT. Passive heat therapy protects against endothelial cell hypoxia-reoxygenation via effects of elevations in temperature and circulating factors. J Physiol. 2018;596:4831–4845. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP276559
- Hafen PS, Preece CN, Sorensen JR, Hancock CR, Hyldahl RD. Repeated exposure to heat stress induces mitochondrial adaptation in human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol. 2018;125:1447–1455. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol. 00383.2018
- Hoekstra SP, Bishop NC, Faulkner SH, Bailey SJ, Leicht CA. Acute and chronic effects of hot water immersion on inflammation and metabolism in sedentary, overweight adults. *J Appl Physiol.* 2018;125:2008–2018. https://doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00407.2018
- 39. Rodrigues-Krause J, Krause M, O'Hagan C, et al. Divergence of intracellular and extracellular HSP72 in type 2 diabetes: does fat matter? *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2012;17:293–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-011-0319-x
- 40. Krause M, Keane K, Rodrigues-Krause J, et al. Elevated levels of extracellular heat-shock protein 72 (eHSP72) are positively correlated with insulin resistance in vivo and cause pancreatic β-cell dysfunction and death in vitro. *Clin Sci.* 2014;126:739–752. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20130678
- Kavanagh K, Davis AT, Jenkins KA, Flynn DM. Effects of heated hydrotherapy on muscle HSP70 and glucose metabolism in old and young vervet monkeys. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2016;21:717–725. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-016-0699-z
- 42. Kondo T, Ono K, Kitano S, et al. Mild electrical stimulation with heat shock reduces visceral adiposity and improves metabolic abnormalities in subjects with metabolic syndrome or type 2 diabetes: randomized crossover trials. *EBioMedicine*. 2014;1:80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom. 2014.11.001
- 43. Kondo T, Goto R, Ono K, et al. Activation of heat shock response to treat obese subjects with type 2 diabetes: a prospective, frequency-escalating, randomized, open-label, triple-arm trial. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:35690. https://doi.org/10. 1038/srep35690
- Karpe PA, Tikoo K. Heat shock prevents insulin resistanceinduced vascular complications by augmenting angiotensin-(1-7) signaling. *Diabetes*. 2014;63:1124–1139. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/db13-1267
- 45. Laukkanen T, Khan H, Zaccardi F, Laukkanen JA. Association between sauna bathing and fatal cardiovascular and all-cause mortality events. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015;175: 542–548. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.8187

- 46. Talebipour B, Rodrigues LOC, Moreira MCV. Effects of sauna on cardiovascular and lifestyle-related diseases. *Rev Bras Med Esporte*. 2006;12:216–220. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1517-86922006000400010
- **47.** Blum N, Blum A. Beneficial effects of sauna bathing for heart failure patients. *Exp Clin Cardiol.* 2007;2:29–32.
- Weber AA, Silver MA. Heat therapy in the management of heart failure. *Congest Heart Fail*. 2007;13:81–83. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1527-5299.2007.06348.x
- **49.** Hannuksela ML, Ellahham S. Benefits and risks of sauna bathing. *Am J Med.* 2001;110:118–126.
- Malyshev IYu, Manukhina EB, Mikoyan VD, Kubrina LN, Vanin AF. Nitric oxide is involved in heat-induced HSP70 accumulation. *FEBS Lett.* 1995;370:159–162. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0014-5793(95)00801-f
- Malyshev IYu, Malugin AV, Golubeva LYu, et al. Nitric oxide donor induces HSP70 accumulation in the heart and in cultured cells. *FEBS Lett.* 1996;391:21–23. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0014-5793(96)00691-6
- **52.** Malyshev IYu, Bayda LA, Trifonov AI, et al. Cross-talk between nitric oxide and HSP70 in the antihypotensive effect of adaptation to heat. *Physiol Res.* 2000;49:99–105.
- 53. Xu Q, Hu Y, Kleindienst R, Wick G. Nitric oxide induces heat-shock protein 70 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells via activation of heat shock factor 1. J Clin Invest. 1997;100:1089–1097. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119619
- 54. Calabrese V, Mancuso C, Calvani M, Rizzarelli E, Butterfield DA, Stella AM. Nitric oxide in the central nervous system: neuroprotection versus neurotoxicity. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* 2007;8:766–775. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2214
- 55. Hamilton KL, Gupta S, Knowlton AA. Estrogen and regulation of heat shock protein expression in female cardiomyocytes: cross-talk with NF-κB signalling. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2004;36:577–584.
- 56. Hamilton KL, Mbai FN, Gupta S, Knowlton AA. Estrogen, heat shock proteins, and NF-κB in human vascular endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24: 1628–1633.
- 57. Takao T, Kumagai C, Hisakawa N, Matsumoto R, Hashimoto K. Effect of 17β-estradiol on tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced cytotoxicity in the human peripheral T lymphocytes. *J Endocrinol.* 2005;184:191–197. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.1. 05914
- Stice JP, Knowlton AA. Estrogen, NF-κB, and the heat shock response. *Mol Med.* 2008;14:517–527. https://doi.org/10. 2119/2008-00026
- 59. Lu A, Ran RQ, Clark J, Reilly M, Nee A, Sharp FR. 17-betaestradiol induces heat shock proteins in brain arteries and potentiates ischemic heat shock protein induction in glia and neurons. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2002;22:183–195. https:// doi.org/10.1097/00004647-200202000-00006
- Mendelsohn ME, Karas RH. The protective effects of estrogen on the cardiovascular system. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:1801–1811. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199906103402306
- Vermeiren J, Van de Wiele T, Verstraete W, Boeckx P, Boon N. Nitric oxide production by the human intestinal microbiota by dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2009;2009:284718. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2009/284718
- 62. Vermeiren J, Van de Wiele T, Van Nieuwenhuyse G, Boeckx P, Verstraete W, Boon N. Sulfide- and nitrite-dependent nitric oxide production in the intestinal tract. *Microb Biotechnol.* 2012;5:379–387. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2011.00320.x

- 63. Grishin A, Bowling J, Bell B, Wang J, Ford HR. Roles of nitric oxide and intestinal microbiota in the pathogenesis of necrotizing enterocolitis. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2016;51:13–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2015.10.006
- Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, et al. Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. 2007;56: 1761–1772. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-1491
- 65. Cani PD, Bibiloni R, Knauf C, et al. Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes.* 2008;57:1470–1481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim. 2011.11.011
- 66. Yoshimoto S, Loo TM, Atarashi K, et al. Obesity-induced gut microbial metabolite promotes liver cancer through senescence secretome. *Nature*. 2013;499:97–101. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12347.Erratum in: Nature. 2014 Feb 20;506:396. Hattori, Masahisa [corrected to Hattori, Masahira.
- Roberfroid MB. Introducing inulin-type fructans. Br J Nutr. 2005;93(Suppl 1):S13–S25. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn20041350
- Catry E, Bindels LB, Tailleux A, et al. Targeting the gut microbiota with inulin-type fructans: preclinical demonstration of a novel approach in the management of endothelial dysfunction. *Gut.* 2018;67:271–283. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313316
- Liu H, Dicksved J, Lundh T, Lindberg JE. Heat shock proteins: intestinal gatekeepers that are influenced by dietary components and the gut microbiota. *Pathogens*. 2014;3: 187–210. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens3010187
- Burcelin R, Garidou L, Pomié C. Immuno-microbiota cross and talk: the new paradigm of metabolic diseases. *Semin Immunol.* 2012;24:67–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim. 2011.11.011
- Saad MJ, Santos A, Prada PO. Linking gut microbiota and inflammation to obesity and insulin resistance. *Physiology*. 2016;31:283–293. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00041.2015
- Alcock J, Maley CC, Aktipis CA. Is eating behavior manipulated by the gastrointestinal microbiota? Evolutionary pressures and potential mechanisms. *Bioessays*. 2014;36: 940–949. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201400071
- Homem de Bittencourt PI, Newsholme P. You, your children, your grandchildren, and their inflammatory responses are what you eat. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2015;18:325–327. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.000000000 000195
- 74. Newsholme P, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Gut associated bacteria are critical to metabolism, inflammation and health. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2016;19:245–249. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000293
- Thavamani A, Salem I, Sferra TJ, Sankararaman S. Impact of altered gut microbiota and its metabolites in cystic fibrosis. *Metabolites*. 2021;11:123. https://doi.org/10.3390/ metabo11020123
- 76. Geurts L, Neyrinck AM, Delzenne NM, Knauf C, Cani PD. Gut microbiota controls adipose tissue expansion, gut barrier and glucose metabolism: novel insights into molecular targets and interventions using prebiotics. *Benef Microbes*. 2014;5:3–17. https://doi.org/10.3920/BM2012.0065
- 77. Cani PD, Van Hul M. Mediterranean diet, gut microbiota and health: when age and calories do not add up!. *Gut.* 2020;69:1167–1168. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320781
- Kim M-H, Yun KE, Kim J, et al. Gut microbiota and metabolic health among overweight and obese individuals. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10:11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76474-8
- 79. Schwimmer JB, Johnson JS, Angeles JE, et al. Microbiome signatures associated with steatohepatitis and moderate to severe fibrosis in children with nonalcoholic fatty liver

disease. Gastroenterology. 2019;157:1109-1122. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.06.028

- Stanislawski MA, Lozupone CA, Wagner BD, et al. Gut microbiota in adolescents and the association with fatty liver: the EPOCH study. *Pediatr Res.* 2018;84:219–327. https://doi. org/10.1038/pr.2018.32
- Yeoh YK, Zuo T, Lui GC, et al. Gut microbiota composition reflects disease severity and dysfunctional immune responses in patients with COVID-19. *Gut.* 2021;70:698–706. https:// doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323020
- Xu Z, Jiang W, Huang W, Lin Y, Chan FK, Ng SC. Gut microbiota in patients with obesity and metabolic disorders - a systematic review. *Genes Nutr.* 2022;17(1):18. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12263-021-00703-6
- Frank DN, St Amand AL, Feldman RA, Boedeker EC, Harpaz N, Pace NR. Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2007;104: 13780–13785. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0706625104
- Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, et al. The treatmentnaive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. *Cell Host Microbe.* 2014;15:382–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom. 2014.02.005
- Rizzatti G, Lopetuso L, Gibiino G, Binda C, Gasbarrini A. Proteobacteria: a common factor in human diseases. *Biomed Res Int.* 2017;2017:9351507. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9351507
- Rinninella E, Raoul P, Cintoni M, et al. What is the healthy gut microbiota composition? A changing ecosystem across age, environment, diet, and diseases. *Microorganisms*. 2019;7:14. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7010014
- Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature*. 2006;444:1022–1023. https://doi.org/10.1038/4441022a
- Caricilli AM, Saad MJ. The role of gut microbiota on insulin resistance. *Nutrients*. 2013;5:829–851. https://doi.org/10. 3390/nu5030829
- Loomba R, Seguritan V, Li W, et al. Gut microbiome-based metagenomic signature for non-invasive detection of advanced fibrosis in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Cell Metab.* 2017;25:1054–1062.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmet.2017.04.001
- 90. Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, et al. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2014;11:506–514. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66
- Everard A, Matamoros S, Geurts L, Delzenne NM, Cani PD. Saccharomyces boulardii administration changes gut microbiota and reduces hepatic steatosis, low-grade inflammation, and fat mass in obese and type 2 diabetic db/db mice. mBio. 2014;5:e01011-14. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01011-14
- 92. Bock PM, Telo GH, Ramalho R, et al. The effect of probiotics, prebiotics or synbiotics on metabolic outcomes in individuals with diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia*. 2021;64:26–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05295-1
- Cani PD, Osto M, Geurts L, Everard A. Involvement of gut microbiota in the development of low-grade inflammation and type 2 diabetes associated with obesity. *Gut Microbes*. 2012;3:279–288. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19625
- Lecomte V, Kaakoush NO, Maloney CA, et al. Changes in gut microbiota in rats fed a high fat diet correlate with obesity-associated metabolic parameters. *PLoS One.* 2015;10:e0126931. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0126931
- 95. Amar J, Chabo C, Waget A, et al. Intestinal mucosal adherence and translocation of com-mensal bacteria at the

early onset of Type 2 diabetes: molecular mechanisms and probiotic treatment. *EMBO Mol Med.* 2011;3:559–572. https://doi.org/10.1002/emmm.201100159

- 96. Brun P, Castagliuolo I, Di Leo V, et al. Increased intestinal permeability in obese mice: new evidence in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* 2007;292:G518–G525. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpgi.00024.2006
- 97. Rohr MW, Narasimhulu CA, Rudeski-Rohr TA, Parthasarathy S. Negative effects of a high-fat diet on intestinal permeability: a review. Adv Nutr. 2020;11:77–91. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmz061
- Caricilli AM, Picardi PK, de Abreu LL, Ueno M, Prada PO, Ropelle ER, et al. Gut microbiota is a key modulator of insulin resistance in TLR2 knockout mice. *PLoS Biol.* 2011;9:e1001212. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001212
- 99. Shi H, Kokoeva MV, Inouye K, Tzameli I, Yin H, Flier JS. TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:3015–3025. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI28898
- 100. Stamler JS, Simon DI, Osborne JA, et al. S-nitrosylation of proteins with nitric oxide: synthesis and characterization of biologically active compounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1992;89:444–448. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.1.444
- Stamler JS, Toone EJ, Lipton SA, Sucher NJ. (S)NO signals: translocation, regulation, and a consensus motif. *Neuron*. 1997;18:691–696. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00755.2006
- 102. Dokladny K, Ye D, Kennedy JC, Moseley PL, Ma TY. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of heat stress-induced up-regulation of occludin protein expression: regulatory role of heat shock factor-1. Am J Pathol. 2008;172:659–670. https://doi. org/10.2353/ajpath.2008.070522
- 103. Sylvester CL, Anderson PH, Stringer AM. New therapeutic strategies for combatting gastrointestinal toxicity. *Curr Opin Support Palliat Care*. 2020;14:142–152. https://doi.org/10. 1097/SPC.00000000000000000
- 104. Kojima K, Musch MW, Ren H, et al. Enteric flora and lymphocyte-derived cytokines determine expression of heat shock proteins in mouse colonic epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology*. 2003;124:1395–1407. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0016-5085(03)00215-4
- 105. Hu SE, Wang YW, Lichtenstein L, et al. Regional differences in colonic mucosa-associated microbiota determine the physiological expression of host heat shock proteins. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2010;299:G1266–G1275. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00357.2010
- 106. David JC, Grongnet JF, Lalles JP. Weaning affects the expression of heat shock proteins in different regions of the gastrointestinal tract of piglets. J Nutr. 2002;132:2551–2561. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/132.9.2551
- 107. Liu HY, Gu F, Zhu C, et al. Epithelial heat shock proteins mediate the protective effects of *Limosilactobacillus reuteri* in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Front Immunol.* 2022;13:865982. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.865982
- 108. Nam SY, Kim N, Kim JS, Lim SH, Jung HC, Song IS. Heat shock protein gene 70-2 polymorphism is differentially associated with the clinical phenotypes of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;22:1032–1038. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2007.04927.x
- Mounier N, Arrigo AP. Actin cytoskeleton and small heat shock proteins: how do they interact? *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2002;7:167–176. https://doi.org/10.1379/1466-1268(2002) 007<0167:acashs>2.0.co;2
- 110. Ren HY, Musch MW, Kojima K, Boone D, Ma A, Chang EB. Short-chain fatty acids induce intestinal epithelial heat shock protein 25 expression in rats and IEC 18 cells.

Gastroenterology. 2001;121:631-639. https://doi.org/10.1053/ gast.2001.27028

- 111. Santacruz A, Marcos A, Wärnberg J, et al. Interplay between weight loss and gut microbiota composition in overweight adolescents. *Obesity*. 2009;17:1906–1915. https://doi.org/10. 1038/oby.2009.112
- 112. Hold GL. The gut microbiota, dietary extremes and exercise. Gut. 2014;63:1838–1839. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307305
- Cronin O, Molloy MG, Shanahan F. Exercise, fitness, and the gut. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2016;32:67–73. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/MOG.0000000000240
- 114. Gaudel C, Nongonierma AB, Maher S, et al. A whey protein hydrolysate promotes insulinotropic activity in a clonal pancreatic β-cell line and enhances glycemic function in ob/ ob mice. J Nutr. 2013;143:1109–1114. https://doi.org/10. 3945/jn.113.174912
- 115. De Moura CS, Lollo PC, Morato PN, Carneiro EM, Amaya-Farfan J. Whey protein hydrolysate enhances the exerciseinduced heat shock protein (HSP70) response in rats. *Food Chem.* 2013;136:1350–1357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2012.09.070
- 116. Krause M, Crognale D, Cogan K, et al. The effects of a combined bodyweight-based and elastic bands resistance training, with or without protein supplementation, on muscle mass, signaling and heat shock response in healthy older people. *Exp Gerontol.* 2019;115:104–113.http://doi.org/ 10.16/j.exger.2018.12.004.
- 117. Badr G, Ramadan N, Abdel-Tawab H, Ahmed SF, Mahmoud MH. Camel whey protein protects lymphocytes from apoptosis via the PI3K–AKT, NF-κB, ATF-3, and HSP-70 signaling pathways in heat-stressed male mice. *Biochem Cell Biol.* 2018;96:407–416. https://doi.org/10.1139/bcb-2017-0217
- 118. Du D, Lv W, Su R, et al. Hydrolyzed camel whey protein alleviated heat stress-induced hepatocyte damage by activated Nrf2/HO-1 signaling pathway and inhibited NF-κB/ NLRP3 axis. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2021;26:387–401. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12192-020-01184-z.(De Moura).
- Hensen SMM, Heldens L, Van Enckevort CMW. Heat shock factor 1 is inactivated by amino acid deprivation. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2012;17:743–755. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12192-012-0347-1
- 120. Petry ER, Cruzat VF, Heck TG, Leite JSM, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Tirapegui J. Alanyl-glutamine and glutamine plus alanine supplements improve skeletal redox status in trained rats: involvement of heat shock protein pathways. *Life Sci.* 2014;94:130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2013.11.009
- 121. Cruzat VF, Bittencourt A, Scomazzon SP, Leite JS, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Tirapegui J. Oral free and dipeptide forms of glutamine supplementation attenuate oxidative stress and inflammation induced by endotoxemia. *Nutrition*. 2014;30:602–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2013.10.019
- 122. Cruzat VF, Pantaleão LC, Donato J, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Tirapegui J. Oral supplementations with free and dipeptide forms of L-glutamine in endotoxemic mice: effects on muscle glutamine-glutathione axis and heat shock proteins. J Nutr Biochem. 2014;25:345–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jnutbio.2013.11.009
- 123. Cruzat VF, Keane KN, Scheinpflug AL, Cordeiro R, Soares MJ, Newsholme P. Alanyl-glutamine improves pancreatic β-cell function following ex vivo inflammatory challenge. *J Endocrinol.* 2015;224:261–271. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-14-0677
- 124. Curi R, Newsholme P, Marzuca-Nassr GN, et al. Regulatory principles in metabolism-then and now. *Biochem J.* 2016;473:1845–1857. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160103

- 125. Chantler S, Griffiths A, Matu J, Davison G, Jones B, Deighton K. The effects of exercise on indirect markers of gut damage and permeability: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 2021;51:113–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-020-01348-y
- 126. Zuhl MN, Lanphere KR, Kravitz L, et al. Effects of oral glutamine supplementation on exercise-induced gastrointestinal permeability and tight junction protein expression. *J Appl Physiol.* 2014;116(2):183–191. https://doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00646.2013
- 127. Nissim I, Hardy M, Pleasure J, Nissim I, States B. A mechanism of glycine and alanine cytoprotective action: stimulation of stress-induced HSP70 mRNA. *Kidney Int.* 1992;42:775–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.1992.347.Erratum in: Kidney Int 1992 Dec;42(6):1488.
- 128. Moura CS, Lollo PCB, Morato PN, Risso EM, Amaya-Farfan J. Modulatory effects of arginine, glutamine and branchedchain amino acids on heat shock proteins, immunity and antioxidant response in exercised rats. *Food Funct.* 2017;8:3228–3238. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7fo00465f
- 129. Setyarani M, Zinellu A, Carru C, Zulli A. High dietary taurine inhibits myocardial apoptosis during an atherogenic diet: association with increased myocardial HSP70 and HSF-1 but not caspase 3. *Eur J Nutr.* 2014;53:929–937. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00394-013-0596-5
- 130. Peng ZY, Serkova NJ, Kominsky DJ, Brown JL, Wischmeyer PE. Glutamine-mediated attenuation of cellular metabolic dysfunction and cell death after injury is dependent on heat shock factor-1 expression. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2006;30:373–378. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148607106030005373
- 131. Singleton KD, Wischmeyer PE. Glutamine's protection against sepsis and lung injury is dependent on heat shock protein 70 expression. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2007;292:1839–1845. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpregu.00755.2006
- 132. Hamiel CR, Pinto S, Hau A. Glutamine enhances heat shock protein 70 expression via increased hexosamine biosynthetic pathway activity. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 2009;297: 1509–1519. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00240.2009
- 133. Brasse-Lagnel C, Fairand A, Lavoinne A, Husson A. Glutamine stimulates argininosuccinate synthetase gene expression through cytosolic O-glycosylation of Sp1 in Caco-2 cells. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:52504–52510. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.m306752200
- Zachara NE, Hart GW. O-GlcNAc modification: a nutritional sensor that modulates proteasome function. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2004;14:218–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2004.03.005
- 135. Zachara NE, O'Donnell N, Cheung WD, Mercer JJ, Marth JD, Hart GW. Dynamic O-GlcNAc modification of nucleocytoplasmic proteins in response to stress. A survival response of mammalian cells. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:30133–30142. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m403773200
- 136. Newsholme P, Procopio J, Lima MM, Pithon-Curi TC, Curi R. Glutamine and glutamate their central role in cell metabolism and function. *Cell Biochem Funct.* 2003;21: 1–9.https://doi.org/1010.1002/cbf.1003.
- 137. Verdile G, Keane KN, Cruzat VF, et al. Inflammation and oxidative stress: the molecular connectivity between insulin resistance, obesity, and Alzheimer's disease. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015;2015:105828. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/105828
- 138. Keane KN, Cruzat VF, Carlessi R, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Newsholme P. Molecular events linking oxidative stress and inflammation to insulin resistance and β-Cell dysfunction. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2015;2015:181643. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2015/181643

- 139. Petry É.R, Cruzat VF, Heck TG, Homem de Bittencourt PI, Tirapegui J. L-glutamine supplementations enhance liver glutamine-glutathione axis and heat shock factor-1 expression in endurance-exercise trained rats. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab.* 2015;25:188–197. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijsnem.2014-0131
- 140. Würtz P, Raiko JR, Magnussen CG, et al. High-throughput quantification of circulating metabolites improves prediction of subclinical atherosclerosis. *Eur Heart J.* 2012;33: 2307–2316. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs020
- 141. Auro K, Joensuu A, Fischer K, et al. A metabolic view on menopause and ageing. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4708. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5708
- 142. Curi R, Lagranha CJ, Doi SQ, et al. Molecular mechanisms of glutamine action. J Cell Physiol. 2005;204:392–401. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jcp. 20339
- 143. De Kat AC, Dam V, Onland-Moret NC, Eijkemans MJ, Broekmans FJ, van der Schouw YT. Unraveling the associations of age and menopause with cardiovascular risk factors in a large population-based study. *BMC Med.* 2017;15:2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0762-8
- 144. Bock PM, Krause M, Schroeder HT, et al. Oral supplementations with L-glutamine or L-alanyl-L-glutamine do not change metabolic alterations induced by long-term high-fat diet in the B6.129F2/J mouse model of insulin resistance. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2016;411:351–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11010-015-2597-6
- 145. Homem de Bittencourt PI, Curi R. Antiproliferative prostaglandins and the MRP/GS-X pump role in cancer immunosuppression and insight into new strategies in cancer gene therapy. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2001;62:811–819. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0006-2952(01)00738-9
- 146. Homem de Bittencourt PI, Lagranha DJ, Maslinkiewicz A, et al. LipoCardium: endothelium-directed cyclopentenone prostaglandin-based liposome formulation that completely reverses atherosclerotic lesions. *Atherosclerosis.* 2007;193: 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006.08. 049
- 147. Gutierrez LLP, Marques CV, Scomazzon SP, et al. A-family anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins: A novel class of non-statin inhibitors of HMG-CoA reductase. *Biochimie*. 2021;182:37–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi. 2020.12.019
- 148. Gutierrez LL, Maslinkiewicz A, Curi R, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Atherosclerosis: a redox-sensitive lipid imbalance suppressible by cyclopentenone prostaglandins. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2008;75:2245–2262. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bcp.2008.03.002
- 149. Henstridge DC, Bruce CR, Drew BG, et al. Activating HSP72 in rodent skeletal muscle increases mitochondrial number and oxidative capacity and decreases insulin resistance. *Diabetes.* 2014;63:1881–1894. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0967
- 150. Vígh L, Literáti PN, Horváth I, et al. Bimoclomol: a nontoxic, hydroxylamine derivative with stress protein-inducing activity and cytoprotective effects. *Nat Med.* 1997;3:1150–1154. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1097-1150
- 151. Bíró K, Jednákovits A, Kukorelli T, Hegedüs E, Korányi L. Bimoclomol (BRLP-42) ameliorates peripheral neuropathy in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Brain Res Bull.* 1997;44:259–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0361-9230(97) 00118-4
- 152. Hargitai J, Lewis H, Boros I, et al. Bimoclomol, a heat shock protein co-inducer, acts by the prolonged activation of heat shock factor-1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2003;307: 689–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-291x(03)01254-3

- 153. Paimela T, Hyttinen JM, Viiri J, et al. Celastrol regulates innate immunity response via NF-κB and Hsp70 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Pharmacol Res.* 2011;64:501–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2011.05.027
- 154. Lyu Q, Ludwig IS, Kooten PJS, et al. Leucinostatin acts as a co-inducer for heat shock protein 70 in cultured canine retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2020;25:235–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-019-01066-z
- 155. Ohtsuka K, Kawashima D, Gu Y, Saito K. Inducers and coinducers of molecular chaperones. Int J Hyperthermia. 2005;21:703–711. https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730500384248
- 156. Wieten L, van der Zee R, Spiering R, et al. A novel heatshock protein coinducer boosts stress protein Hsp70 to activate T cell regulation of inflammation in autoimmune arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2010;62:1026–1035. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/art.27344
- **157.** Zhou C, Bai J, Jiang C, Ye L, Pan Y, Zhang H. Geranylgeranylacetone attenuates myocardium ischemic/reperfusion injury through HSP70 and Akt/GSK-3β/eNOS pathway. *Am J Transl Res.* 2017;9:386–395.
- Kavanagh K, Flynn DM, Jenkins KA, Zhang L, Wagner JD. Restoring HSP70 deficiencies improves glucose tolerance in diabetic monkeys. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2011;300:E894–e901. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00699. 2010
- 159. Tashiro S, Miyake H, Rokutan K. Role of geranylgeranylacetone as non-toxic HSP70 inducer in liver surgery: clinical application. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2018;25: 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/jhbp.549
- 160. Xu K, Sun X, Erokwu BO, Cernak I, Lamanna JC. A heatshock protein co-inducer treatment improves behavioral performance in rats exposed to hypoxia. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2011;701:313–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7756-4_42
- 161. Parfitt DA, Aguila M, McCulley CH, et al. The heat-shock response co-inducer arimoclomol protects against retinal degeneration in rhodopsin retinitis pigmentosa. *Cell Death Dis.* 2014;5(5):e1236. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.214
- 162. Kalmar B, Greensmith L, Malcangio M, McMahon SB, Csermely P, Burnstock G. The effect of treatment with BRX-220, a co-inducer of heat shock proteins, on sensory fibers of the rat following peripheral nerve injury. *Exp Neurol.* 2003;184:636–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-4886(03) 00343-1
- 163. Sumegi K, Fekete K, Antus C, et al. BGP-15 protects against oxidative stress- or lipopolysaccharide-induced mitochondrial destabilization and reduces mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species. *PLoS One.* 2017;12:e0169372. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169372
- 164. Literáti-Nagy B, Kulcsár E, Literáti-Nagy Z, et al. Improvement of insulin sensitivity by a novel drug, BGP-15, in insulin-resistant patients: a proof of concept randomized double-blind clinical trial. *Horm Metab Res.* 2009;41:374–380. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1128142
- 165. Literáti-Nagy B, Péterfai E, Kulcsár E, et al. Beneficial effect of the insulin sensitizer (HSP inducer) BGP-15 on olanzapine-induced metabolic disorders. *Brain Res Bull.* 2010;83:340–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2010. 09.005
- 166. Literáti-Nagy Z, Tory K, Literáti-Nagy B, et al. The HSP coinducer BGP-15 can prevent the metabolic side effects of the atypical antipsychotics. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2012;17: 517–521. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-012-0327-5
- 167. Crul T, Toth N, Piotto S, et al. Hydroximic acid derivatives: pleiotropic HSP co-inducers restoring homeostasis and

robustness. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19:309–346. https://doi. org/10.2174/138161213804143716

- Literáti-Nagy Z, Tory K, Literáti-Nagy B, et al. Synergic insulin sensitizing effect of rimonabant and BGP-15 in Zuckerobese rats. *Pathol Oncol Res.* 2013;19:571–575. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12253-013-9620-6
- 169. Literáti-Nagy B, Tory K, Peitl B, et al. Improvement of insulin sensitivity by a novel drug candidate, BGP-15, in different animal studies. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. 2014;12:125–131. https://doi.org/10.1089/met.2013.0098
- 170. Sapra G, Tham YK, Cemerlang N, et al. The small-molecule BGP-15 protects against heart failure and atrial fibrillation in mice. *Nat Commun.* 2014;5:5705. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms6705
- 171. Kennedy TL, Swiderski K, Murphy KT, et al. BGP-15 improves aspects of the dystrophic pathology in mdx and dko mice with differing efficacies in heart and skeletal muscle. *Am J Pathol.* 2016;186:3246–3260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajpath.2016.08.008
- Chung J, Nguyen AK, Henstridge DC, et al. HSP72 protects against obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 2008;105:1739–1744. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0705799105
- 173. Pető Á, Kósa D, Fehér P, et al. Pharmacological overview of the BGP-15 chemical agent as a new drug candidate for the treatment of symptoms of metabolic syndrome. *Molecules*. 2020;25:429. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25020429
- 174. Noble EG, Milne KJ, Melling CW. Heat shock proteins and exercise: a primer. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* 2008;33: 1050–1065. https://doi.org/10.1139/H08-069
- **175.** Ting LP, Tu CL, Chou CK. Insulin-induced expression of human heat-shock protein gene hsp70. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264:3404–3408.
- 176. Shinohara T, Takahashi N, Ooie T, et al. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent activation of akt, an essential signal for hyperthermia-induced heat-shock protein 72, is attenuated in streptozotocin-induced diabetic heart. *Diabetes*. 2006;55: 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.2337/db05-0266
- 177. Geiger PC, Gupte AA. Heat shock proteins are important mediators of skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 2011;39:34–42. https://doi.org/10.1097/JES. 0b013e318201f236
- 178. Kitano S, Kondo T, Matsuyama R, et al. Impact of hepatic HSP72 on insulin signaling. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2019;316:E305–E318. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00215. 2018
- 179. Vihervaara A, Sistonen L. HSF1 at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2014;127:261–266. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.132605
- Liu HY, Cao SY, Hong T, Han J, Liu Z, Cao W. Insulin is a stronger inducer of insulin resistance than hyperglycemia in mice with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). J Biol Chem. 2009;284:27090–27100. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.016675
- 181. Heck TG, Schöler CM, Homem de Bittencourt PI. HSP70 expression: does it a novel fatigue signalling factor from immune system to the brain? *Cell Biochem Funct*. 2011;29:215–226. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbf.1739
- 182. De Maio A. Extracellular heat shock proteins, cellular export vesicles, and the Stress Observation System: a form of communication during injury, infection, and cell damage. It is never known how far a controversial finding will go! Dedicated to Ferruccio Ritossa. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2011;16:235–249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-010-0236-4
- 183. De Maio A, Vazquez D. Extracellular heat shock proteins: a new location, a new function. *Shock.* 2013;40:239–246. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK.0b013e3182a185ab

- 184. Asea A. Initiation of the immune response by extracellular Hsp72: chaperokine activity of Hsp72. Curr Immunol Rev. 2006;2:209–215. https://doi.org/10.2174/157339506778018514
- 185. Maslanik T, Mahaffey L, Tannura K, Beninson L, Greenwood BN, Fleshner M. The inflammasome and danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) are implicated in cytokine and chemokine responses following stressor exposure. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2013;28:54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi. 2012.10.014
- Hunter-Lavin C, Davies EL, Bacelar MM, Marshall MJ, Andrew SM, Williams JH. Hsp70 release from peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2004;324:511–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.09.075
- 187. Heck TG, Scomazzon SP, Nunes PR, et al. Acute exercise boosts cell proliferation and the heat shock response in lymphocytes: correlation with cytokine production and extracellular-to-intracellular HSP70 ratio. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2017;22:271–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-017-0771-3
- Borges TJ, Wieten L, van Herwijnen MJ, et al. The anti-inflammatory mechanisms of Hsp70. Front Immunol. 2012;3:95. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00095
- 189. Newsholme P, Homem de Bittencourt PI. The fat cell senescence hypothesis: a mechanism responsible for abrogating the resolution of inflammation in chronic disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2014;17:295–305. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MCO.00000000000077
- 190. De Lemos Muller CH, Rech A, Botton CE, et al. Heat-induced extracellular HSP72 release is blunted in elderly diabetic people compared with healthy middle-aged and older adults, but it is partially restored by resistance training. *Exp Gerontol.* 2018;111:180–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger. 2018.07.014
- 191. Costa-Beber LC, Hirsch GE, Heck TG, Ludwig MS. Chaperone duality: the role of extracellular and intracellular HSP70 as a biomarker of endothelial dysfunction in the development of atherosclerosis. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2022;128:1016–1023. https://doi.org/10.1080/13813455.2020.1745850
- 192. Edkins AL, Price JT, Pockley AG, Blatch GL. Heat shock proteins as modulators and therapeutic targets of chronic disease: an integrated perspective. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2018;373:20160521. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb. 2016.0521
- 193. Archer AE, Von Schulze AT, Geiger PC. Exercise, heat shock proteins and insulin resistance. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2018;373:20160529. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb. 2016.0529
- 194. De Oliveira AA, Priviero F, Webb RC, Nunes KP. Increased eHSP70-to-iHSP70 ratio disrupts vascular responses to calcium and activates the TLR4-MD2 complex in type 1 diabetes. *Life Sci.* 2022;310:121079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs. 2022.121079
- 195. Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Johnson RJ, Sanchez-Lozada LG, Pons H. HSP70 and primary arterial hypertension. *Biomolecules*. 2023;13:272. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13020272
- 196. Lubkowska A, Dudzińska W, Pluta W. Antioxidant enzyme activity and serum HSP70 concentrations in relation to insulin resistance and lipid profile in lean and overweight young men. *Antioxidants.* 2023;12:655. https://doi.org/10. 3390/antiox12030655
- 197. Ogawa K, Kim HK, Shimizu T, Abe S, Shiga Y, Calderwood SK. Plasma heat shock protein 72 as a biomarker of sarcopenia in elderly people. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2012;17:349–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-011-0310-6
- 198. Nakhjavani M, Morteza A, Khajeali L, et al. Increased serum HSP70 levels are associated with the duration of diabetes.

Cell Stress Chaperones. 2010;15:959–964. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12192-010-0204-z

- Dulloo AG, Jacquet J. An adipose-specific control of thermogenesis in body weight regulation. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2001;25:S22–S29. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801907
- 200. De Lemos Muller CH, Moritz CEJ, Schroeder HT, et al. Influence of body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness on plasma HSP72, norepinephrine, insulin, and glucose responses to an acute aerobic exercise bout performed in the fed state. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2023. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12192-023-01364-7
- 201. De Lemos Muller CH, Moritz CEJ, Schroeder HT, Battastini AMO, Reischak-Oliveira A, de Bittencourt Júnior PIH, De Vito G, Krause M. Influence of body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness on plasma HSP72, norepinephrine, insulin, and glucose responses to an acute aerobic exercise bout performed in the fed state. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2023;28(6):721–729. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-023-01364-7.Epub 2023 Jul 18. PMID: 37462825; PMCID: PMC10746641.
- 202. Smith MM, Minson CT. Obesity and adipokines: effects on sympathetic overactivity. J Physiol. 2012;590:1787–1801. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2011.221036
- 203. Giraldo E, Multhoff G, Ortega E. Noradrenaline increases the expression and release of Hsp72 by human neutrophils. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2010;24:672–677. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbi.2010.02.003
- 204. Rao DV, Watson K, Jones GL. Age-related attenuation in the expression of the major heat shock proteins in human peripheral lymphocytes. *Mech Ageing Dev.* 1999;107:105–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0047-6374(98)00143-2
- 205. Njemini R, Abeele MV, Demanet C, Lambert M, Vandebosch S, Mets T. Age-related decrease in the inducibility of heat-shock protein 70 in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Clin Immunol. 2002;22:195–205. https://doi.org/10. 1023/a:1016036724386
- Lancaster GI, Febbraio MA. Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: a novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. J Biol Chem. 2005;280:23349–23355. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M502017200
- 207. Schöler CM, Marques CV, Da Silva GS, Heck TG, De Oliveira Junior LP, Homem de Bittencourt PI. Modulation of rat monocyte/macrophage innate functions by increasing intensities of swimming exercise is associated with heat shock protein status. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2016;421:111–125. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11010-016-2791-1
- 208. Tuttle JA, Chrismas BCR, Gibson OR, et al. The Hsp72 and Hsp90α mRNA responses to hot downhill running are reduced following a prior bout of hot downhill running and occur concurrently within leukocytes and the vastus lateralis. *Front Physiol.* 2017;8:473. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys. 2017.00473
- 209. Seibert P, Anklam CFV, Costa-Beber LC, et al. Increased eHSP70-to-iHSP70 ratio in prediabetic and diabetic postmenopausal women: a biomarker of cardiometabolic risk. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2022;27:523–534. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12192-022-01288-8
- 210. Ludwig MS, Minguetti-Câmara VC, Heck TG, et al. Shortterm but not long-term hypoglycaemia enhances plasma levels and hepatic expression of HSP72 in insulin-treated rats: an effect associated with increased IL-6 levels but not with IL-10 or TNFα. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2014;397:97–107. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11010-014-2176-2
- 211. Goettems-Fiorin PB, Salamoni B, Baldissera FG, et al. Fine particulate matter potentiates type 2 diabetes

development in high-fat diet treated mice: stress response and extracellular to intracellular HSP70 ratio analysis. *J Physiol Biochem.* 2016;72:643–656. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13105-016-0503-7

- 212. Mai AS, Dos Santos AB, Beber LCC, et al. Exercise training under exposure to low levels of fine particulate matter: effects on heart oxidative stress and extra-to-intracellular HSP70 ratio. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2017;2017:9067875. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9067875
- 213. Kostrycki IM, Wildner G, Donato YH, et al. Effects of highfat diet on eHSP72 and extra-to-intracellular HSP70 levels in mice submitted to exercise under exposure to fine particulate matter. *J Diabetes Res.* 2019;2019:4858740. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2019/4858740
- 214. Lissarassa YPS, Vincensi CF, Costa-Beber LC, et al. Chronic heat treatment positively impacts metabolic profile of ovariectomized rats: association with heat shock response pathways. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2020;25:467–479. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12192-020-01087-z
- 215. Soares M, Santos ABD, Weich TM, et al. Heat shock response in noise-induced hearing loss: effects of alanyl-glutamine dipeptide supplementation on heat shock proteins status. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol.* 2020;86:703–710. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bjorl.2019.04.012
- 216. Costa-Beber LC, Heck TG, Fiorin PBG, Ludwig MS. HSP70 as a biomarker of the thin threshold between benefit and injury due to physical exercise when exposed to air pollution.

Cell Stress Chaperones. 2021;26:889–915. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12192-021-01241-1.2021 Oct 22.

- 217. Madden J, Coward JC, Shearman CP, Grimble RF, Calder PC. Hsp70 expression in monocytes from patients with peripheral arterial disease and healthy controls: monocyte Hsp70 in PAD. *Cell Biol Toxicol.* 2010;26:215–223. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10565-009-9134 x
- 218. Boyko AA, Azhikina TL, Streltsova MA, Sapozhnikov AM, Kovalenko EI. HSP70 in human polymorphonuclear and mononuclear leukocytes: comparison of the protein content and transcriptional activity of HSPA genes. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* 2017;22:67–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-016-0744-y
- 219. Oehler R, Pusch E, Zellner M, et al. Cell type-specific variations in the induction of hsp70 in human leukocytes by feverlike whole-body hyperthermia. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2001;6:306–315. https://doi.org/10.1379/1466-1268(2001) 006<0306:ctsvit>2.0.co;2
- 220. Borges Russo MK, Kowalewski LS, da Natividade GR, et al. Elevated extracellular HSP72 and blunted heat shock response in severe COVID-19 patients. *Biomolecules*. 2022;12:1374. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom12101374
- 221. Galbinski S, Kowalewski LS, Grigolo GB, et al. Comparison between two cryopreservation techniques of human ovarian cortex: morphological aspects and the heat shock response (HSR). *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2022;27:97–106. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12192-022-01252-6

Capítulo IV

Título: Progression of insulin resistance revealed by impaired organismal antiinflammatory heat shock response during ex vivo whole-blood heat challenge

Periódico: Journal Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry

Situação: Submetido (conforme anexo I)

Capítulo V

Título: Chronic whole-body heat treatment in obese insulin-resistant C57BL/6J mice

Periódico: Journal Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry

Situação: Aceito para publicação

DISCUSSÃO GERAL

Esta tese descreveu o histórico do estudo da resposta de choque térmico na proteostase e metabolismo energético; o papel da resposta de choque térmico na resolução da inflamação e no desenvolvimento de doenças crônico-inflamatórias; bem como, métodos de indução e aferição da resposta de choque térmico em três revisões narrativas que compões os capítulos I, II e III. Desta forma, conseguimos demonstrar a interação entre a manutenção da proteostase (a partir da HSR), inflamação e as vias de controle do metabolismo energético. Peças importantes para o entendimento do funcionamento da caloristase, conceito que contribui para o melhor entendimento do desenvolvimento de doenças como obesidade. diabetes. doenças cardiovasculares e neurodegenerativas. Exploramos, também aqui, as atuais abordagens fisiológicas, farmacológicas e nutracêuticas de estímulo da HSR, visando o tratamento de condições inflamatórias crônicas. Além disso, destacamos análises que podem avaliar o status da capacidade do organismo de produzir a HSP70, oferecendo importantes ferramentas de avaliação da condição da HSR em pacientes e animais experimentais.

Na sequência, visando aplicar e ampliar o conhecimento a cerca desses conceitos, realizamos os dois trabalhos experimentais presentes nos capítulos IV e V. O primeiro buscando o acompanhamento do desenvolvimento da obesidade e do perfil de sensibilidade à insulina relacionado à capacidade de resposta ao choque térmico. E o segundo investigando os efeitos da terapia hipertérmica em animais obesos resistentes à insulina nos parâmetros da HSR.

O modelo animal utilizado apresentou falha na capacidade de indução da HSR após a 8^a semana nos animais NC e 1^a semana nos HFD, a despeito da ausência de variação do conteúdo basal de HSP70 intracelular nestes animais. Isto é coerente com o resultado da correlação da variação do conteúdo de HSP70 e o tempo de tratamento dos animais, que demonstraram a antecipação da perda da capacidade de gerar a HSR de 8 semanas do NC para 3 semanas nos animais HFD. O efeito do HT foi testado com quatro e oito sessões, e se mostrou capaz de reduzir o ganho de peso nos animais tratados, melhorando a glicemia de jejum, embora não tenha alterado a resposta no

191

teste de tolerância à glicose. Em relação à HSR, o tratamento aumentou a presença da forma induzível da HSP70 (HSP72) no gastrocnêmio dos animais.

Em ambos os estudos, foram utilizados nosso teste proposto para medir a capacidade de gerar a HSR nas células imunológicas do sangue. As células mononucleadas de sangue periférico são usadas largamente para acessar a produção da HSP70 em animais e humanos (de Lemos Muller et al., 2018; Lancaster; Febbraio, 2005; Njemini et al., 2002; Rao; Watson; Jones, 1999), pois representa um método menos invasivo e que se correlaciona com o conteúdo muscular de HSP70 (Tuttle et al., 2017). A utilização do desafio térmico células imunológicas periféricas nas do sangue para 0 acompanhamento da integridade da capacidade da HSR tem sido proposta como um método complementar (de Lemos Muller et al., 2019). E as análises do imunoconteúdo de HSP70 basal e sua resposta ao desafio térmico, realizada em diferentes momentos do desenvolvimento da obesidade e resistência à insulina, mostraram que, de fato, o desafio térmico parece ser uma abordagem de testagem mais sensível, indicando o desequilíbrio na capacidade de armar a resposta ao choque térmico antes de alterar os valores do conteúdo basal. Foi mostrado que o desafio térmico de sangue total pode ser utilizado em fêmeas e machos, desde que em jejum. Podendo ser interpretado em faixas de variação do conteúdo da HSP70 (sua expressão quando submetido a 42 °C menos sua expressão mantida a 37° C). Essas faixas se correlacionaram com a glicose em jejum, HOMA IR e índice quantitativo de verificação da sensibilidade à insulina (QUICKI), demonstrando ser uma importante ferramenta que possibilita o uso de valores preditivos de resistência à insulina. Desta forma, seria interessante a aplicação destas técnicas minimamente invasivas para os estudos utilizando modelos animais, tornando-os translacionais e possibilitando a correlação entre os achados nos tecido metabólicos (e.g., fígado, tecido adiposo, músculos) desses modelos e a evolução das doenças inflamatórias, como proposto no capítulo V.

Com relação ao acompanhamento temporal da IR, parece haver uma adaptação dos animais à dieta após uma semana de tratamento com HFD. Em trabalho anterior de nosso grupo, que acompanhou animais por 10, 14, 18 e 22 semanas de dieta NC ou HFD, da mesma forma que o presente trabalho, foi

observado que os animais tratados com dieta padrão e hiperlipídica apresentaram resultados semelhantes em glicemia, insulinemia e testes de tolerância a insulina e glicose (Schroeder, 2020), resultado que foi reproduzido no presente trabalho. A partir da observação dos resultados citados anteriormente, propomos a adição do acompanhamento por tempos menores (e.g.: 0, 1, 4 e 8 semanas). E a adição dos novos grupos, juntamente com o resultado do desafio térmico, trouxe-nos a perspectiva de que há uma progressiva piora dos animais NC, conforme já comentado, embora, aparentemente, o desequilíbrio seja antecipado pela administração da HFD. Em humanos e primatas, já foi mostrado que a expressão de HSP72 é diminuída no músculo esquelético de pacientes resistentes à insulina e diabéticos tipo 2 (Chung et al. 2008; de Matos et al., 2014; Kavanagh et al., 2012; Rodrigues-Krause et al., 2012). Porém, esta relação não parece ser sempre reproduzida em modelos com roedores. No capítulo V, mostrou-se que o HFD por 18 e 22 semanas não foi capaz de alterar a expressão de HSP70. De maneira semelhante aos nossos resultados, em outros trabalhos, com ratos e camundongos, o tratamento com HFD por 6,12, 16 ou 28 semanas não foi capaz de alterar a expressão da HSP70 no músculo dos animais (Gupte et al., 2009a; Gupte et al., 2009b; Bock et al., 2016; Bittencourt et al., 2020). Talvez o tempo de duração da resistência à insulina desses modelos não seja suficiente para provocar alteração na HSR tecidual.

No capítulo V, foram observados efeitos benéficos do HT na glicemia e composição corporal dos animais. Embora, surpreendentemente, esses efeitos não foram acompanhados um aumento na expressão de HSP70 nos tecidos metabólicos estudados (eg.: tecido adiposo, músculos e fígado). A associação desses fatores já foi mostrada em trabalhos anteriores. Um estudo em camundongos *knockout* para expressão de HSP72 mostrou que a expressão desta proteína é necessária para a redução da glicose no sangue com tratamento hipertérmico crônico (Von Schulze *et al.*, 2021). E já foi demonstrado que o aumento da expressão de HSP72 no músculo protege os animais do desenvolvimento de resistência à insulina induzida por uma dieta rica em gordura (Henstridge *et al.*, 2014). Resultados de redução significativa nos valores de glicemia de jejum e insulina, bem como do HOMA IR dos

animais após 48h e 72h da última sessão de choque térmico foram relatados na literatura (Chung *et al.*, 2008; Karpe; Tikoo, 2014).

A ausência de ativação do HSR pode indicar que o tempo de tratamento foi insuficiente para o presente modelo. Assim como a frequência de uma vez por semana, amplamente utilizada (Bruxel et al., 2019; Gupte et al., 2009; Von Schulze et al., 2021; Chung et al., 2008), não é suficiente para superar o platô na capacidade de lidar com mais estresse (obesidade e IR) nestes animais. Resultados semelhantes já foram obtidos em um trabalho anterior, de nosso laboratório, com exercício em camundongos obesos (Bittencourt et al., 2020). Por outro lado, a HT reduziu o ganho de peso, melhorou a glicemia de jejum, o que pode estar associado ao aparecimento da isoforma HSP72 no músculo. Foi observado em estudos com humanos obesos, resistentes à insulina ou DMT2 que a HSP70 está reduzida no tecido muscular, e sua expressão inversamente correlacionada com fatores como percentual de gordura corporal (Chunget al., 2008; Henstridge et al., 2010; Rodrigues-Krause et al., 2012; de Matos et al., 2014). Desta forma, o HT apresentou efeito positivo nos animais T22 HFD, que poderia estar ligada a alteração da composição corporal. Pois, considerando a relação da inflamação com a expansão do tecido adiposo (de Lemos Muller et al., 2018; Tomeleri et al., 2016), seria esperado que uma melhora da HSR estivesse ligada a uma redução deste tecido.

Como forças dos trabalhos experimentais, pode-se citar o longo período de tratamento dos animais e seu acompanhamento em oito pontos distintos para a comparação dos seus efeitos. E como principal limitação dos estudos experimentais, temos a utilização da medida do conteúdo de HSP70 intracelular exclusivamente pela técnica de westen blot, que apresenta apenas uma análise semi-quantitativa e pode ser menos sensível do que outras técnicas como citometria e ELISA.

CONCLUSÃO FINAL

Tem-se como principais conclusões da presente tese que o entendimento da interação entre a manutenção da proteostase, inflamação e metabolismo energético, mediada pela resposta de choque térmico, é fundamental para o manejo e propostas de intervenção em doenças como obesidade e diabetes. A avaliação da capacidade do organismo de produzir a HSP70, pela técnica de desafio térmico, se relaciona diretamente com o índice glicêmico dos animais estudados e pode ser uma importante ferramenta diagnóstica.

REFERÊNCIAS

AKERFELT, Malin; MORIMOTO, Richard I; SISTONEN, Lea. Heat shock factors: integrators of cell stress, development and lifespan. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 11(8):545-555, 2010. doi:10.1038/nrm2938

BIDEN, Trevor J; BOSLEM, Ebru; CHU, Kwan Yi; SUE, Nancy. Lipotoxic endoplasmic reticulum stress, β cell failure, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. TrendsEndocrinolMetab. 25(8):389-398, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2014.02.003

BITTENCOURT, Aline; SCHROEDER, Helena Trevisan; PORTO, Rossana Rosa; DE LEMOS MULLER, Carlos Henrique; KRAUSE, Maurício; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT Jr, Paulo Ivo. Heat shock response to exercise in pancreatic islets of obese mice.Biochimie. 168:28-40, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2019.10.015.

BOCK, Patricia Martins; KRAUSE, Mauricio; SCHROEDER, Helena Trevisan; HAHN, Gabriela Fernandes; TAKAHASHI, Hilton Kenji; SCHOLER, Cinthia Maria; NICOLETTI, Graziella; ZAVARIZE NETO, Luiz Domingos; RODRIGUES, Maria Inês Lavina; BRUXEL, Maciel Alencar; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT JR, Paulo Ivo. Oral supplementations with L-glutamine or L-alanyl-L-glutamine do not change metabolic alterations induced by long-term high-fat diet in the B6.129F2/J mouse model of insulin resistance. Mol Cell Biochem. 411(1-2):351-62, 2016. doi: 10.1007/s11010-015-2597-6

BRODMERKEL, Daniel W; TAYLOR, J Andrew. Passive heat therapy: a ready route to vascular health? J Physiol, 594(18):5039–5040, 2016.doi: 10.1113/JP272933

BRUXEL, Maciel Alencar; TAVARES, Angela Maria Vicente; ZAVARIZE NETO, Luiz Domingues; DE SOUZA BORGES, Victor; SCHROEDER, Helena Trevisan; BOCK, Patricia Martins; RODRIGUES, Maria InesLavina; BELLÓ-KLEIN, Adriane; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT JR, Paulo Ivo. Chronic wholebody heat treatment relieves atherosclerotic lesions, cardiovascular and metabolic abnormalities, and enhances survival time restoring the antiinflammatory and anti-senescent heat shock response in mice. Biochimie, 156:33-46, 2019.doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2018.09.011 CALAPRE, Leslie; GRAY, Elin S; ZIMAN,Mel. Heat stress: a risk factor for skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett. 337(1):35-40, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.05.039

CHUNG, Jason; NGUYEN, Anh-Khoi; HENSTRIDGE, Darren C; HOLMES, Anna G; CHAN, M H Stanley; MESA, Jose L; LANCASTER, Graeme I; SOUTHGATE, Robert J; BRUCE, Clinton R; DUFFY, Stephen J; HORVATH, Ibolya; MESTRIL, Ruben; Watt, Matthew J; HOOPER, Philip L; KINGWELL, Bronwyn A; VIGH, Laszlo; HEVENER, Andrea; FEBBRAIO, Mark A. HSP72 protects against obesity-induced insulin resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 105(5):1739-44, 2008. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705799105.

CNOP, Miriam; FOUFELLE, Fabienne; VELLOSO, Licio A. Endoplasmic reticulum stress, obesity and diabetes. Trends Mol Med. 18(1):59-68, 2012.doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2011.07.010

DE LEMOS MULLER, Carlos Henrique; DE MATOS, Jorge Roberto; GRIGOLO, Gisele Bettú;SCHROEDER, Helena Trevisan; RODRIGUES-KRAUSE, Josianne; Krause, Mauricio. Exercise Training for the Elderly: Inflammaging and theCentral Role for HSP70. Journalof Science in Sport andExercise. 1(2):97-115, 2019.

DE LEMOS MULLER, Carlos Henrique; RECH, Anderson; BOTTON, Cintia Ehlers; SCHROEDER, Helena Trevisan; BOCK, Patricia Martins; FARINHA, Juliano Boufleur; LOPEZ, Pedro; SCHOLER, Cinthia Maria; GRIGOLO, Gisele Bettú; COELHO, Jeronimo; KOWALEWSKI, Lucas Stahlhofer; RODRIGUES, Maria InesLavina; DE AZEVEDO, Marcela Alves; QUINCOZES-SANTOS, André; RODRIGUES-KRAUSE, Josianne; REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, Alvaro; PINTO, Ronei Silveira; DE VITO, Giuseppe; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT JR, Paulo Ivo; KRAUSE, Maurcio. Heat-induced extracellular HSP72 release is blunted in elderly diabetic peoplecompared with healthy middle-aged and older adults, but it is partially restored byresistance training. ExpGerontol. 111:180-187, 2018.doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.07.014

DE MATOS, Mariana Aguiar; OTTONE, Vinícus de Oliveira; DUARTE, Tamiris Campos; SAMPAIO, Pâmela Fiche da Matta; COSTA, Karine Beatriz; FONSECA, Cheyenne Alves; Neves, Miguel Pontes Correa; SCHNEIDER, Suzanne Maria; MOSELEY, Pope; COIMBRA, Cândido Celso; MAGALÃES, Flávio de Castro; ROCHA-VIEIRA, Etel; AMORIM, Fabiano Trigueiro. Exercise reduces cellular stress related to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Cell Stress Chaperones 19(2):263–270, 2014. doi:10.1007/ s12192-013-0453-8

DI NASO, Fábio Cangeri; PORTO,Rossana Rosa; FILLMANN, Henrique Sarubbi; MAGGIONI, Lucas; PADOIN, Alexandre Vontobel; RAMOS, Rafael Jacques, MOTTIN, Claudio Cora; BITTENCOURT, Aline; MARRONI, Norma Anair Possa; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURTJr, Paulo Ivo. Obesity depresses the anti-inflammatory HSP70 pathway, contributing to NAFLD progression. Obesity. 23(1):120-129, 2015. doi: 10.1002/oby.20919

GUPTE, Aisha A; BOMHOFF, Gregory L; SWERDLOW, Russell H; GEIGER, Paige C. Heat treatment improves glucose toleranceand prevents skeletal muscle insulin resistance inrats fed a high-fat diet. Diabetes 58, 567–578, 2009.doi:10.2337/db08-1070

GUPTE, Anisha A; BOMHOFF, Gregory L; MORRIS, Jill K; GORRES, Brittany K; GEIGER, Paige C.Lipoic acid increasees heat shock proteinexpression and inhibits stress kinase activation toimprove insulin signaling in skeletal muscle from high-fat-fed rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 106, 1425–1434, 2009.doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.91210.2008

HARTL, F Ulrich; BRACHER, Andreas; HAYER-HARTL, Manajit. Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. Nature. 475(7356):324–32, 2011. doi: 10.1038/nature10317

HENSTRIDGE, Darren C; BRUCE, Clinton R; Drew, Brian G; TORY, Kálmán; KOLONICS, Attila; ESTEVEZ, Emma; CHUNG, Jason; WATSON, Nadine; GARDNER, Timothy; LEE-YOUNG, Robert S; CONNOR, Timothy, McGEE, Sean L; WATT, Matthew J; CARPENTER, Kevin; HARGREAVES, Mark; McGEE, Sean L; HEVENER, Andrea; FEBBRAIO, Mark A. Activating HSP72 in rodent skeletal muscle increases mitochondrial number and oxidative capacity and decreases insulin resistance. Diabetes. 63(6):1881-94, 2014. doi: 10.2337/ db13-0967

HENSTRIDGE, Darren C; FORBES, Josephune M; PENFOLD, Sally A; FORMOSA, Melissa F; DOUGHERTY, Sonia; GASSER, Anna; de COURTEN, Maximilian P; COOPER, Mark E; KINGWELL, Bronwyn A; de COURTEN, Barbora. The relationship between heat shock protein 72 expression in skeletal muscle and insulin sensitivity is dependent on adiposity. Metabolism. 59(11):1556-61, 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2010.01.027

HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT Jr, Paulo Ivo; NEWSHOLME, Philip. You, your children, your grandchildren, and their inflammatory responses are what you eat. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care, 18(4):325-327, 2015. doi: 10.1097/MCO.000000000000195

HOOPER, PL. Hot-tub therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 341(12):924-925, 1999.doi: 10.1056/NEJM199909163411216

KARPE, Pinakin Arun; TIKOO, Kulbhushan. Heat shock prevents insulin resistance-induced vascular complications by augmenting angiotensin-(1-7) signaling. Diabetes. 63(3):1124-39, 2014. doi:10.2337/db13-1267

KARPE, Pinakin Arun; TIKOO, Kulbhushan. Heat shock prevents insulin resistance-induced vascularcomplications by augmenting angiotensin-(1-7) signaling. Diabetes. 63(3):1124-39, 2014. doi: 10.2337/db13-1267

KAVANAGH, Kylie; WYLIE, Ashley T; CHAVANNE, Tara J; JORGENSEN, Matthew J; VORUGANTI, V Sorja; COMUZZIE, Anthony G; KAPLAN, Jay R; MCCALL, Charles E; KRITCHEVSKY, Stephen B. Aging does not reduce heat shock protein 70 in the absence of chronic insulin resistance. J. Gerontol. A 67(10):1014–1021, 2012. doi: 10. 1093/gerona/gls008

KOZUTSUMI, Y; SEGAL, M; NORMINGTON, K; GETHING, MJ; SAMBROOK, J. The presence of malfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum signals the induction of glucose-regulated proteins. Nature. 332(6163):462–464, 1988. doi: 10.1038/332462a0

KRAUSE, Mauricio; HECK, Thiago Gomes; BITTENCOURT,Aline; SCOMAZZON, Sofia Pizzato; NEWSHOLME, Philip; Curi, Rui; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT Jr, Paulo Ivo.The chaperone balance hypothesis:

199

theimportance of the extracellular to intracellular HSP70 ratio to inflammationdriventype 2 diabetes, the effect of exercise, and the implications for clinical management.Mediators Inflamm. 2015:2015:249205. doi:10.1155/2015/249205

KRAUSE, Mauricio; LUDWIG, Mirna Stela; HECK, Thiago Gomes; TAKAHASHI, Hilton Kenji. Heat shock proteins and Heat therapy for type 2 diabetes: pros and cons. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 18(4):374-80, 2015. doi: 10.1097/MCO.000000000000183

KULTZ, Dietmar. Molecular and evolutionary basis of the cellular stress response. Annu Rev Physiol.2005:67:225–57, 2005.doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.67.040403.103635

LANCASTER, Graeme I; FEBBRAIO, Mark A. Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: a novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. J Biol Chem. 280(24):23349-55, 2005.doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502017200

LEONG, Jason Cheok Kuan; UESAKA, Masahiro; IRIE,Naoki. Distinguishing Evolutionary Conservation from Derivedness. Life (Basel). 12(3):440, 2022. doi: 10.3390/life12030440

MIRAGEM, Antonio Azambuja; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT Jr, Paulo Ivo. Nitric oxide-heat shock protein axis in menopausal hot flushes: neglected metabolic issues of chronic inflammatory diseases associated with deranged heat shock response. Hum Reprod Update,23(5):600-628, 2017. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmx020

NEWSHOLME, Philip; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT Jr, Paulo Ivo. Gut associated bacteria are critical to metabolism, inflammation and health. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 19(4):245-249, 2016. doi: 10.1097/MCO.000000000000293

NEWSHOLME, Philip; HOMEM DE BITTENCOURT Jr, Paulo Ivo. The fat cell senescence hypothesis: a mechanism responsible for abrogating the resolution of inflammation in chronic disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 17(4):295-305, 2014. doi: 10.1097/MCO.000000000000077

NJEMINI, R; ABEELE, M Vanden; DEMANET, C; LAMBERT, M; VANDEBOSCH, S; METS, T. Age-relateddecrease in the inducibility of heatshock protein 70 in human peripheral bloodmononuclear cells. J Clin Immunol. 22(4):195-205, 2002.doi: 10.1023/a:1016036724386

OECKINGHAUS, Andrea; GHOSH,Sankar. The NF-kB family of transcription factors and its regulation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 1(4):a000034, 2009. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000034.

RAO, D V; WATSON, K; JONES, G L. Age-related attenuation in theexpression of the major heat shock proteins in human peripheral lymphocytes.Mechanisms of ageing and development, 107(1):105-118, 1999. doi: 10.1016/s0047-6374(98)00143-2

REBEAUD, Mathieu E; MALLIK, Saurav; GOLOUBINOFF, Pierre; TAWFIK, Dan S. On the evolution of chaperones and cochaperones and the expansion of proteomes across the Tree of Life. ProcNatlAcadSci U S A. 118(21):e2020885118, 2021. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.2020885118

RIUS, Bibiana; LÓPEZ-VICARIO, Cristina; GONZÁLEZ-PÉRIZ, Ana; MORÁN-SALVADOR, Eva; GARCÍA-ALONSO, Verónica; CLÁRIA, Joan; TITOS, Esther. Resolution of inflammation in obesity-induced liver disease. Front Immunol.20:3:257, 2012.doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00257. eCollection 2012

RODRIGUES-KRAUSE, Josianne; KRAUSE, Maurício; O'HAGAN, C; DE VITO, Giuseppe; BOREHAM, Colin; MURPHY, Colin; NEWSHOLME, Philip; COLLERAN, Gerard. Divergence of intracellular and extracellular HSP72 in type 2 diabetes: does fat matter? Cell Stress Chaperones 17:293–302, 2012. doi: 10.1007/s12192-011-0319-x

SCHROEDER, Helena Trevisan Acompanhamento temporal da composição corporal, sensibilidade à insulina e inflamação de baixo grau em camundongos C57BL/6J eos efeitos do tratamento hipertérmico. Porto Alegre, 2020 [Dissertação], disponívelem: http://hdl.handle.net/10183/206844>.

SHEN, X; ELLIS, R E; LEE, K; LIU, C Y; YANG, K; SOLOMON, A; YOSHIDA, H; MORIMOTO, R; KURNIT, D M; MORI, K; KAUFMAN, R J. Complementary

Signaling PathwaysRegulatetheUnfoldedProtein Response and Are Required for C. elegansDevelopment. Cell. 107(7):893–903, 2001. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00612-2

SINGH, Ishwar S; HASDAY, Jeffrey, D. Fever, hyperthermia and the heat shock response. Int J Hyperthermia. 29(5):423-35, 2013 . doi: 10.3109/02656736.2013.808766

TANG, Shu; BURIRO, Rehana; LIU, Zhijun; ZHANG, Miao; ALI, Islam; ADAM, Abdelnasir; HARTUNG, Jorg; BAO, Endong. Localization and expression of Hsp27 and αB-crystallin in rat primary myocardial cells during heat stress in vitro. PLoSOne. 8(7):e69066, 2013. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069066.

TOMELERI, Crisieli M; RIBEIRO, Alex S; SOUZA, Mariana F; SCHIAVONI, Durcelina; SCHOENFELD, Brad J; VENTURINI, Danielle; BARBOSA, Décio S; LANDUCCI, Kamila; SARDINHA, Luís B; CYRINO, Edilson S.Resistance training improves inflammatory level, lipidand glycemic profiles in obese older women: A randomized controlled trial. Experimental gerontology. 84:80-87, 2016.doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2016.09.005

TUTTLE, James A; CHRISMAS, Bryna C R; GIBSON, Oliver R Gibson; BARRINGTON, James H; HUGHES, David C; CASTLE, Paul C; METCALFE, Alan J; MIDGLEY, Adrian W; PEARCE, Oliver; KABIR, Chindu; RAYANMARAKAR, Faizal; AL-ALI, Sami; LEWIS, Mark P; TAYLOR, Lee. The Hsp72and Hsp90α mRNA responses to hot downhill running are reduced following a priorbout of hot downhill running, and occur concurrently within leukocytes and the vastuslateralis. Frontiers in Physiology.8:473, 2017.doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00473

URANO F., WANG X., BERTOLOTTI A., ZHANG Y., CHUNG P., HARDING H.P., RON D. Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. Science. 287(5453):664–666, 2000. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5453.664

VIGITEL Brasil 2006-2020: estado nutricional e consumo alimentar. Vigilância de fatores de risco e proteção para doenças crônicas por inquérito telefônico: estimativas sobre frequência e distribuição sociodemográfica do estado
nutricional e consumo alimentar nas capitais dos 26 estados brasileiros e no Distrito Federal entre 2006 e 2020 / Ministério da Saúde, Secretaria de Vigilância em Saúde, Departamento de Análise em Saúde e Vigilância de Doenças Não Transmissíveis. – Brasília : Ministério da Saúde, 2022.

VON SCHULZE, Alex T; DENG, Fengyan; FULLER, Kelly N Z; FRANCZAK, Edziu; MILLER, Josh; ALLEN, Julie; MCCOIN, Colin S; SHANKAR, Kartik; DING, Wen-Xing; THYFAULT, John P; GEIGER, Paige C. Heat treatment improves hepatic mitochondrial respiratory efficiency via mitochondrial remodeling. Function. 2(2):zqab001, 2021. doi: 10.1093/function/zqab001

WU, Lianpin; HU, Chaohui; HUANG, Mingyuan; JIANG, Minghua; LU, Lingyan; TANG,Jifei. Heat shock transcription factor 1 attenuates TNFα-induced cardiomyocyte death through suppression of NFκB pathway. Gene.527(1):89-94, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2013.05.024

ANEXO I – CARTA DE SUBMISSÃO DO ARTIGO 4

De: IARP-peerreview@journals.tandf.co.uk <IARP-peerreview@journals.tandf.co.uk>

Enviada em: 03 April 2024 13:08 Para: pauloivo@ufrgs.br Assunto: Submission received for Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry (Submission ID: 242515110)



Dear Paulo Ivo Homem de Bittencourt Jr.,

Thank you for your submission.

Submission ID	242515110
	Progression of insulin resistance revealed by
Manuscript Title	impaired organismal anti-inflammatory heat shock
	response during ex vivo whole-blood heat challenge
Journal	Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry

If you made the submission, you can check its progress and make any requested revisions on the <u>Author Portal</u> Thank you for submitting your work to our journal. If you have any queries, please get in touch with <u>IARPpeerreview@journals.tandf.co.uk</u>. Kind Regards, *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry* Editorial Office

Taylor & Francis is a trading name of Informa UK Limited, registered in England under no. 1072954.

Registered office: 5 Howick Place, London, SW1P 1W.

ANEXO II – CARTA DE ACEITE DO ARTIGO 5

From:IARP-peerreview@journals.tandf.co.uk Sent:10-09-2024 8:20 PM To:pauloivo@ufrgs.br Cc: Subject:Re: NOTICE: Outstanding information required for your accepted manuscript

249669411.R1 - Chronic whole-body heat treatment in obese insulin-resistant C57BL/6J mice

Dear Paulo Ivo Home de Bittencourt Jr.,

Congratulations on your accepted manuscript in Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry.

I am continuing to process your accepted manuscript (referenced above). To prepare your manuscript for publication, I require the following:

- I require the source files for your MAIN DOCUMENT/FIGURES/SUPPLEMENTARY
 FILE as we cannot proceed with a PDF for the main text. Please could you email me
 the source files for your main document, tables and figures to the address above. Any
 figures should be saved as either .ps, .eps, .tif or .jpeg file types. If you have built your
 paper in LaTex, please send me all of your individual files in a zipped archive file (.zip
 or .rar), ensuring that all relevant. sty, .bib, .cl etc. supplementary files are included, so
 that the manuscript can be correct built.
- Please provide the main manuscript with author details without any highlights, tracked changes, and/or cross-offs.

As I will be unable to proceed without them, I would be grateful if you could provide your files for this submission as soon as possible.

Best regards,

Surya Prabhu (he/him) - Journal Editorial Office

Taylor & Francis Group